
November 20, 2018 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING  
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
to be held at the District’s office at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale 

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 26, 2018 
6:00 p.m. 

NOTES: To comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, to participate in any Board 
meeting please contact Dawn Deans at 661-947-4111 x1003 at least 48 hours prior to a 
Board meeting to inform us of your needs and to determine if accommodation is feasible. 

Additionally, an interpreter will be made available to assist the public in making 
comments under Agenda Item No. 4 and any action items where public input is offered 
during the meeting if requested at least 48 hours before the meeting.  Please call Dawn 
Deans at 661-947-4111 x1003 with your request. (PWD Rules and Regulations Section 
4.03.1 (c) )  

Adicionalmente, un intérprete estará disponible para ayudar al público a hacer 
comentarios bajo la sección No. 4 en la agenda y cualquier elemento de acción donde 
se ofrece comentarios al público durante la reunión, siempre y cuando se solicite con 48 
horas de anticipación de la junta directiva. Por favor de llamar Dawn Deans al 661-947-
4111 x1003 con su solicitud. (PWD reglas y reglamentos sección 4.03.1 (c) ) 

Agenda item materials, as well as materials related to agenda items submitted after 
distribution of the agenda packets, are available for public review at the District’s office 
located at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale (Government Code Section 54957.5). Please call 
Dawn Deans at 661-947-4111 x1003 for public review of materials. 

PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES:  The prescribed time limit per speaker is three-
minutes.  Please refrain from public displays or outbursts such as unsolicited 
applause, comments, or cheering.  Any disruptive activities that substantially 
interfere with the ability of the District to carry out its meeting will not be permitted 
and offenders will be requested to leave the meeting. (PWD Rules and Regulations, 
Appendix DD, Sec. IV.A.) 

Each item on the agenda shall be deemed to include any appropriate motion, resolution, or 
ordinance to take action on any item. 

1) Pledge of Allegiance/Moment of Silence.

2) Roll Call.

3) Adoption of Agenda.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT    -2- November 20, 2018 

4) Public comments for non-agenda items.

5) Presentations:

5.1) None at this time.

6) Action Items - Consent Calendar (The public shall have an opportunity to comment on
any action item on the Consent Calendar as the Consent Calendar is considered
collectively by the Board of Directors prior to action being taken.)

6.1) Approval of minutes of special budget meeting held November 5, 2018.

6.2) Approval of minutes of regular meeting held November 13, 2018.

6.3) Payment of bills for November 26, 2018.

6.4) Approve absence of Director Estes from November 13, 2018 Regular Board
Meeting due to medical reasons. (General Counsel Dunn) 

6.5) Approve the cancellation of the second regular Board meeting in December. 
(General Manager LaMoreaux) 

7) Action Items – Action Calendar (The public shall have an opportunity to comment on
any action item as each item is considered by the Board of Directors prior to action being
taken.)

7.1) Public hearing regarding Resolution No. 18-12 being a Resolution of the Board of
Directors of the Palmdale Water District being a Resolution of the Board of Directors 
of the Palmdale Water District (i) Adopting Findings of Fact Identifying 
Environmental Impacts Associated with the 2016 Water System Master Plan; (ii) 
Adopting a Mitigation Monitoring Program; and (iii) Certifying the Final Program 
Environmental Impact Report; Resolution No. 18-13 being a Resolution of the 
Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Approving and Adopting the 
Water System Master Plan dated December 2016; and Resolution No. 18-14 being 
a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Updating 
Capital Impact and Water Supply Fees for New Water Service Connections. (No 
Budget Impact – Engineering/Grant Manager Riley) 

7.2) Consideration and possible action on adoption of Resolution No. 18-12 being a 
Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District (i) Adopting 
Findings of Fact Identifying Environmental Impacts Associated with the 2016 Water 
System Master Plan; (ii) Adopting a Mitigation Monitoring Program; and (iii) 
Certifying the Final Program Environmental Impact Report. (No Budget Impact – 
Engineering/Grant Manager Riley) 

7.3) Consideration and possible action on adoption of Resolution No. 18-13 being a 
Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Approving and 
Adopting the Water System Master Plan dated December 2016. (No Budget Impact 
– Engineering/Grant Manager Riley)

7.4) Consideration and possible action on adoption of Resolution No. 18-14 being a 
Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Updating Capital 
Impact and Water Supply Fees for New Water Service Connections. (No Budget 
Impact – Engineering/Grant Manager Riley) 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT                      -3-                                        November 20, 2018 
 
 
 7.5) Consideration and possible action on approval of Mutual Response Agreement – 

Los Angeles County Water Agency Mutual Assistance Agreement through the 
Public Water Agencies Group. (No Budget Impact – Human Resources Director 
Emery)  

 7.6) Consideration and possible action on outreach activities for 2018. (Public Affairs 
Director Shay) 

  a) Outreach plans for remainder of 2018 and for 2019. 

  b) Upcoming events. 

  c) Outreach recommendations from Directors. 

7.7) Consideration and possible action on authorization of the following conferences, 
seminars, and training sessions for Board and staff attendance within budget 
amounts previously approved in the 2018 Budget:  

a) None at this time. 

8) Information Items:   

 8.1) Reports of Directors:   

  a) Meetings/General Report. 

b) Standing Committee/Assignment Reports (Chair): 

1) Antelope Valley State Water Contractors Association. 

2) Palmdale Recycled Water Authority. 

 8.2) Report of General Manager. 

 a) November 2018 written report of activities through October 2018. 

 8.3) Report of General Counsel. 

9) Board members' requests for future agenda items. 

10) Adjournment. 
 

 
DENNIS D. LaMOREAUX,  
General Manager 
 
DDL/dd 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



P A L M D A L E   W A T E R   D I S T R I C T

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: November 19, 2018    November 26, 2018 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting

FROM: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.4 – APPROVE ABSENCE OF DIRECTOR ESTES 
FROM NOVEMBER 13, 2018 REGULAR BOARD MEETING DUE TO 
ILLNESS. (GENERAL COUNSEL DUNN) 

Director Estes was absent from the November 13, 2018 Regular Board Meeting. 
Agenda Item No. 6.4 has been placed on the Consent Calendar to excuse this absence 
pursuant to Section 4.07.2 of the District’s Rules and Regulations which states, “The 
Board shall excuse absences by approving such absences pursuant to the Consent 
Calendar at the next regular Board meeting.”  

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.4



P A L M D A L E   W A T E R   D I S T R I C T

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: November 19, 2018 November 26, 2018 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.5 – APPROVE THE CANCELLATION OF THE 
SECOND REGULAR BOARD MEETING IN DECEMBER. (GENERAL 
MANAGER LaMOREAUX) 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the second Regular Board Meeting in December be cancelled due 
to the office closure. 

Background: 

For the past several years, the District has closed from Christmas through New Year’s as 
a cost saving measure, and the Board of Directors has cancelled the second Regular 
Board Meeting in December due to this closure.  The date of the second Regular Board 
Meeting in December is December 24, 2018, and the District office closure begins 
December 21, 2018 with the office reopening January 2, 2019.   

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 5 – Regional Leadership. 

Budget: 

Cancelling the second Regular Board Meeting in December will not affect the budget. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.5



P A L M D A L E   W A T E R   D I S T R I C T

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: November 19, 2018 November 26, 2018 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Mr. James A. Riley, Engineering/Grant Manager 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 
Mr. Adam Ly, Assistant General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO.’S 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, AND 7.4 – PUBLIC HEARING AND 
CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON RESOLUTION NO. 18-12 
CERTIFYING THE 2018 PROGRAM ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT 
FOR THE 2016 WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN, RESOLUTION NO. 18-13 
APPROVING THE 2016 WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN, AND RESOLUTION 
NO. 18-14 UPDATING CAPITAL IMPACT FEES FOR NEW WATER SERVICE 
CONNECTIONS. (NO BUDGET IMPACT – ENGINEERING/GRANT MANAGER 
RILEY) 

Recommendation: 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.1: The public hearing has been advertised as required by the government 
code in the Public Notice section of the Antelope Valley Press (November 16 and 23, 2018).  

AGENDA ITEM NO.S 7.2, 7.3, 7.4: Staff recommends approving attached Resolution No.’s 18-
12, 18-13, and 18-14.  The estimated cost of the projects in the CIP were determined as part of the 
2016 Water System Master Plan completed by Montgomery Watson Harza (MWH) and are tied 
to the Engineering News Record (ENR) Construction Cost Index. This allows the District to ensure 
the construction estimates are adequate by using the Index to modify the construction costs. The 
proposed increase is due to a combination of the Construction Cost Index increase and the actual 
total costs associated with several of the improvements listed in the table entitled “2016 Water 
System Master Plan Recommended Improvements.”  

Alternative Options: 

The Board could choose to not approve the 2018 Program  Environmental Impact Report for the 
2016 Water System Master Plan, the 2016 Water System Master Plan, and the Capital Impact 
Fees for new water service connections.   

Impact of Taking No Action: 

The District would lose revenues needed for future construction of water system features to meet 
the projected growth in their service area. 

AGENDA ITEM NO.'S 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4



 
2 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 
 Mr. Adam Ly, Assistant General Manager    November 19, 2018 
 
Background: 
 
The District acts on behalf of the residents and business owners within its boundaries to obtain, 
treat, and deliver water for their use and fire protection. Facilities are needed to make this possible. 
The facilities fall into two general categories: existing and future. Existing customers support the 
maintenance activities and regulatory improvements for existing facilities through water rates. 
Future facilities required to serve new customers and developments are funded by the new 
customers/developers through the CIF. 
 
The CIF structure provides construction funds for the facilities needed for safe, reliable water 
service to new customers. These facilities include new booster stations, water storage reservoirs, 
water transmission mains, and the construction of a grade control structure at Littlerock Dam. The 
number, nature, and location of the facilities are determined through a planning study. The study 
first evaluates the District’s existing water treatment and distribution system. The projected 
number of new services and their water demand are then applied to the system and facilities are 
identified to meet the additional demands. The impact of constructing and operating the new 
facilities are examined by preparing a Program Environmental Impact Report (PEIR). After the 
PEIR is adopted, construction estimates for the facilities are tabulated and, finally, the CIF is 
determined. The CIF is then reviewed periodically and adjusted for changes in Construction Cost 
Index and number of new service connections. 
 
The CIF was last updated in 2014.  The 2019 CIF proposed is approximately $3,000.00, or 15%, 
higher than the 2014 CIF, which equates to approximately 3% annually. See attached Table 
entitled “Capital Impact Fees 2014 and proposed 2019.”   
 
The latest such study was the 2016 Water System Master Plan. It evaluated the facilities needed to 
respond to future growth within the District’s primary service area.  A complete list of the facilities 
is provided in the attached Table entitled “2016 Water System Master Plan Recommended 
Improvements.” 
 
CIF’s for new connections are established in relation to the benefits received from the new 
facilities. The District’s water distribution system is broken into service zones based on elevation. 
Each zone has specific facilities and new services associated with it. There are also facilities that 
benefit the entire District. The CIF in a particular zone is based on the cost of facilities in that zone, 
District-wide facilities, and facilities in other zones which benefit the zone. For example, the CIF 
in a high elevation zone includes facility costs in that zone, a portion of the facility costs in lower 
zones that move water up to it, and a contribution to system-wide projects like a water treatment 
plant or Littlerock Dam. The costs are then divided among the projected new services in the zone. 
 
The CIF’s also reflect the impact or capacity of a new connection to the water distribution system. 
The CIF in each service zone is established for 3/4” single family residential services in the manner 
described above. The CIF for tract housing is determined directly from this. The CIF for a larger 
service is based on the ratio of the service size cross-section area to that of a 3/4” service. For 
example, the CIF for a 1-1/2” service is four times that of a 3/4” service because the cross-sectional 
area is four times greater. 



3 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

Mr. Adam Ly, Assistant General Manager November 19, 2018 

New commercial/industrial and multifamily residential connections are also determined based on 
the impact as compared to a single-family connection. This applies to both the larger connections 
needed and the higher fire flow requirements of the projects. The method of determining the CIF 
in this manner was first established and used in the District’s 1989 Master Plan Update EIR. The 
District’s policy was later modified to reflect the lesser impact from smaller commercial projects. 
The CIF for commercial/industrial projects can only be determined after fire flow requirements 
are established by the Los Angeles County Fire Department. 

Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 3 – Systems Efficiency. 
This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 

Budget: 

Not applicable 

Supporting Documents: 

 Notice of Public Hearing
 Resolution No. 18-12 being a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water

District (i) Adopting Findings of Fact Identifying Environmental Impacts Associated with the
2016 Water System Master Plan; (ii) Adopting a Mitigation Monitoring Program; and (iii)
Certifying the Final Program Environmental Impact Report

 Resolution No. 18-13 being a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water
District Approving and Adopting the Water System Master Plan dated December 2016.

 Resolution No. 18-14 being a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water
District Updating Capital Impact and Water Supply Fees for New Water Service Connections
and Appendix H -  Capital Impact Fees (CIF)

 Rules and Regulations Section 10.07
 Table entitled “2016 Water System Master Plan Recommended Improvements.”
 Table entitled “Capital Impact Fees 2014 and proposed 2019.”



01184.0001/519410.2

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

FOR 
ADOPTING THE 2016 WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN, 

ADOPTING THE 2018 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT FOR THE 2016 
WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN, AND 

UPDATING CAPITAL IMPACT FEES FOR NEW WATER SERVICE CONNECTIONS 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Palmdale Water District will hold a public hearing on   

November 26, 2018 at 6:00 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the matter may be heard, in the Board 

room of Palmdale Water District’s office at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale, California 93550, to 

consider adoption of a Resolution approving the Palmdale Water District’s 2016 Water System 

Master Plan, adoption  of a Resolution approving the 2018 Master Environmental Impact Report 

for the 2016 Water System Master Plan, and adoption of a Resolution updating Capital 

Improvement Fees for New Water Service Connections.”   

In addition, relevant documents may be reviewed at the District office located at 2029 East 

Avenue Q, Palmdale, CA 93550 or on District’s website www.palmdalewater.org 

For further information regarding this matter, you may contact Mr. James Riley, 

Engineering Manager, at Palmdale Water District, at (661) 456-1020 or by email: 

jriley@palmdalewater.org . 

Written comments are requested by the close of business on November 26, 2018, but in all 

events by the end of the public hearing. 

Publish: November 16 and 23, 2018 



01184.0001/519407.2 1

RESOLUTION NO. 18-12 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
(i) ADOPTING FINDINGS OF FACT IDENTIFYING ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

ASSOCIATED WITH THE 2016 WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN; 
 (ii) ADOPTING A MITIGATION MONITORING PROGRAM; AND 

(iii) CERTIFYING THE FINAL PROGRAM 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT 

WHEREAS, the Palmdale Water District (District) is charged with the 
responsibility of providing domestic water service to its customers; and 

WHEREAS, to ensure that existing and future District customers are provided 
with adequate domestic water service to meet reasonable consumption, irrigation, and fire 
protection needs, and to ensure protection of public health, safety, and welfare as they 
relate to domestic water service, the District engages in a process of long-range planning 
for water service; and 

WHEREAS, the District has prepared the 2016 Water System Master Plan 
(Master Plan or Project) to establish a water system infrastructure plan designed to meet 
anticipated customer demands through year 2030; and to set forth policy regarding the 
use of groundwater, local surface water supplies, imported State Water Project water, and 
other water sources to satisfy projected demands through year 2030; and 

WHEREAS, in August of 2018, a Draft Program Environmental Impact Report 
(Draft PEIR) was prepared pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) to analyze the potential environmental impacts associated with the 
adoption and long-term implementation of the Master Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Draft PEIR circulated for a 45-day public review period ending 
on September 13, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, following the receipt and review of comments on the Draft PEIR, a 
Final PEIR was prepared responding to and taking into account all comments received on 
the Draft PEIR; and 

WHEREAS, the Final PEIR identified and analyzed six alternatives to the project, 
including the “no project” alternative required by CEQA; and 

WHEREAS, Findings of Fact have been prepared that identify significant 
environmental impacts associated with the project and mitigation measures capable of 
reducing or eliminating impacts (Attachment “A”, attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference); and 



 

01184.0001/519407.2  2

 WHEREAS, CEQA requires the District’s of Directors, in its deliberations 
concerning the Project, exercise its independent judgment in balancing the benefits of the 
Project against its unavoidable significant adverse environmental effects; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a Mitigation Monitoring Program (Attachment “B”, attached hereto 
and incorporated by reference) has been designed for the Project to mitigate or avoid 
significant effects on the environment to the extent feasible and to ensure compliance 
with the Mitigation Monitoring Program during project implementations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the Final PEIR has been completed in 
compliance with the requirements of CEQA and applicable guidelines; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has exercised its independent judgment in the 
preparation of the Final PEIR; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board will consider the information contained in the Final PEIR 
prior to approving the Master Plan and any related actions addressed in the Final PEIR. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the District Board of Directors hereby 
finds and determines as follows: 
 
 1) The Final PEIR identified all known possible environmental effects of the 
Project, along with mitigation measures and alternatives, all of which have been reviewed 
and considered by the District Board of Directors;  
 
 2) The Project, as identified in the Final PEIR, will have unavoidable, 
significant adverse environmental effects that cannot be fully mitigated; 
 
 3) The public interest generally and the interests of the District would be best 
served by implementation of the Project as a matter of overriding public interest which 
outweighs any unavoidable adverse environmental impacts of the project; and 
 

4) The benefits of the Project outweigh the unavoidable adverse 
environmental effects, and the adverse environmental effects are considered acceptable. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water 
District hereby adopts the Findings of Fact set forth in Attachment “A” hereto. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water 
District hereby adopts the Mitigation Monitoring Program set forth in Attachment “B” 
hereto. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water 
District hereby certifies that the Final Program Environmental Impact Report for the 2016 
Water System Master Plan reflects the independent judgment of the District. 
 



01184.0001/519407.2 3

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water 
District hereby certifies the Final Program Environmental Impact Report for the 2016 
Water System Master Plan. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District staff is hereby directed to and 
shall prepare and file a Notice of Determination for the 2016 Water System Master Plan 
as required by law. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District staff is hereby authorized and 
directed to prepare such additional documents and take such further actions as may be 
necessary to implement this resolution. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED on this 26th day of November, 2018 by the Board of 
Directors of the Palmdale Water District. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

VINCENT DINO, President 

ATTEST: 

ROBERT ALVARADO, Assistant Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER, General Counsel 



PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  
WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN 
FINAL PROGRAM ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT

CEQA Findings of Fact and 
Statement of Overriding Considerations 

Prepared for November 2018 
Palmdale Water District 

EXHIBIT A



 

 

 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  
WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN 
FINAL PROGRAM ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT

CEQA Findings of Fact and 
Statement of Overriding Considerations 

Prepared for November 2018 
Palmdale Water District 
 
 

626 Wilshire Boulevard 
Suite 1100 
Los Angeles, CA  90017 
213.599.4300 
www.esassoc.com  

 
Bend 

Camarillo 

Delray Beach 

Destin 

Irvine 

Los Angeles 

Miami 

Oakland 

Orlando 

Pasadena 

Petaluma 

Portland 

Sacramento 

San Diego 

San Francisco 

Santa Monica 

Sarasota 

Seattle 

Sunrise 

Tampa 

160836.00 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

OUR COMMITMENT TO SUSTAINABILITY  |  ESA helps a variety of 
public and private sector clients plan and prepare for climate change and 
emerging regulations that limit GHG emissions. ESA is a registered 
assessor with the California Climate Action Registry, a Climate Leader, and 
founding reporter for the Climate Registry. ESA is also a corporate member 
of the U.S. Green Building Council and the Business Council on Climate 
Change (BC3). Internally, ESA has adopted a Sustainability Vision and 
Policy Statement and a plan to reduce waste and energy within our 
operations. This document was produced using recycled paper.   



 

PWD Water System Master Plan i ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding 
Considerations for the Palmdale Water District 
Water System Master Plan  

Page 

Findings of Fact .................................................................................................................... 1 

1.0  CEQA Requirements for Findings of Fact ............................................................. 1 
2.0  Record of Proceedings ......................................................................................... 3 
3.0  Description of the Project ...................................................................................... 5 

3.1  Background and Need for Project .............................................................. 5 
3.2  Project Objectives ...................................................................................... 5 
3.3  Project Location ......................................................................................... 5 
3.4  Near-Term Project Components ................................................................ 6 
3.5  Long-Term Project Components ................................................................ 7 

4.0  CEQA Environmental Review ............................................................................... 8 
4.1  Environmental Review Process ................................................................. 9 

5.0  Findings of Fact Regarding WSMP Impacts ....................................................... 11 
5.1  Findings Regarding No Impacts ............................................................... 11 

Cumulative Impacts ................................................................................. 12 
5.2 Findings Regarding Less Than Significant Impacts ................................. 13 
5.3  Findings Regarding Significant but Mitigable Impacts .............................. 24 
5.4  Findings Regarding Potentially Significant and Unavoidable 

Impacts .................................................................................................... 76 
6.0  Findings Regarding Alternatives to the Project ................................................... 79 

6.1  CEQA Requirements for Alternatives Analysis ........................................ 79 
6.2  Alternatives to the Project ........................................................................ 79 

7.0  Additional Findings ............................................................................................. 81 
7.1  Certification of the PEIR ........................................................................... 81 
7.2  Changes to the Draft PEIR and Need to Recirculate ............................... 82 

8.0  Statement of Overriding Considerations ............................................................. 82 
8.1  Impacts of the Project and Associated Mitigation Measures .................... 83 
8.2  Benefits of the Project .............................................................................. 84 
8.3  Conclusion ............................................................................................... 84 

 

 



 

PWD Water System Master Plan 1 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT WATER 
SYSTEM MASTER PLAN FINAL PEIR 
Findings of Fact 

The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires that public agencies shall not 
approve or carry out a project for which a Program Environmental Impact Report (PEIR) has 
been certified that identifies one or more significant adverse environmental effects of a project 
unless the public agency makes one or more written Findings for each of those significant effects, 
accompanied by a brief explanation of the rationale for each Finding (CEQA Guidelines, section 
15091). This document presents the Findings made by the Palmdale Water District (PWD), in its 
capacity as the CEQA lead agency, regarding the Water System Master Plan (WSMP or project), 
evaluated in the Final Program Environmental Impact Report (Final PEIR) for the WSMP. It also 
presents the Statement of Overriding Considerations required by CEQA Guidelines, section 
15093. 

This document is organized into the following sections:  

 Section 1.0 is an introduction.  

 Section 2.0 describes the record of proceedings for the Project. 

 Section 3.0 includes a summary and description of the Project.  

 Section 4.0 provides an overview of the CEQA environmental review process.  

 Section 5.0 contains the PWD’s Findings of Fact regarding impacts for the WSMP. 

 Section 6.0 contains the PWD’s Findings regarding alternatives to the WSMP.  

 Section 7.0 contains the PWD’s Statement of Overriding Considerations for the WSMP.  

1.0  CEQA Requirements for Findings of Fact 

CEQA requires public agencies to consider and identify the reasonably foreseeable and 
potentially significant adverse effects of their discretionary approvals of projects on the 
environment and, when feasible, to adopt and implement mitigation measures or alternatives that 
avoid or substantially lessen the significant effects of those projects. Specifically, Public 
Resources Code (PRC) section 21002 provides “public agencies should not approve projects as 
proposed if there are feasible alternatives or feasible mitigation measures available which would 
substantially lessen the significant environmental effects of such projects,” and states the 
procedures required by CEQA “are intended to assist public agencies in systematically 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 2 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

identifying both the significant effects of Projects and the feasible alternatives or feasible 
mitigation measures which will avoid or substantially lessen such significant effects.” PRC, 
section 21002 goes on to state “that in the event specific economic, social, or other conditions 
make infeasible such project alternatives or such mitigation measures, individual projects may be 
approved in spite of one or more significant effects thereof.” 

Pursuant to the policy stated in PRC, sections 21002 and 21002.1, no public agency shall approve 
or carry out a project for which an EIR has been certified that identifies one or more significant 
effects on the environment that would occur if the project is approved or carried out unless both 
of the following occur: 

(a) The public approving agency makes one or more of the following findings with respect to 
each significant effect: 

(1) Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project which 
mitigate or avoid the significant effects on the environment. 

(2) Those changes or alterations are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of another 
public agency and have been, or can and should be, adopted by that other agency. 

(3) Specific economic, legal, social, technological, other considerations, including 
considerations for the provision of employment opportunities for highly trained 
workers, make infeasible the mitigation measures or alternatives identified in the EIR. 

(b) With respect to significant effects that were subject to Findings under paragraph (3) above, 
the public agency finds that specific overriding economic, legal, social, technological, or 
other benefits of the project outweigh the significant effects on the environment.  

PRC, section 21061.1 defines “feasible” to mean “capable of being accomplished in a successful 
manner within a reasonable period of time, taking into account economic, environmental, social 
and technological factors.” CEQA Guidelines, section 15364 adds another factor in determining 
feasibility: “legal” considerations. (See, also, Citizens of Goleta Valley v. Board of Supervisors 
(1990) 52 Cal.3d 553, 565 (“Goleta II”).)  

The concept of “feasibility” also encompasses the question of whether a particular alternative or 
mitigation measure promotes the underlying goals and objectives of a project (City of Del Mar v. 
City of San Diego (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 410, 417 (City of Del Mar).); see, also, Sierra Club v. 
County of Napa (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 1490, 1506-1509 [court upholds CEQA findings rejecting 
alternatives in reliance on applicant’s project objectives]; California Native Plant Society v. City of 
Santa Cruz (2009) 177 Cal. App. 4th 957, 1001 [“an alternative ‘may be found infeasible on the 
ground it is inconsistent with the project objectives as long as the finding is supported by 
substantial evidence in the record’”]; In re Bay-Delta Programmatic Environmental Impact Report 
Coordinated Proceedings (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1143, 1165, 1166 [“feasibility is strongly linked to 
achievement of each of the primary [project] objectives”]). 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 3 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Moreover, “feasibility” under CEQA encompasses “desirability” to the extent desirability is 
based on a reasonable balancing of the relevant economic, environmental, social, and 
technological factors.” (City of Del Mar, supra, 133 Cal.App.3d at p. 417; see also Sequoyah 
Hills Homeowners Assn. v. City of Oakland (1993) 23 Cal.App.4th 704, 715; California Native 
Plant Society v. City of Santa Cruz, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at p. 1001 [after weighing 
“‘economic, environmental, social, and technological factors’ … ‘an agency may conclude that a 
mitigation measure or alternative is impracticable or undesirable from a policy standpoint and 
reject it as infeasible on that ground’”].) 

With respect to a project for which significant impacts cannot be avoided or substantially 
lessened through feasible mitigation measures or alternatives, a public agency, after adopting 
proper findings, may nevertheless approve the project if the agency first adopts a statement of 
overriding considerations setting forth the specific reasons why the agency found the project's 
“benefits” rendered “acceptable” its “unavoidable adverse environmental effects.” (CEQA 
Guidelines, section 15093 and subdivision 15043 (b); see, also, PRC, subdivision 21081 (b).) The 
California Supreme Court has stated, “[t]he wisdom of approving...any development project, a 
delicate task which requires a balancing of interests, is necessarily left to the sound discretion of 
the local officials and their constituents who are responsible for such decisions. The law as we 
interpret and apply it simply requires that those decisions be informed, and therefore balanced.” 
(Goleta II, supra, 52 Cal.3d at page 576.)  

Because the Final PEIR identified potentially significant effects that may occur as a result of the 
WSMP, and in accordance with the provisions of CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines described 
above, PWD hereby adopts these Findings as part of the approval of the project. In making these 
Findings and in adopting the Statement of Overriding Considerations, PWD has independently 
reviewed the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR), and the Final PEIR for 
the WSMP, as well as all other information in the record of proceedings (Record) on this matter. 
These Findings constitute PWD’s best efforts to set forth the evidentiary and policy bases for its 
decision to approve the project in a manner consistent with the requirements of CEQA. These 
Findings and the Statement of Overriding Considerations, in other words, are not merely 
informational, but rather constitute a binding set of obligations that come into effect with PWD’s 
approval of the project. 

2.0  Record of Proceedings 

The record of proceedings for the PWD’s decision on the project, including the substantial 
evidence supporting adoption of these Findings and the Statement of Overriding Considerations 
include, but are not limited to, the following documents: 

 The Notice of Preparation (NOP) and all other public notices issued by the PWD in 
conjunction with the WSMP; 

 PWD WSMP Draft PEIR prepared for the Palmdale Water District through Environmental 
Science Associates (ESA), July 2018, and all appendices and supporting documents cited 
therein; 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 4 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

 All comments submitted by agencies, NGOs, Tribes, or members of the public during the 
comment period on the Draft PEIR; 

 The Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) for the project and documents 
related thereto; 

 All Findings and resolutions adopted by the PWD in connection with the WSMP and all 
documents cited or referred to therein; 

 All reports, studies, memoranda, maps, staff reports, or other planning documents relating to 
the WSMP prepared by PWD, consultants to PWD, or responsible or trustee agencies with 
respect to the PWD’s compliance with the requirements of CEQA and with respect to the 
WSMP; 

 All documents submitted to PWD by other public agencies or members of the public in 
connection with the WSMP, up through the approval of the WSMP; 

 Any documentary or other evidence submitted to PWD, at such information sessions, public 
meetings, and public hearings; 

 Matters of common knowledge to PWD, including, but not limited to, federal, state, and local 
laws and regulations; 

 Any documents expressly cited in these Findings or the Statement of Overriding, in addition 
to those cited above; and 

 Any other materials required for the Record by Public Resources Code subdivision 21167.6 
(e). 

These Findings, the Statement of Overriding Considerations and the MMRP are based upon 
substantial evidence in the entire Record before PWD. The references to the Draft and Final PEIR 
set forth herein are for ease of reference and are not intended to provide an exhaustive list of the 
evidence relied upon for these Findings, the Statement of Overriding Considerations and the 
MMRP. 

Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines, subdivision 15091 (e), PWD is the official custodian of the 
documents and other materials that constitute the Record upon which the decisions related to the 
Project are based, and such documents and other materials are located at the offices of the 
Palmdale Water District, which are located at 2029 E Avenue Q, Palmdale, CA 93550. Copies of 
the Draft and Final PEIR are available at the Palmdale Water District Office, Palmdale City 
Library (700 E. Palmdale Blvd., Palmdale, CA 93550), and online at the Palmdale Water District 
web site (http://www.palmdalewater.org). 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 5 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

3.0  Description of the Project 

The following information is intended to provide a summary of the key components of the 
WSMP. Additional detailed information concerning each component of the WSMP is set forth in 
Chapter 2, “Project Description,” of the Draft PEIR. 

3.1  Background and Need for Project 
PWD, as the lead agency pursuant to the CEQA, is proposing to implement the Water System 
Master Plan (WSMP or project) that outlines a programmatic plan for developing PWD’s potable 
water system over the next 25 years. The WSMP was prepared to establish cost-effective water 
services that meet water quantity, water quality, system pressure and reliability requirements of 
its customers both immediately and into 2040 and beyond. The WSMP addresses both existing 
system deficiencies such as aging infrastructure as well as the need for facilities to accommodate 
for future growth. This includes facilities to be implemented by 2020 (near-term) as well as future 
projects to be implemented from 2021 through 2040 (long-term). 

The WSMP was prepared as an update to PWD’s previous Water System Master Plan as a 
response to anticipated area population growth, which is expected to double over the next 25 
years. The State of California set strict water conservation goals in lieu of the five-year drought, 
and in 2015 PWD served the least amount of water over the last 30 years. In 2010 PWD began to 
address these upcoming demands and identified a number of water resource options available to 
meet anticipated needs through a Strategic Water Resources Plan (PWD 2016). 

3.2  Project Objectives 
The primary objectives of the WSMP are to: 

 Provide cost-effective and fiscally responsible water services that meet the water quantity, 
water quality, system pressure, and reliability requirements of PWD customers; 

 Improve or replace existing PWD water system infrastructure; 

 Provide future water system infrastructure necessary to meet projected growth of PWD 
service area; and 

 Ensure a potable water supply capable of meeting overall annual water demand that is 
projected to double over the next 25 years. 

3.3  Project Location 
The PWD service area is located in southern California, approximately 60 miles northeast of the 
City of Los Angeles, within the Antelope Valley, as shown in Figure 2-1 of the Draft PEIR. The 
District’s primary service area includes the majority of the City of Palmdale and portions of 
unincorporated Los Angeles County. The District is bordered to the south and west by the San 
Gabriel Mountain Range, the north by the City of Lancaster, and the east by the unincorporated 
community of Littlerock. The District encompasses 47 square miles of mainly developed areas of 
the City of Palmdale and surrounding sphere of influence, with agricultural uses around its 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 6 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

perimeter. The project includes facilities that would be located outside of PWD boundaries in 
either the City of Palmdale or unincorporated Los Angeles County.  

3.4  Near-Term Project Components 
Improvements to address existing water system deficiencies that critically affect the ability of 
PWD to provide a reliable water supply to its customers are assigned highest priority and are 
scheduled to be constructed prior to 2020. These near-term projects involve either the 
construction of new facilities to compensate for future growth or the improvement of existing 
facilities that require replacement or upgrades due to system deficiencies. These project 
components include three storage tanks, three booster pump stations, and segments of 
transmission pipelines. 

Storage Tanks  

Three new storage tanks would be constructed to meet existing storage deficiencies within each 
tank’s respective pressure zone: 

 Storage tank ES-01 would be constructed approximately 500 feet west of PWD’s western 
service boundary within the new Quail Valley development, located approximately 1 mile 
southwest of Lake Palmdale in an unincorporated portion of Los Angeles County. Storage 
tank ES-01 would have a diameter of 76 feet and a height of 30 feet. Storage Tank ES-01 
would have a footprint of 4,536 square feet (SF) and a capacity of 1.0 million gallons (MG) 
to serve the 3600W pressure zone. See Figure 2-2a in the Draft PEIR for the potential 
location of storage tank ES-01.  

 Storage tank FS-01 would be constructed approximately 1,700 feet west of PWD’s western 
service boundary within the new Quail Valley development in an unincorporated portion of 
Los Angeles County. Storage tank FS-01 would have a diameter of 66 feet and a height of 
30 feet. Storage Tank FS-01 would have a footprint of 3,421 SF and a capacity of 0.75 MG to 
serve the 3400W pressure zone. See Figure 2-2a for the potential location of storage tank 
FS-01.  

 Storage tank ES-03 would be constructed near the intersection of Sierra Highway and Rae 
Street and within the PWD’s service area. Storage tank ES-03 would have a diameter of 
154 feet and a height of 30 feet. Storage tank ES-03 would have a footprint of 18,627 SF and 
a capacity of 4.2 MG to serve the 2950 pressure zone. See Figure 2-2b in the Draft PEIR for 
the potential location of storage tank ES-03.  

Pump Stations 

Three new pumps would be installed at existing pump stations to meet fire flow requirements and 
improve upon hydraulic deficiencies. One new pump would be installed at the existing V-5 
Booster Station (EB-01), near the northwest corner of 47th Street East and Barrel Springs Road, 
to meet fire flow requirements for the 3400E pressure zone (see Figure 2-2c in the Draft PEIR). 
The improvements would expand total capacity by 3,500 gallons per minute (gpm). New pumps 
also would be installed at the existing 3600 Ft Booster Pump Station (FB-01), near the 
intersection of Tierra Subida Avenue and Lakeview Drive, and the existing El Camino 
Underground Pump Station (FB-02), near the intersection of El Camino Drive and Lakeview 
Drive, to serve the 3400W pressure zone and the new Quail Valley development. Figure 2-2d in 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 7 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

the Draft PEIR shows the locations of FB-01 and FB-02. Total capacity would be improved by 
300 gpm and 650 gpm, respectively.  

Pipelines 

Multiple segments of transmission pipelines would be constructed throughout the PWD service 
area as part of its 2015-2020 planning horizon for CIP implementation. Pipelines to be 
constructed include fire flow projects, age-based pipeline improvements, and pipeline expansion 
projects. Segments of pipeline construction include the following estimates: 

Fire Flow Projects 

All pipelines to be constructed for fire flow projects are shown on Figure 2-2e and Figure 2-2f. 

 Approximately 2,675 feet of 12-inch diameter pipeline replacement along 35th Street East, 
connecting between East Avenue Q and the Palmdale Water Reclamation Plant (FF-01); 

 Approximately 965 feet of 12-inch diameter pipeline along Avenue Q-6 between 12th Street 
East and 15th Street East (FF-04); 

 Approximately 1,570 feet of 16-inch diameter pipeline along Fort Tejon Road and 52nd Street 
East (FF-05); 

 Approximately 48 feet of 8-inch diameter pipeline on Avenue S-10 between 40th Street East 
and 42nd Street East (FF-06); and 

 Approximately 1,400 feet of 8-inch diameter pipeline north of Barrel Springs Drive and 
Camares Drive, within the Quail Valley development area (FF-07). 

Pipeline Improvements and Expansion 

 Pipeline along 47th Street East, connecting the improvements at pump station EB-01 south 
and then extending the pipeline west through undeveloped land to an existing deficiency 
recommended tank (see Figure 2-2c in the Draft PEIR);  

 Pipeline within the ROW of Sierra Highway, connecting an existing storage tank and pump 
station southeast to the deficiency recommended tank ES-03 (see Figure 2-2b in the Draft 
PEIR); and 

 Pipeline west of Lakeview Drive through undeveloped land connecting to the storage tank 
ES-01 (see Figure 2-2a in the Draft PEIR). 

3.5  Long-Term Project Components 

Storage Tanks, Pump Stations, Pipelines, and Wells 

Improvements that address existing system deficiencies that are not considered immediately 
critical or high priority to PWD are proposed as long-term project components. The construction 
of these projects would start in 2021 and continue through 2040. The phasing of the long-term 
project improvements is based upon many factors, such as the actual rate of growth and the 
timing of developments expected in the PWD service area, the reasons for which are presented in 
Table 2-3 and Table 2-4 in the Draft PEIR. The long-term project components would include the 
construction of new facilities or improvements to existing facilities, and would consist of 16 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 8 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

storage tanks, 7 new pumps at five existing pump stations, 6 new pump stations, 5 production 
wells, and over 700,000 feet of transmission pipelines ranging from 6-to 24-inches in diameter 
shown on Figure 2-2. Since the long-term buildout of these project components is based on the 
projected demands for each pressure zone and is subject to the availability of funds, the phasing 
of the long-term projects is presented as a planning guideline for their future implementation (see 
Table 2-3 and 2-4 in the Draft PEIR). The actual timing of future facilities will be dependent 
upon the actual rate of growth and the timing of new developments expected in the service area.  

Headquarters Expansion 

The PWD headquarters expansion is anticipated to occur from 2021 through 2030 and is therefore 
considered a long-term project. The headquarters expansion would house existing and future staff 
required to serve the water system in the long term. The headquarter expansion would consist of 
demolition of existing buildings at the corner of E. Avenue Q and 20th Street in Palmdale and 
construction of a 21,000 square foot building. The building to be constructed would be one story 
in height and would be constructed on land currently owned by PWD.  

4.0  CEQA Environmental Review 

The basic purposes of CEQA are to (1) inform decision makers and the public about the potential, 
significant adverse environmental effects of proposed governmental decisions and activities, (2) 
identify the ways those environmental effects can be avoided or significantly reduced, (3) prevent 
significant, avoidable and adverse environmental effects by requiring changes in projects through 
the use of alternatives or mitigation measures when feasible, and (4) disclose to the public the 
reasons why an implementing agency may approve a project even if significant unavoidable 
environmental effects are involved. 

An EIR uses a multidisciplinary approach, applying social and natural sciences to make a 
qualitative and quantitative analysis of all the foreseeable environmental impacts that a Project 
would exert on the surrounding area. As stated in CEQA Guidelines section 15151: 

An EIR should be prepared with a sufficient degree of analysis to provide 
decision makers with information which enables them to make a decision which 
intelligently takes account of environmental consequences. An evaluation of the 
environmental effects of a Project need not be exhaustive, but the sufficiency of 
an EIR is to be reviewed in the light of what is reasonably feasible. 

This Final PEIR has been prepared in accordance with the CEQA as amended (PRC section 
21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (California Code of Regulations, section 15000 et seq.). The 
Final PEIR incorporates, by reference, the Draft PEIR (State Clearinghouse No. 2017021042) 
prepared by PWD for the WSMP as it was originally published. In accordance with Section 
15132 of the CEQA Guidelines, the Final PEIR shall consist of the following: 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 9 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

(a) The Draft PEIR or a revision of the draft. 

(b) Comments and recommendations received on the Draft PEIR either verbatim or in summary. 

(c) A list of persons, organizations, and public agencies commenting on the Draft PEIR. 

(d) The responses of the Lead Agency to significant environmental points raised in the review 
and consultation process. 

(e) Any other information added by the Lead Agency. 

Before PWD may approve the project, it must certify the Final PEIR: a) has been completed in 
compliance with CEQA; b) was presented to the PWD Board of Directors who reviewed and 
considered it prior to approving the project; and c) reflects PWD’s independent judgment and 
analysis (CEQA Guidelines section 15090). 

Section 15004 of the CEQA Guidelines states before the approval1 of any project subject to 
CEQA, the Lead Agency must consider the final environmental document, which in this case 
is the Final PEIR.  

4.1  Environmental Review Process 

Notice of Preparation and Public Scoping 

In accordance with Section 15082 of the CEQA Guidelines, a NOP of a PEIR was prepared and 
circulated for review by applicable local, state and federal agencies and the public. The 30-day 
project scoping period, which began with the distribution of the NOP on February 13, 2017 
remained open through March 15, 2017. A public scoping meeting was held on March 13, 2017 
at the Palmdale Water District Board Room at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale CA, 93550. The 
NOP provided the public and interested public agencies with the opportunity to review the project 
and to provide comments or concerns on the scope and content of the environmental review 
document including: the range of actions; alternatives; mitigation measures, and significant 
effects to be analyzed in depth in the PEIR. 

Notice of Availability of the Draft PEIR 

The Notice of Availability (NOA) of the Draft PEIR was posted on July 30, 2018 with the County 
Clerk-Recorder in Los Angeles County. The Draft PEIR was circulated to federal, state, and local 
agencies and interested parties requesting a copy of the Draft PEIR. Copies of the Draft PEIR 
were made available to the public at the following locations: 

 Palmdale Water District office, 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale CA 93550 

 Palmdale Water District web site (http://www.palmdalewater.org) 

 Palmdale City Library, 700 E. Palmdale Blvd., Palmdale, CA 93550 

                                                      
1   The word “approval” is defined by Section 15352 of the CEQA Guidelines to mean “the decision by a public 

agency which commits the agency to a definite course of action in regard to a project intended to be carried out by 
any person…”  



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 10 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

The Draft PEIR was circulated for public review from July 30, 2018 through September 13, 2018. 
During that period, PWD held one CEQA public meeting to provide interested persons with an 
opportunity to comment orally or in writing on the Draft PEIR. The CEQA public meeting 
included a brief presentation providing an overview of the project and conclusions of the Draft 
PEIR, and was held at the Palmdale Water District Board Room on August 29, 2018.  

Responses to Comments and Final PEIR 

CEQA Guidelines, section 15088 requires PWD, as the Lead Agency, to evaluate comments on 
significant environmental issues received from parties that have reviewed the Draft PEIR and to 
prepare a written response. As stated in CEQA Guidelines, sections 15132 and 15362, the Final 
PEIR must contain the comments received on the Draft PEIR, either verbatim or in summary, a 
list of persons commenting, and the response of the Lead Agency to the comments received.  

Eleven (11) letters or emails were received by PWD from public entities or interested parties 
commenting on the Draft PEIR. The Final PEIR includes responses to all comments received. 
The responses do not significantly alter the project, change the Draft PEIR’s significance 
conclusions, or provide new information regarding substantial adverse environmental effects not 
already analyzed in the Draft PEIR. Instead, the information presented in the responses to 
comments “merely clarifies or amplifies or makes insignificant modifications” in the Draft PEIR, 
as is permitted by CEQA Guidelines, subdivision 15088.5(b). 

In the course of responding to comments, certain portions of the Draft PEIR have been modified 
slightly for further clarification.  The comments and modifications have not identified the 
existence of: (1) a significant new environmental impact that would result from the WSMP or an 
adopted mitigation measure; (2) a substantial increase in the severity of an environmental impact; 
(3) a feasible project alternative or mitigation measure not adopted that is considerably different 
from others analyzed in the Draft PEIR that would clearly lessen the significant environmental 
impacts of the WSMP; or (4) information that indicates the public was deprived of a meaningful 
opportunity to review and comment on the Draft PEIR (CEQA Guidelines, subdivision 
15088.5(a). Consequently, PWD finds the clarifications made to the Draft PEIR in the Final PEIR 
do not collectively or individually constitute significant new information within the meaning of 
PRC, section 21092.1 and CEQA Guidelines, section 15088.5. Recirculation of the Draft PEIR or 
any portion thereof, is, therefore, not required. 

The written responses to commenting public agencies shall be provided at least ten (10) days 
prior to the certification of the Draft PEIR (CEQA Guidelines §15088(b)). PWD provided the 
Final PEIR to commenters on October 12, 2018, and made the document available for review at 
the following locations:  

 Palmdale Water District office, 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale CA 93550 

 Palmdale Water District web site (http://www.palmdalewater.org) 

 Palmdale City Library, 700 E. Palmdale Blvd., Palmdale, CA 93550 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 11 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

5.0  Findings of Fact Regarding WSMP Impacts 

5.1  Findings Regarding No Impacts 
The Final PEIR concludes the project will result in no impacts to the resource areas listed below, 
and that no mitigation measures are required. PWD finds, based on the Final PEIR and the entire 
record, the Final PEIR’s conclusions regarding the project’s impacts to these resource areas are 
correct. 

 Aesthetics (Impact 3.1-2, State Scenic Highways) – There are no officially-designated State 
Scenic Highways or Eligible State Scenic Highways within the PWD service area. Therefore, 
no impact would occur. No mitigation is required. 

 Agriculture (Impact 3.2-1, Conversion of Farmland to Non-Agriculture Use) –
Implementation of WSMP facilities would not result in the conversion of any Farmland to 
non-agricultural use. Therefore, no impact would occur. No mitigation is required. 

 Agriculture (Impact 3.2-2, Conflict with Existing Zoning or Williamson Act Contract) –
Implementation of WSMP facilities would not conflict with existing zoning for agricultural 
use, or a Williamson Act Contract. Therefore, no impact would occur. No mitigation is 
required. 

 Agriculture (Impact 3.2-3, Zoning or Rezoning of Forest Land or Timberland) – There is no 
land designated or zoned as Forest or Timberland within the project area. Therefore, no 
impact would occur. No mitigation is required. 

 Agriculture (Impact 3.2-4, Conversion of Farmland or Forest Land) – Implementation of the 
WSMP facilities would not result in the conversion of Farmland to non-agriculture use or 
forest land to non-forest use. Therefore, no impact would occur. No mitigation is required. 

 Agriculture (Impact 3.2-5, Loss of Forest Land or Conversion to Non-Forest Use) – 
Implementation of the WSMP facilities would not result in the loss of forest land or the 
conversion of forest land to non-forest use. Therefore, no impact would occur. No mitigation 
is required. 

 Geology and Minerals (Impact 3.6-5, Wastewater Disposal Systems) – The facilities would 
not require the use of septic tanks or alternative reclaimed water disposal systems. During 
construction of the project components, portable toilet facilities would be provided if 
necessary, and waste would be collected by a certified waste hauler and appropriately 
disposed of for treatment. The facilities would not require onsite employees that would 
generate wastewater, nor would the facilities themselves generate wastewater during 
operation—therefore, no waste disposal facilities are needed. Therefore, no impact would 
occur. No mitigation is required. 

 Hydrology (Impact 3.8-5, Housing Placement: Flood Hazard Area) –  The project includes 
construction and operation of storage tanks, pumps, pump stations, pipelines, wells, and the 
headquarters expansion within the project area, and does not include any type of housing 
element. Therefore, no impact would occur. No mitigation is required. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 12 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

 Land Use and Recreation (Impact 3.9-1, Divide and Established Community) – The facilities 
associated with the WSMP are not aboveground linear features that would create a barrier or 
physically divide an established community. Although the pipelines are linear features, they 
would be installed underground and as such would not permanently divide an established 
community. Some facilities such as pump stations would be located adjacent to public 
ROWs; however, there are no features of these other facilities that would create a barrier 
within public roadways or physically divide an established community. Implementation of all 
facilities would not affect existing access conditions. As a result, no impact would occur. No 
mitigation is required. 

 Land Use and Recreation (Impact 3.9-4, Increase Use of Recreation Facilities) – The project 
would not build new housing or otherwise have a direct impact on population growth in the 
project area, such as a residential housing project that would result in impacts to recreational 
facilities due to increased use. Therefore, the project would not result in an increase in the use 
of existing neighborhood and regional parks, or other recreational facilities that would result 
in a substantial physical deterioration of these facilities. No impact would occur. No 
mitigation is required. 

 Public Services (Impact 3.11-1, Fire and Police Protection) – The project components would 
not result in the permanent increase in residences or population, no increase in the need for 
new fire or police protection facilities would occur. Therefore, no impact would occur. No 
mitigation is required. 

 Public Services (Impact 3.11-2, Schools) – No new schools would need to be built in order to 
maintain acceptable performance objectives. Therefore, no impact would occur. No 
mitigation is required. 

 Public Services (Impact 3.11-3, Parks and Other Public Facilities) – The project would not 
require the construction of new recreational facilities. Therefore, no impact would occur. No 
mitigation is required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-2, Water or Wastewater Treatment Facilities) –The project 
would not require or result in the construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities 
or expansion of existing facilities. Therefore, no impact would occur. No mitigation is 
required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-6, Landfill Capacity) – The project would not be served by 
a landfill with insufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the project solid waste 
disposal needs. Therefore, no impact would occur. No mitigation is required. 

Cumulative Impacts 

Cumulative impacts to public services, agriculture, and forestry resources would have no impact. 

All other cumulative impacts would have less than significant impacts (see section 5.2.1 below), 
less than significant impacts with mitigation (see section 5.3.12 below), or potentially significant 
and unavoidable impacts (see section 5.4.1 below). 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 13 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

5.2 Findings Regarding Less Than Significant Impacts 
The Final PEIR identifies the following environmental impacts as less than significant, and no 
mitigation measures are required. Distinctions are made below for the near-term project facilities, 
which are analyzed at a project-level in the Final PEIR, and the long-term project facilities, which 
are analyzed at the programmatic level in the Final PEIR. PWD finds, based on the Final PEIR 
and the entire record, that the Final PEIR’s conclusions regarding the project’s impacts to these 
resource areas are correct. 

 Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Impact 3.3-1, Air Quality Plan) –  

All Facilities (Near Term, Long-Term). Implementation of the project would not conflict with 
growth projections in the Antelope Valley Air Quality Management District (AVAQMD) 
Ozone Attainment Plan (OAP). The project would also incorporate control strategies, as 
applicable, consistent with the OAP. Construction of the project would comply with 
AVAQMD Rule 403 (fugitive dust) requirements and would utilize a construction 
contractor(s) that complies with required and applicable Best Available Control Technology 
(BACT) and the California Air Resources Board (CARB) In-Use Off-Road Diesel Vehicle 
Regulation. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Impact 3.3-5, Odors) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term, Long-Term). Through mandatory compliance with AVAQMD 
Rules, no construction activities or materials are expected to create objectionable odors 
affecting a substantial number of people. The project would also comply with the applicable 
provisions of the CARB ATCM regarding idling limitations for diesel trucks during 
construction. Operation of the storage tanks, pump stations, pipelines and groundwater wells 
would involve the storage and conveyance of water and would not generate odors. Therefore, 
objectionable odor impacts affecting a substantial number of people would not occur from 
construction or operation of the facilities, and impacts would be considered less than 
significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Impact 3.3-6, Greenhouse Gas (GHG) 
Emissions) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term). Construction of the would not exceed the AVAQMD GHG 
screening threshold of 100,000 MT CO2e. Operation of the near-term projects would generate 
minimal GHG emissions and would not exceed the GHG significance threshold. As such, 
implementation of the project would not generate, either directly or indirectly, substantial 
GHG emissions and impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

All Facilities (Long-Term). Although construction and operation emissions were not modeled 
for analysis due to the programmatic nature of analysis of long-term facilities, it is anticipated 
that GHG emissions resulting from the long-term projects would not exceed AVAQMD’s 
screening threshold. Assuming that construction of facilities in the long-term phase would be 
completed after 2020 and intermittently over the following 20 years, total construction 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 14 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

emissions would be amortized over 30 years. In addition, it is anticipated that operation of the 
facilities would not result in substantial GHG emissions. Operation of additional pipelines 
and extraction wells would involve additional energy usage to transmit and extract water in 
the project area; however, these activities are not expected to result in substantial GHG 
emissions. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that implementation of the long-term projects 
would not generate, either directly or indirectly, substantial GHG emissions and impacts 
would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Impact 3.3-7, Consistency with Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction Plans, Policies, and Regulations) –   

All Facilities (Near-Term). The GHG emissions generated by the construction and operation 
of near-term projects would not exceed the AVAQMD’s significance threshold of 100,000 
MT CO2e per year. The primary source of GHG emissions generated by project 
implementation would occur during construction, which would be temporary in nature. The 
annual GHG emissions associated with the operation of the facilities would generate minimal 
GHG emissions. Other emissions from maintenance would include electricity demand from 
the pump stations, which are expected to be generally similar to current electricity demand 
levels and electric utility providers would be required to comply with the State’s Renewables 
Portfolio Standard. Consequently, the implementation of the project would not generate 
substantial amounts of GHG emissions that would hinder the State’s ability to achieve the 
goal under HSC Division 25.5 of achieving 1990 levels of GHG emissions by 2020. 
Furthermore, the project would not conflict with or impede the future statewide GHG 
emission reductions goals. CARB has outlined a number of potential strategies for achieving 
the 2030 reduction target of 40 percent below 1990 levels. Therefore, this impact would be 
less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

All Facilities (Long-Term). The long-term projects would be expected to comply with 
applicable construction- and operational-related GHG regulations as discussed under the 
near-term projects analysis above. Therefore, implementation of the long-term projects would 
be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Biological Resources (Impact 3.4-1, Effect on Species) –  

Pumps (Near-Term). All three proposed near-term pumps would be implemented within 
existing pump stations that are developed and would not support special-status plant and 
wildlife species. No impacts to special-status species are expected due to the implementation 
of the proposed project. Impacts are considered less than significant; no mitigation is 
required. 

 Biological Resources (Impact 3.4-3, Federally Protected Wetlands) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term, Long-Term). No near-term or long-term storage tanks, pump 
station, pipelines, or groundwater wells would affect Lake Palmdale, which has and currently 
does support navigation and substantial surface water related recreation with the potential for 
interstate commerce. Construction at the PWD headquarters buildings would not affect Lake 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 15 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Palmdale. No impacts to federally protected wetlands are expected due to the implementation 
of the project and impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Biological Resources (Impact 3.4-4, Wildlife Corridors and Nursery Sites) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term, Long-Term). On a regional level, the project area is not a part of, 
nor contains a portion of, a major wildlife corridor or habitat linkage. The majority of the 
project area is developed and the remaining natural open space is fragmented by 
developments, which limits the area’s use by wildlife for movement on a regional scale. On a 
local scale, for each of the near-term and long-term project components, there is wildlife 
movement across each site, lending to the intrinsic habitat value, but none of the sites provide 
a critical linkage between two large, undisturbed habitat areas. Therefore, impacts to wildlife 
corridors and nursery sites would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Biological Resources (Impact 3.4-6, Conservation Plans) –  

Pipelines (Long-Term). As currently sited, several long-term pipelines are located in the 
Antelope Valley Significant Ecological Area (SEA) and the San Andreas Rift Zone SEA. The 
locations go through undeveloped lands of the SEA and could be incompatible with SEA 
design compatibility criteria. PWD would coordinate with the Significant Ecological Areas 
Technical Advisory Committee (SEATAC) and adhere to the design compatibility criteria for 
each SEA if determined applicable. Impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is 
required. 

 Geology and Minerals (Impact 3.6-1, Fault Rupture and Ground Shaking) –  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term and Long-Term). None of the three near-term or 16 long-term 
storage tanks would be located within an Alquist-Priolo fault zone and are thus not located 
adjacent to a fault. However, the entire project area is considered a seismically active region 
and therefore storage tanks would likely be exposed to groundshaking throughout their 
operation. Storage tanks would be constructed in accordance with the California Building 
Code, which includes seismic design provisions to reduce the negative effects of 
groundshaking on structures. Impacts would be less than significant related to fault rupture 
and ground shaking. No mitigation is required. 

Pumps (Near-Term). The three near-term pumps (EB-01, FB-01, and FB-02) would be 
installed at existing pump stations. One of these existing pump stations (EB-01) is located 
within the Alquist-Priolo fault zone associated with the San Andreas fault. Therefore, the 
near-term pumps installed at this pump station could be subject to fault rupture similar to 
already existing pumps at this location. Further, all of the near-term pumps would likely be 
exposed to strong seismic groundshaking given the highly seismic project area. However, the 
near-term pumps would be constructed according to California Building Code requirements, 
including implementation of seismic design provisions designed to reduce fault rupture and 
ground shaking effects on the structures. Impacts would be less than significant related to 
fault rupture and ground shaking for near-term pumps. No mitigation is required. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 16 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Pumps (Long-Term). The WSMP includes implementation of seven new pumps at five 
existing pump stations, and six new pump stations as part of the long-term scenario. Two new 
pumps (EB-04 and FB-07) would be installed at an existing pump station that is located 
within an Alquist-Priolo fault zone; therefore, these new pumps could be subject to fault 
rupture similar to already existing pumps at this location. None of the long-term new pump 
stations would be located within an Alquist-Priolo fault zone. All new pumps and pump 
stations would be constructed according to California Building Code requirements, including 
provisions geared towards reducing fault rupture and ground shaking effects on structures. 
Impacts would be less than significant related to fault rupture and ground shaking for long-
term pumps and pump stations. No mitigation is required. 

Pipelines (Near-Term and Long-Term). Sections of both near-term and long-term pipelines 
would be located within an Alquist-Priolo fault zone. Pipelines both within and outside of the 
Alquist-Priolo fault zone would still be subject to ground shaking due to the area’s high 
seismicity. All pipelines would be designed in accordance with the AWWA/ANSI standards 
and PWD’s Engineering Standards and Specifications, which would help ensure structural 
resiliency should an earthquake occur. Impacts would be less than significant related to fault 
rupture and ground shaking for near-term and long-term pipelines. No mitigation is required. 

Wells (Long-Term). None of the groundwater wells would be located within an Alquist-Priolo 
fault zone and would thus not be subject to fault rupture, yet wells would likely be subject to 
ground shaking since the project area is a seismically-active region. However, the wells 
would be constructed in accordance with the Department of Water Resources California Well 
Standards, which includes provisions pertaining to well sealing and casing to prevent 
corrosion and leaks. These provisions would also help secure the well in the event of ground 
shaking. The wells would also be required to obtain well permits prior to construction from 
the County of Los Angeles that require the review of well site plan prior to permit approval to 
ensure well structural stability to the maximum extent possible. Impacts would be less than 
significant related to fault rupture and ground shaking for wells. No mitigation is required. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long Term). The PWD headquarters expansion building would 
consist of demolition of existing buildings at the corner of E. Avenue Q and 20th Street in 
Palmdale and construction of a 21,000 square foot addition to the headquarters building. The 
location for the headquarters expansion is not located within an Alquist-Priolo fault zone as 
shown on Figure 3.6-1 and is thus not located adjacent to a fault. However, the entire project 
area is considered a seismically active region and therefore the headquarters building would 
likely be exposed to groundshaking throughout its operation. The headquarters expansion 
building would be constructed in accordance with the California Building Code, which 
includes seismic design provisions to reduce the negative effects of groundshaking on 
structures. Impacts would be less than significant related to fault rupture and ground shaking. 
No mitigation is required. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 17 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

 Geology and Minerals (Impact 3.6-6, Loss of Known Mineral Resources or Mineral Resource 
Recovery Site) –  

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). Two of the long-term storage tanks (FS-13 and FS-15) would be 
located within State-designated Mineral Resource Zone (MRZ)-2 that is also identified within 
the City of Palmdale General Plan associated with Little Rock Wash. However, all six 
existing and active sand and gravel mining locations in the project area are located east of the 
storage tanks; therefore, the storage tanks would not impede active mining operations. 
Further, the surface areas of the storage tanks are minimal (i.e. they would range from 2.4 
MG to 5.5 MG capacity) compared to the size of the Little Rock Wash MRZ-2, and would 
thus not substantially impede future mineral resource extraction in this area. These storage 
tanks would be located on vacant land adjacent to a parcel containing storage facilities and 
across from a residential parcel; therefore, future mining in this location is not likely given its 
proximity to other existing non-mining land uses. Impacts would be less than significant 
related to the loss of availability of a State or locally-valuable mineral resource. No 
mitigation is required. 

Pipelines (Long-Term). Several of the long-term pipelines would pass through Little Rock 
Wash MRZ-2, which is both a State-designated mineral resource zone and identified locally 
in the City of Palmdale General Plan. However, pipelines would not disrupt existing mining 
operations since active sand and gravel mining areas are located east and south of the long-
term pipeline locations. The majority of long-term pipelines would be located in already 
developed areas and within rights of way in the Little Rock Wash MRZ-2, which are areas 
that would not be easily excavated for mineral resources extraction in the future. 
Undeveloped areas rendered inaccessible for mineral resource extraction by pipeline 
installation would be small relative to the size of the Little Rock Wash MRZ-2. Impacts 
would be less than significant related to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource 
that would be of value to the State and local residents. No mitigation is required. 

Wells (Long-Term). Three out of the five long-term wells would be located within the State-
designated and locally-identified Little Rock Wash MRZ-2. However, the wells would not be 
located in any currently active mining areas in Little Rock Wash MRZ-2, and given their 
proximity to development, the well locations would not likely be excavated for mineral 
resources in the future. Further, well footprints would cover a very small surface area relative 
to the size of the Little Rock Wash MRZ-2; the vertical space taken up by the wells would be 
small relative to the size of the mineral resource zones. The remaining two wells in the 
northern portion of the project area are not located in a MRZ. Impacts would be less than 
significant related to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of 
value to State and local residents. No mitigation is required. 

 Hazards (Impact 3.7-1, Routine Use) – 

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). The anticipated construction activities required 
for implementation of the facilities would temporarily require the transport, use, and disposal 
of hazardous materials. Construction activities would also require the use of heavy equipment 
that would contain oil, gasoline, or other fluids. Impacts associated with accidental release of 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 18 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

these materials could potentially create a significant hazard to the public or the environment. 
PWD’s compliance with all applicable federal, State and local regulations regarding the 
handling, storage, transportation, and disposal of hazardous materials would reduce potential 
impacts to the public or the environment related to the transport, use, or disposal of hazardous 
materials to less than significant. No mitigation is required. Hazardous materials would not be 
associated with the regular operation of the facilities. As a result, operational impacts would 
be less than significant and no mitigation is required. 

 Hazards (Impact 3.7-2, Accident Conditions) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction and operation activities associated 
with implementation of project facilities could create hazards to the public or the environment 
through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of 
hazardous materials. PWD is required to comply with all relevant and applicable federal, 
State and local laws and regulations that pertain to the accidental release of hazardous 
materials during construction of all near-term facilities and during operation of the long-term 
wells. Compliance with all applicable regulations would reduce potential impacts to the 
public or the environment regarding accidental release of hazardous materials to less than 
significant. No mitigation is required.  

 Hazards (Impact 3.7-3, Schools) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Three short-term pipelines (FF-01, FF-04, and 
FF-05) would be located within 0.25 mile (1,320 feet) of a school, and various long-term 
project components have the potential to be located within 0.25 mile of a school. Thus, 
construction activities would use limited quantities of hazardous materials. Additionally, 
PWD is required to comply with all relevant and applicable federal, State and local laws and 
regulations that pertain to the release of hazardous materials during construction of facilities. 
Compliance with all applicable regulations would reduce potential impacts to the public or 
the environment regarding hazardous waste emissions within 0.25 mile of a school. Impacts 
would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. Additionally, hazardous materials 
would not be associated with the regular operation of the facilities. As a result, operational 
impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Hazards (Impact 3.7-4, Hazardous Materials Site Listing) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). One active site, Air Force Plant 42 (AFP 42), is 
listed as an active State response site on a list of hazardous waste facilities subject to 
corrective action pursuant to Section 25187.5 of the Health and Safety Code (the “Cortese 
List”). AFP 42 is not within the project area; however, construction of various long-term 
pipelines and long-term wells FW-4 and FW-5 would occur within one mile of the area, 
which is located at the existing Palmdale Regional Airport. U.S Air Force reports indicated 
that the groundwater contamination plume is confined to an approximate 200-foot radius. 
While the long-term pipelines are not expected to be constructed within this radius, the two 
groundwater production wells could interact with contamination at AFP 42. Since 2010, 
however, the U.S Air Force constructed and installed a groundwater treatment system to 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 19 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

extract, treat, and inject impacted groundwater. These actions are anticipated to reduce the 
TCE plume located at AFP 42, which is expected to reduce in size and concentration over 
time. While it is not anticipated that contaminated soil and/or groundwater would be 
encountered during excavation of the pipelines, PWD would be required to coordinate with 
the U.S. Air Force, SWRCB, and DTSC prior to construction of the production wells to 
ensure no contamination interference would occur. As a result, impacts to the public or the 
environmental relation to hazardous materials sites would be less than significant. No 
mitigation is required. 

 Hydrology (Impact 3.8-4, Exceedance of Stormwater Drainage System Capacity) –  

All Facilities (Near Term and Long Term). The City of Palmdale contains numerous localized 
drainage systems that connect to earthen channels or drain to retention basins. Construction 
of all of the facilities would require minimal amounts of water. Therefore, the project is not 
expected to generate a large amount of runoff onsite during construction compared to existing 
stormwater runoff conditions that would exceed the capacity of existing stormwater drainage 
systems. During operation, the facilities would operate to store, convey, extract groundwater, 
and would not discharge any runoff to stormwater drainage systems. Although storage tanks 
would represent large impervious surfaces that would increase stormwater runoff, the storage 
tank locations are surrounded by undeveloped and/or impervious areas that are expected to 
accommodate runoff. Pumps, pump stations, wells, pipelines, and the headquarters expansion 
would not introduce substantial impervious surfaces such that excessive runoff would be 
generated. Therefore, impacts related to the generation of runoff that would exceed the 
capacity of stormwater drainage systems would be less than significant. No mitigation is 
required. 

 Hydrology (Impact 3.8-5, Structures: Flood Hazard Area) –  

Pipelines (Long-Term). Some of the long-term pipelines would be located within a 100-year 
flood zone. However, pipelines would be installed belowground. Construction equipment 
necessary for performing trenching, excavation, dewatering and backfilling would be located 
aboveground, but only temporarily and would not have the capability to impede or redirect 
any flood flows. The pipelines would operate entirely belowground and would thus not have 
the ability to impede or redirect flood flows during their operation. Impacts related to the 
impediment or redirection of flood flows within a 100-year flood zone would be less than 
significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Hydrology (Impact 3.8-6, Flood Hazards: Levee or Dam Failure) –  

Pipelines (Long-Term). Although there are no levees within the vicinity of the project 
facilities, some of the long-term pipelines would be located within the expected inundation 
area of the Palmdale Dam. However, pipelines would be installed belowground and 
construction equipment located aboveground during pipeline installation would only be 
present temporarily. The pipelines would operate entirely belowground and would not require 
staffing; therefore, they would not expose people or structures to impacts associated with the 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 20 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

failure of a levee or dam. Impacts related to levee or dam failure would be less than 
significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Land Use and Recreation (Impact 3.9-3, Conflict with Conservation Plans) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). None of the project components are within the 
SEAs. As currently sited, several long-term pipelines are located in the Antelope Valley SEA 
and the San Andreas Rift Zone SEA (see Figure 3.9-2). The locations go through 
undeveloped lands of the SEA and could be incompatible with SEA design compatibility 
criteria. PWD would coordinate with SEATAC and adhere to the design compatibility criteria 
for each SEA if determined applicable (Los Angeles County Department of Regional 
Planning 2009). Impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Noise (Impact 3.10-5, Public Airport and Private Airstrip Noise) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). The project could include the installation of new 
water facilities, such as pipelines, pump stations, storage tanks, and wells, within two miles of 
the Palmdale Municipal Airport and U.S. Air Force Plant 42. Implementation of the project 
would not introduce permanent future residents or workers to the facilities; however, 
maintenance and inspection workers would be required to intermittently visit the facilities. 
Existing and future staff associated with the headquarters facility expansion would accommodate 
future facilities to be constructed as part of the WSMP and would not present a substantial 
increase in workers to the site. Future employees to perform maintenance and inspection at the 
facility sites would be minimal and periodic, and therefore, employees would not be subjected 
to excessive noise levels from an airport or airstrip. Therefore, implementation of the project 
would not expose people to excessive airport noise levels, and impacts would be less than 
significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Traffic (Impact 3.12-2, Level of Service) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). In Los Angeles County, the congestion 
management program agency is the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation 
Authority (LACMTA). LACMTA prepares the County CMP, which defines the network of 
state highways and arterials and Level of Service (LOS) standards for these roadways. 
Designated CMP roadways within the project area are SR-14 and SR-138; their LOS 
standards are intended to regulate long-term traffic increases resulting from operation of new 
development and do not apply to temporary construction projects. The project would not 
introduce any new facilities to the project area that would generate long-term changes in 
traffic. The storage tanks, pumps, pump stations, wells would require periodic trips related to 
maintenance. Occasional maintenance of the pipelines would occur on an as-needed basis. 
Employees and maintenance work associated with the headquarters expansion building would 
not require a substantial increase in vehicle trips since the existing PWD headquarters and 
maintenance yard are adjacent to the expansion location. These maintenance activities would 
not constitute a substantial increase in roadway traffic in the project area. Impacts related to 
conflicting with an applicable congestion management program would be considered less 
than significant. No mitigation is required. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 21 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

 Traffic (Impact 3.12-3, Air Traffic) –  

Pipelines and Wells (Near-Term and Long-Term). Multiple long-term pipelines, one short-
term pipeline (FF-01), and long-term wells FW-04 and FW-05 would be located within the 
airport influence area (AIA) associated with the Palmdale Regional Airport. Construction of 
the pipelines would not require substantially large or tall equipment that would interfere with 
air flight overhead. Construction of the wells could require large pieces of construction 
equipment such as cranes that could pose temporary safety hazards to aviation within the 
AIA. However, well construction would not change traffic patterns that would potentially 
impact air traffic safety. During operation, pipelines would be located belowground and wells 
would be enclosed in well housing just above the ground surface and would thus not involve 
permanent structures that could interfere with air traffic. Impacts related to changes in air 
traffic patterns would be less than significant. No mitigation is required 

All Other Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). All other facilities besides the near-term 
and long-term pipelines would not be located within the AIA. Storage tanks, pumps, the 
groundwater wells located in the eastern portion of PWD’s service area, and the headquarters 
expansion are not of substantial size that they would disrupt air traffic patterns. Long-term 
wells would require nighttime lighting during construction, and near-term and long-term 
storage tanks and pump stations may require permanent exterior nighttime lighting. Although 
these facilities would introduce light to the project area, these facilities would not be in the 
AIA and thus would not likely interfere with airport lighting used for landing. Impacts related 
to changes in air traffic patterns would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Traffic (Impact 3.12-4, Hazards) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). The project would not involve any roadway 
improvements or alterations, and would thus not increase hazards due to a design feature like 
a sharp curve or dangerous intersections. The project would involve the hauling of heavy 
construction equipment. The use of oversize vehicles during construction could be an 
incompatible use and can create a hazard to the public by limiting motorist views on 
roadways by the obstruction of space. However, oversize loads associated with construction 
of the project would be required to comply with applicable CVC and Caltrans requirements 
applicable to licensing, size, weight, load, and roadway encroachment of construction 
vehicles. Further, Mitigation Measure TR-1, required by a separate impact statement, would 
require the use of traffic counts to recommend construction-related oversize haul routes in the 
Traffic Control/Traffic Management Plan prepared for the project. Compliance with 
regulatory requirements to reduce hazards caused by incompatible roadway uses during 
construction and compliance with Mitigation Measure TR-1 would minimize the potential for 
hazards to other vehicles to less than significant levels. No mitigation is required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-1, Wastewater Treatment Requirements) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). During construction of all of all project facilities, 
a minimal amount of wastewater would be generated by construction workers and collected 
by portable toilet facilities. All waste generated in portable toilets would be collected by a 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 22 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

County-permitted portable toilet waste hauler and appropriately disposed of at one of the 
County identified liquid waste disposal stations. These waste disposal stations have been 
appropriately permitted by the Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB). During 
operation of the majority of project components, the facilities would store, distribute or 
extract potable water within the PWD service area and would not require any full time 
resident employees or water for operation. The PWD headquarters expansion would tie into 
existing permitted connections at the PWD headquarters site and is not expected to result in a 
substantial increase in employees that would augment baseline wastewater generation. As a 
result, operation would not generate a substantial increase in wastewater and would not 
exceed wastewater treatment requirements. Impacts related to the exceedance of wastewater 
treatment requirements would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-3, Stormwater Drainage Facilities) –  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Stormwater drainage facilities are not included as 
part of the WSMP. The construction of the aboveground components, like storage tanks, 
pump stations, well houses, and the PWD headquarters building expansion may require onsite 
drainage features; however, these are built into the project design and included as part of the 
project. There would be no substantial increase in runoff from project sites that would lead to 
a requirement for expanding offsite storm water drainage facilities. During operation, the 
facilities would not include any component that would generate excessive runoff.  Therefore, 
impacts to stormwater drainage facilities would be less than significant. No mitigation is 
required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-4, Water Supplies) –  

All Facilities (Near Term and Long-Term). Operation of the majority of the WSMP facilities 
would store, distribute and extract potable water to various end users within the PWD service 
area. The PWD headquarters expansion would tie into existing permitted connections at the 
PWD headquarters site and is not expected to result in a substantial increase in employees 
that would generate additional demand for water onsite for bathrooms or kitchens. As such, 
there would be no need for expanded water supply entitlements. Impacts would be less than 
significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-5, Wastewater Treatment Capacity) – 

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Implementation of all project facilities would 
result in construction and operation of potable water facilities. The majority of the WSMP 
facilities would not store, convey, or produce wastewater or recycled water and would 
therefore not generate any wastewater or recycled water. The PWD headquarters expansion 
would tie into existing connections at the PWD headquarters site and would not result in a 
substantial increase in employees to support the WSMP. As a result, operation of the 
expansion would not generate additional wastewater above the baseline condition that would 
require an increase in wastewater treatment capacity. Therefore, the project would not result 
in a determination by LACSD, as one of the providers of wastewater treatment and recycled 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 23 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

water within the project area, that it has inadequate wastewater treatment capacity to serve the 
project; impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-7, Compliance with Solid Waste Regulations and 
Statutes) – 

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). The project facilities would not generate solid 
waste during operation. Therefore, the project would comply with all applicable solid waste 
regulations, and impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-8, Energy) – 

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of the near-term and long-term 
project components would require the temporary use of construction equipment, which would 
likely be diesel-fueled. Construction of all project components would have minimal demand 
for gasoline and diesel resources relative to the State’s annual fuel usage. There would be 
adequate capacity for the State’s gasoline and diesel fuel resources to serve the project. As 
such, construction of the project would not affect local and regional energy supplies. In 
addition, the future long-term projects may be required to meet even more stringent emissions 
and fuel economy standards. Therefore, the temporary construction energy impacts of the 
near-term and long-term project components would be less than significant. No mitigation is 
required. 

Operation of the project may slightly increase PWD’s electricity purchases from Southern 
California Edison (SCE); however, it is not anticipated that additional power generation 
facilities would be required to serve the facilities, or that the demand would exceed the 
electrical capacity of SCE. PWD would continue to work closely with electricity and natural 
gas providers to ensure consumption is not wasteful and can be handled by the electricity 
grid. Therefore, operation of the near-term and long-term facilities would result in less than 
significant impacts to regional energy supplies and energy consumption. No mitigation is 
required. 

 Utilities and Energy (Impact 3.14-9, Compliance with Energy Efficiency Standards) – 

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). The project would utilize construction contractors 
who demonstrate compliance with applicable state regulations governing the accelerated 
retrofitting, repowering, or replacement of heavy duty diesel on- and off-road equipment. 
Compliance with these regulations would reduce the inefficient, wasteful, and unnecessary 
consumption of construction equipment energy demand. Construction of the project would 
not conflict with applicable energy efficiency policies or standards. Therefore, impacts would 
be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

Management strategies would be implemented to lessen the impact on local power supply 
providers while also supporting policies of the California Energy Action Plan II to reduce the 
State’s overall energy users. Specifically, the California Energy Action Plan II includes the 
Energy Efficiency Key Action #14. The project would be consistent with Key Action #14 as 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 24 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

the project would include energy efficient equipment such as system pumps and lighting to 
minimize energy impacts. Facilities would also be scheduled to operate as much as possible 
during off-peak energy demand periods in accordance with PWD’s energy plan for off-peak 
pumping. Additionally, PWD has developed alternatives for providing electrical generation 
using wind, hydraulic, natural gas and sun resources, which could be used to promote energy 
efficiency throughout PWD’s operations. These energy efficiency measures would reduce the 
overall energy requirements associated with all facilities included in the project. Operation of 
the project would not conflict with applicable energy efficiency policies or standards. 
Therefore, impacts would be less than significant. No mitigation is required. 

5.2.1  Cumulative Impacts 

Cumulative impacts to mineral resources, utilities, service systems and energy would be less than 
significant, and no mitigation measures would be required. 

All other cumulative impacts would have no impact (see section 5.1.1 above), less than 
significant impacts with mitigation (see section 5.3.12 below), or potentially significant and 
unavoidable impacts (see section 5.4.1 below). 

5.3  Findings Regarding Significant but Mitigable Impacts 
PWD makes the Findings below in accordance with CEQA Guidelines, subdivision 15091 (a)(1): 
Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project which avoid or 
substantially lessen the significant effects on the environment. Distinctions are made below for 
the near-term project facilities, which are analyzed at a project-level in the Final PEIR, and the 
long-term project facilities, which are analyzed at the programmatic level in the Final PEIR. 

In the event there is any inconsistency between the descriptions of mitigation measures in these 
Findings or the MMRP and the Final PEIR, the PWD will implement the measures as they are 
described in the Final PEIR. In the event a mitigation measure recommended in the Final PEIR 
has inadvertently been omitted from these Findings or from the MMRP, such a mitigation 
measure is hereby adopted and incorporated in the Findings and/or MMRP as applicable. 

5.3.1  Aesthetics 

Scenic Vistas 

Impact 3.1-1: Near-term storage tanks, long-term storage tanks, and long-term expansion of the 
PWD Headquarters could obstruct views of distant mountains, diminish the scenic value of 
hillsides, or would otherwise be located near City-designated highways and therefore subject to 
special design standards. Measures that require landscape plans to restore disturbed areas by 
replanting trees and/or reseeding with native seed mix, and site-specific vegetation screening and 
color palettes for aboveground facilities would be used to reduce impacts associated with scenic 
vistas to a less than significant level. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with 
Mitigation. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 25 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Facts in Support of the Finding: 

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). The near-term storage tanks (ES-01, FS-01, ES-03) would be 
implemented within undeveloped areas in the City of Palmdale and within unincorporated 
portions of Los Angeles County just west and south of the City of Palmdale boundary. Storage 
tank ES-01 would be constructed on open, undeveloped land approximately 500 feet west of 
PWD’s western service area boundary. The storage tank would have a footprint of 4,536 square 
feet, and would be 30 feet tall.  Storage tank FS-01 would be constructed on open, undeveloped 
land approximately 1,700 feet west of PWD’s western service boundary. The storage tank would 
be located approximately 3,000 feet west of the nearest residence, would have a footprint of 3,421 
square feet, and would be 30 feet tall. Storage tank ES-03 would be constructed on open, 
undeveloped land within PWD’s service area, near the intersection of Sierra Highway and Rae 
Street. The storage tank would be located approximately 1,950 feet southeast of the nearest 
residence, would have a footprint of 18,627 square feet, and height of 30 feet (Tank ES-03 would 
be the largest near-term tank).  

Mitigation Measure AES-1 would require a landscape plan for the storage tanks to screen 
facilities from public view. Additionally, Mitigation Measure AES-2 would design the storage 
tanks to have color palettes that blend in with the surrounding character of the site and would 
minimize contrasting features in the visual landscape. The design of the storage tanks and 
implementation of landscape plans required under Mitigation Measures AES-1 and AES-2 
would minimize contrasting features within the immediate project areas; therefore, impacts would 
be considered less than significant.  

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). Additionally, a total of 16 storage tanks could be constructed over 
the project’s long-term planning period. The locations of these long-term storage tanks are subject 
to change in the future, but currently, there are multiple storage tanks planned to be located within 
undeveloped land and/or hillsides. The near-term and long-term storage tanks would be large, 
visible structures that may appear substantially different than the existing open space land uses in 
the immediate vicinity and/or obstruct scenic views of the surrounding hillsides, resulting in 
significant impacts. Mitigation Measure AES-1 and AES-2 would require site-specific 
vegetative screening and would design the storage tanks to have color palettes that blend in with 
the surrounding character of the site. These measures would minimize contrasting features in the 
visual landscape. The design of the storage tanks and implementation of landscape plans would 
minimize contrasting features within the immediate project areas. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). Construction of the PWD headquarters expansion 
building (long-term planning period) would consist of demolition of existing buildings at the 
corner of E. Avenue Q and 20th Street in Palmdale and a 21,000 square foot addition to the 
headquarters building. The building to be constructed would be one story in height and would be 
constructed on land currently owned by PWD. The existing PWD headquarters is surrounded by 
one- to two-story commercial uses. The headquarters expansion building would replace an 
existing one-story building at the site. Mitigation Measure AES-2 would require design of the 
headquarters expansion building to have color palettes that blend in with the surrounding 
character of the site and would minimize contrasting features in the visual landscape. The design 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 26 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

of the headquarters expansion building required under Mitigation Measure AES-2 would 
minimize contrasting features within the immediate project areas 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.1-1 to a less than significant level: 

AES-1:  During project design, a landscape plan shall be prepared for proposed storage tanks 
that affect scenic resources. The landscape plan shall include measures to restore 
disturbed areas by replanting trees and/or reseeding with a native seed mix typical of 
the surrounding area. Vegetation screening shall also be included in order to assist in 
shielding the proposed aboveground facilities from public vantage points. 

AES-2:  Aboveground buildings/structures shall be designed to have color palettes and 
vegetation screening as necessary to blend with the surrounding character of the site 
and to minimize contrasting features in the visual landscape. 

Visual Character 

Impact 3.1-3: Near-term storage tanks, long-term storage tanks, long-term pumps, long-term 
wells, and long-term expansion of the PWD Headquarters could contrast with the existing visual 
character or quality of the project sites or surrounding project areas. Measures that require all 
aboveground buildings/structures to be designed to have similar aesthetic qualities to existing 
structures in the vicinity would be implemented to minimize contrasting features on the visual 
landscape to less than significant levels. Mitigation measures AES-1 and AES-2 would also be 
implemented to reduce impacts to visual character or quality. This impact would be Less Than 
Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding: 

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). The near-term storage tanks would be implemented within 
undeveloped areas in the City of Palmdale and within unincorporated portions of Los Angeles 
County just west of the City of Palmdale boundary. The storage tanks would introduce features in 
the landscape that would contrast with the visual character in the immediate areas. architectural 
and color elements of the storage tanks would be designed to blend in with the surrounding 
landscape and fit in with the visual character of the area. Further, implementation of Mitigation 
Measure AES-1 and AES-2 would apply to the storage tanks and would partially screen storage 
tanks from public view. Implementation of design features together with the landscape plan 
required by AES-1 would minimize contrasting features in the immediate vicinity of the tank 
sites. 

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). The WSMP proposes the implementation of a number of long-term 
storage tanks within undeveloped areas, which could introduce features in the landscape that 
contrast with the visual character of these undeveloped areas and potentially remove desert 
vegetation that is a notable characteristic of the area. All storage tanks would be designed to 
blend in with the surrounding landscape and fit in with the visual character of the area. Further, 
implementation of Mitigation Measure AES-1 and AES-2 would partially screen tanks from 
public view. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 27 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Pumps (Long-Term). The WSMP proposes the implementation of six new pump stations during 
the long-term planning period that would generally be single-story buildings with heights of 10 to 
15 feet. These five new pump stations could potentially contrast with the existing visual character 
of the project area. Although the locations are preliminary and subject to change, the identified 
locations include undeveloped land located in areas designated for low-density and single family 
residential uses. Architectural and color elements of the new pump stations would be designed to 
blend in with the surrounding landscape and fit in with the visual character of the area. 
Additionally, Mitigation Measure AES-2 would require vegetative screening as necessary to 
blend that pump housing with the surrounding character of the site. Further, Mitigation Measure 
AES-3 requires all aboveground buildings/structures to be designed to have similar aesthetic 
qualities to existing structures in the vicinity to minimize contrasting features in the visual 
landscape. 

Wells (Long-Term). The WSMP proposes the implementation of long-term groundwater wells 
that would generally be housed within single-story buildings, with heights of 10 to 15 feet. The 
wells would be located in the northern and northeastern portion of the PWD service area, in 
undeveloped areas near industrial facilities and the Palmdale Regional Airport (north) and just 
east of developed land containing a high school and residential land uses (east). These wells could 
be visible momentarily from public vantage points when traveling along roadways and sidewalks 
All aboveground well housing units would be designed to minimize contrasting features and 
blend with the surrounding landscape. Implementation of Mitigation Measures AES-2 and AES-
3 would screen well housing from public view and require similar aesthetic qualities to existing 
structures in the general vicinity.  

The PWD headquarters expansion building would be constructed adjacent to the existing 
headquarters which is located in a built-up commercial area of Palmdale. The one-story 
headquarters expansion building would be visible from public vantage points along 20th Street 
and E. Avenue Q. Implementation of Mitigation Measure AES-3 would require the building to 
have similar aesthetic qualities to existing structures in the vicinity. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.1-3 to a less than significant level: 

Implement Mitigation Measure AES-1. 

Implement Mitigation Measure AES-2. 

AES-3:  Aboveground buildings/structures shall be designed to have similar aesthetic qualities 
to existing structures in the vicinity to minimize contrasting features in the visual 
landscape.  

Light or Glare 

Impact 3.1-4: Near-term storage tanks, long-term storage tanks, long-term pumps, long-term 
wells, and long-term expansion of the PWD Headquarters could result in significant impacts 
associated with light and glare. Measures that require all new permanent exterior lighting to be 
shielded and directed downward to avoid light spill; measures that require aboveground facilities 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 28 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

to be designed to include non-glare exterior materials and coatings to minimize glare or 
reflection; and measures that require lighting used during nighttime construction to be shielded 
and pointed away from surrounding light sensitive uses would be implemented to reduce 
potentially significant impacts associated with light or glare to less than significant levels. 
Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding: 

Storage Tanks (Near-Term, Long-Term). The near-term and long-term storage tanks would be 
located within undeveloped land in between residential areas and on hillsides along the southern 
boundary of the project area. Some of these tanks would be located adjacent to existing PWD 
facilities such as pump stations, other storage tanks, and pipelines. Near-term storage tanks would 
be located between 900 to 3,000 feet away from the closest sensitive receptors (residential), while 
some long-term tanks, such as FS-14 would be located as close as 350 feet away from the closest 
residence. Storage tank design may require new exterior nighttime lighting for operational and 
security purposes. The increase in lighting could result in spill over lighting onto neighboring 
parcels. Due to the topography of the surrounding areas and largely undeveloped land, the storage 
tanks may include lighting that could be visible by the nearest residences. Implementation of 
Mitigation Measure AES-4 would require any permanent lighting on buildings/structures to be 
shielded and directed downward to avoid light intrusion onto surrounding land uses. 

Once constructed, building materials could create sources of glare during various times of the 
day. Implementation of Mitigation Measure AES-5 would ensure the storage tanks are designed 
to minimize glare or reflection, including non-glare exterior materials or coatings. 

Pumps (Long-Term). A total of seven new pumps at five existing pump stations, and six new 
pump stations would be constructed in the project area during the long-term planning period of 
the WSMP. The new pump stations would include new pump housing units, which are generally 
single-story buildings, with heights of 10 to 15 feet. The new pump station housing units may be 
designed with outdoor lighting for operational and security purposes. The new lighting could spill 
over onto neighboring parcels or be visible from surrounding sensitive receptors. Implementation 
of Mitigation Measure AES-4 would require any permanent lighting on buildings/structures to 
be shielded and directed downward to avoid light intrusion. Implementation of Mitigation 
Measure AES-5 would ensure the pump station housing units are designed to minimize glare or 
reflection. 

Wells (Long-Term). Construction of long-term wells would require 24-hour drilling and, as such, 
nighttime construction lighting. With implementation of Mitigation Measure AES-6, nighttime 
construction lighting would be shielded and pointed away from surrounding light-sensitive land 
uses. Further, once wells are constructed, implementation of Mitigation Measure AES-5 would 
ensure that well housing would be designed to minimize glare or reflection. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). The PWD headquarters expansion building would be 
constructed during the long-term planning period in a commercial area of Palmdale adjacent to 
existing buildings and a 4-way public intersection. The building may require new exterior 
nighttime lighting for operational and security purposes. The increase in lighting could result in 
spill over lighting onto neighboring parcels. There are no residences located nearby. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 29 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Nevertheless, implementation of Mitigation Measure AES-4 would require any permanent 
lighting on the headquarters expansion buildings to be shielded and directed downward to avoid 
light intrusion onto surrounding land uses. Additionally, building materials could create sources 
of glare during various times of the day. Implementation of Mitigation Measure AES-5 would 
ensure the headquarters expansion building is designed to minimize glare or reflection, including 
non-glare exterior materials or coatings. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.1-4 to a less than significant level: 

AES-4:  All new permanent exterior lighting associated with proposed WSMP components shall 
be shielded and directed downward to avoid light spill onto neighboring parcels and 
visibility from surrounding public vantage points. 

AES-5:  The proposed WSMP aboveground facilities shall be designed to include non-glare 
exterior materials and coatings to minimize glare or reflection. 

AES-6:  Lighting used during nighttime construction, including any associated 24-hour well 
drilling, shall be shielded and pointed away from surrounding light-sensitive land uses.  

5.3.2  Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Air Quality Standards/Violations 

Impact 3.3-2: Construction of all Long-Term facilities could result in significant impacts 
associated with AVAQMD emissions thresholds. Measures that require minimizing NOx 
emissions associated with construction activities, and measures that require construction 
contract specifications aimed at reducing construction-related emissions would be implemented 
to reduce potentially significant impacts associated with air quality standards/violations to less 
than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding: 

All Facilities (Long-Term). Long-term projects that would be of similar size, construction 
duration, and construction equipment mix as evaluated under the near-term would not be 
expected to generate regional daily construction emissions in excess of the regional daily 
construction emissions thresholds, and impacts would be less than significant, and no additional 
analysis or mitigation measures would be required. However, long-term projects that are 
substantially larger in size and scale could result in daily pollutant emissions that are above 
AVAQMD’s significance thresholds, and would be required to implement Mitigation Measures 
AQ-1 and AQ-2. For each project implemented under long-term phases of the project, 
implementation of Mitigation Measures AQ-1 and AQ-2 would reduce construction-related 
emissions to below significance thresholds. Therefore, this impact is less than significant with 
mitigation. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.3-2 to a less than significant level: 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 30 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

AQ-1:  The following mitigation measures shall be incorporated to minimize emissions of 
NOx associated with construction activities for the proposed project: 

 Construction activities shall require the use of 2010 and newer diesel haul trucks 
(e.g., material delivery trucks and soil import/export) to the extent feasible.  

 Off-road diesel-powered construction equipment greater than 50 horsepower shall 
meet Tier 3 emissions standards, including Level 3 CARB-Certified diesel 
particulate filters at a minimum and Tier 4 for equipment makes and models that 
are commercially available within the Mojave Desert Air Basin.  

AQ-2:  For each individual project, PWD shall require by contract specifications that: 

 Construction-related equipment, including heavy-duty equipment, motor vehicles, 
and portable equipment, shall be turned off when not in use for a period of five 
minutes or more to avoid excessive idling.  

 Construction activities shall minimize use of diesel-powered generators and rely on 
the electricity infrastructure where appropriate power requirements are available 
without the need to construct additional infrastructure.  

 Construction trucks shall be routed along haul routes minimize travel adjacent to 
sensitive receptor areas where feasible. 

Cumulative Increase of Criteria Pollutant 

Impact 3.3-3:  Construction of all Long-Term facilities could result in significant impacts 
associated with a cumulative increase of criteria pollutants. Measures that require minimizing 
NOx emissions associated with construction activities, and measures that require construction 
contract specifications aimed at reducing construction-related emissions would be implemented 
to reduce potentially significant impacts associated with criteria pollutants to less than 
significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding: 

All Facilities (Long-Term). Individual projects to be implemented under the long-term phase of 
the project may require intensive construction efforts, particularly if future projects larger than 
those evaluated under the near-term are proposed. Therefore, the daily construction emissions 
generated by long-term projects could potentially exceed AVAQMD’s significance thresholds. 
Long-term projects that could result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria 
pollutant would be required to implement Mitigation Measures AQ-1 and AQ-2. For each 
project implemented under long-term phases of the project, implementation of Mitigation 
Measures AQ-1 and AQ-2 would reduce construction-related emissions to below significance 
thresholds. Therefore, cumulative air quality impacts associated with construction-related 
pollutant emissions from the long-term phase of the project, in conjunction with other past, 
current, and probable future projects, would not be cumulatively considerable, and cumulative 
impacts would be less than significant with mitigation. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 31 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.3-3 to a less than significant level: 

Implement Mitigation Measure AQ-1 

Implement Mitigation Measure AQ-2 

Sensitive Receptors 

Impact 3.3-4:  Construction of all Long-Term facilities could result in significant impacts to 
sensitive receptors. Measures that require minimizing NOx emissions associated with 
construction activities, and measures that require construction contract specifications aimed at 
reducing construction-related emissions would be implemented to reduce potentially significant 
impacts to sensitive receptors to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less 
Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Long-Term). While details regarding future long-term projects are not known, if 
future projects of substantially larger size and scale (i.e., substantially greater daily area of 
disturbance, daily intensity of construction schedule, and number, type, and usage of construction 
equipment) and that are located adjacent to sensitive receptors are proposed, the construction 
TAC emissions generated by these projects could potentially result in greater daily emissions that 
may exceed AVAQMD’s significance thresholds. Long-term projects that could emit pollutants 
above significance thresholds would be required to implement Mitigation Measures AQ-1 and 
AQ-2. Implementation of these measures would substantially reduce construction-related TAC 
emissions. Therefore, long-term project facility impacts to sensitive receptors would be less than 
significant with mitigation. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.3-4 to a less than significant level. 

Implement Mitigation Measure AQ-1 

Implement Mitigation Measure AQ-2 

5.3.3  Biological Resources 

Effect on Species 

Impact 3.4-1: Four special-status plant species and 18 special-status wildlife species have the 
potential to occur in Near-Term and Long-Term WSMP facility areas and therefore have the 
potential to be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP facilities. Measures that 
require pre-construction plant surveys, pre-construction reptile surveys, nesting bird surveys, and 
burrowing owl surveys would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to 
sensitive receptors to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than 
Significant with Mitigation. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 32 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). Suitable habitat for special-status plants (slender mariposa lily, 
Robbins' nemacladus, short-joint beavertail, and Mason's neststraw) and wildlife (silvery legless 
lizard, coast horned lizard, southern California rufous-crowned sparrow, burrowing owl, and 
loggerhead shrike) is located at the near-term storage tanks ES-01, ES-03, and FS-01. In addition, 
suitable habitat for Mojave ground squirrel, desert tortoise, American badger, and desert kit fox 
may be present within the project area. Construction of the storage tanks could impact special-
status plant and wildlife species that have the potential to occur in the project area. Any impacts 
to special-status species would be considered significant without mitigation. Implementation of 
Mitigation Measures BIO-1 through BIO-4d would require pre-construction focused surveys 
for rare plants and special-status reptiles; nesting bird surveys; protocol burrowing owl surveys; 
habitat assessments and potential surveys for special-status wildlife; a Worker Education 
Awareness Program (WEAP); wildlife entrapment protocols and rodenticide prohibitions. With 
the implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). A total of 16 storage tanks could be constructed over the project’s 
long-term planning period. However, locations for the long-term storage tanks are subject to 
change in the future. Multiple storage tanks such as FS-06 and FS-08 would be located within 
undeveloped land; therefore, it is possible that the construction of the storage tanks could impact 
special-status plant and wildlife species that have the potential to occur in the project area. Any 
impacts to special-status species would be considered significant without mitigation. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1 through BIO-4d would require pre-construction 
focused surveys for rare plants and special-status reptiles; nesting bird surveys; protocol 
burrowing owl surveys; habitat assessments and potential surveys for special-status wildlife; a 
WEAP; wildlife entrapment protocols and rodenticide prohibitions. With the implementation of 
these measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Pumps (Long-Term). The project includes four new pumps at five existing pump stations, as well 
as six new pump stations within the project area. Although locations are preliminary in nature, the 
new pump stations may be located in undeveloped land; therefore, it is possible that the 
construction of the pump stations could impact special-status plant and wildlife species that have 
the potential to occur in the project area. Any impacts to special-status species would be 
considered significant without mitigation. Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1 
through BIO-4d would require pre-construction focused surveys for rare plants and special-
status reptiles; nesting bird surveys; protocol burrowing owl surveys; habitat assessments and 
potential surveys for special-status wildlife; a WEAP; wildlife entrapment protocols and 
rodenticide prohibitions. With the implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced 
to a less than significant level.  

Pipelines (Near-Term). The majority of the near-term pipelines are sited within or adjacent to 
existing roads and would not require the removal of vegetation for construction; however, 
Pipeline along 47th Street East, Pipeline along Sierra Highway, and Pipeline west of Lakeview 
Drive are within or adjacent to undeveloped areas. Suitable habitat for special-status plants 
(slender mariposa lily, Robbins' nemacladus, short-joint beavertail, and Mason's neststraw) and 
wildlife (silvery legless lizard, coast horned lizard, southern California rufous-crowned sparrow, 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 33 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

burrowing owl, and loggerhead shrike) is present. In addition, suitable habitat for Mohave ground 
squirrel, desert tortoise, American badger, and desert kit fox may be present. Construction of the 
pipelines could impact special-status plant and wildlife species that have the potential to occur in 
the project area. Any impacts to special-status species would be considered significant without 
mitigation. Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1 through BIO-4d would require 
pre-construction focused surveys for rare plants and special-status reptiles; nesting bird surveys; 
protocol burrowing owl surveys; habitat assessments and potential surveys for special-status 
wildlife; a WEAP; wildlife entrapment protocols and rodenticide prohibitions. With the 
implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Pipelines (Long-Term). The majority of the long-term pipelines are sited within or adjacent to 
existing roads and would not require the removal of vegetation for construction. Any pipelines 
that are sited within undeveloped areas could impact special-status plant and wildlife species that 
have the potential to occur in the project area. Any impacts to special-status species would be 
considered significant without mitigation. Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-1 
through BIO-4d would require pre-construction focused surveys for rare plants and special-
status reptiles; nesting bird surveys; protocol burrowing owl surveys; habitat assessments and 
potential surveys for special-status wildlife; a WEAP; wildlife entrapment protocols and 
rodenticide prohibitions. With the implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced 
to a less than significant level. 

Wells (Long-Term). The wells would be located in the northern and eastern portion of the PWD 
service area. The northern two wells would be located in open space near industrial facilities and 
the Palmdale Regional Airport. Based on the predominately agricultural and semi-desert 
vegetation surrounding these northern wells and previously documented species occurrences, this 
area could support coast horned lizard, burrowing owl, and loggerhead shrike. The northeastern 
three wells would be located in an undeveloped area just east of developed land containing a high 
school and residential land uses. The area has habitat that could support silvery legless lizard, 
coast horned lizard, burrowing owl, and loggerhead shrike. It is possible that the construction of 
the wells could impact special-status wildlife species that have the potential to occur in the 
project area. Any impacts to special-status species would be considered significant without 
mitigation. Implementation of Mitigation Measures BIO-2 through BIO-4d would require pre-
construction focused surveys for special-status reptiles; nesting bird surveys; protocol burrowing 
owl surveys; habitat assessments and potential surveys for special-status wildlife, a WEAP; 
wildlife entrapment protocols and rodenticide prohibitions. With the implementation of these 
measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.4-1 to a less than significant level: 

BIO-1: Pre-Construction Focused Surveys for Rare Plants: The following measures are 
recommended to avoid and/or reduce potential impacts to special-status plants as a 
result of proposed project activities for near-term project components and long-term 
projects in undeveloped portions of the project area with suitable habitat. The 
preconstruction surveys for special-status plants shall follow CDFW’s recent updated 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 34 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Protocols for Surveying and Evaluating Impacts to Special Status Native Plant 
Populations and Natural Communities (CDFW 2018). 

 A floristic survey for special-status plant species having potential to occur within 
and adjacent to the project area should be conducted by a qualified biologist for the 
aforementioned near-term project components and the long-term project 
components that are located in the San Andreas Rift Zone and the hilly topography 
south of it. The surveys shall cover the blooming period of all special-status plant 
species having potential to occur. The results of the survey should be documented 
in a report that will be submitted to CDFW. 

 If the floristic survey is positive for any of the four special-status plant species 
(slender mariposa lily, Robbins' nemacladus, short-joint beavertail, and Mason's 
neststraw), or any other sensitive plant species, and the avoidance of the special-
status plant species is not feasible, coordination with CDFW would be required to 
determine suitable mitigation. The mitigation strategy may include avoidance, on-
site or off-site restoration/enhancement areas, translocation, and/or seed collection, 
and exotic weed control. Restoration/enhancement areas for special-status plant 
species should be situated adjacent to protected open space and not result in 
isolated islands of habitat. If restoration and/or translocation are needed, a 
restoration/revegetation plan must be prepared and approved by CDFW. At a 
minimum, the plan should include a description of the existing conditions, site 
selection criteria, site preparation and planting methods, maintenance and 
monitoring schedule, performance standards, adaptive management strategies, 
contingency actions should success criteria not be met, identification of responsible 
parties, and a sufficient funding mechanism to assure that management and 
reporting requirements occur in perpetuity. 

BIO-2: Pre-Construction Focused Surveys for Special-status Reptiles: The following 
measures are recommended to avoid and/or reduce potential impacts to special-status 
reptiles (coast horned lizard and silvery legless lizard) as a result of proposed project 
activities on the aforementioned near-term project components and in portions of the 
project area with suitable habitat for the species: 

 A qualified biologist should conduct a preconstruction clearance survey throughout 
proposed impact areas for silvery legless lizard and coast horned lizard. If 
individuals are observed within or near the project work areas during 
preconstruction clearance surveys or construction monitoring, a qualified biologist 
should relocate the individuals to suitable habitat outside of the proposed impact 
areas so that construction-related impacts are avoided.  

 A qualified biologist should monitor the removal of vegetation to confirm special-
status species are not impacted. 

 Prior to the commencement of construction activities, construction personnel 
should check under stationary equipment to confirm no wildlife species are present.  

 All trash should be collected daily and taken offsite for proper disposal. 

BIO-3: Nesting Bird Surveys: If project activities occur within the bird nesting season 
(generally defined as February 1st through August 31st), a qualified biologist should 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 35 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

conduct a nesting bird survey within two weeks of the anticipated start date to identify 
any active nests within 300 feet of impact areas for most bird species, but 500 feet for 
raptors. If an active nest is found, the nest should not be impacted and project activities 
should be conducted as recommended by the biologist to avoid the nest, such as 
implementation of suitable buffer zones or postponing construction until the young 
have fledged and are no longer associated with the nest. A common nest buffer for 
most bird species is 300 feet, whereas raptors may require a buffer up to 500 feet; 
however, avoidance buffers may be reduced within urban areas, where appropriate, at 
the discretion of the biologist. 

BIO-4: Protocol Burrowing Owl Surveys: There is marginal breeding/wintering habitat for 
the species at the following near-term project components: ES-01, FS-01, ES-03, 
Pipeline FF-05, FF-06, the Pipeline along 47th Street East, and the Pipeline west of 
Lakeview Drive. A burrowing owl habitat assessment using CDFW protocols (CDFW 
2012) should be conducted by a qualified biologist for these near-term project 
components and any long-term project component that is located within areas that are 
determined to have potential to support the species. For the near-term and long-term 
project components in areas that are assessed as having potential habitat to support 
burrowing owl, presence/absence surveys will be conducted per CDFW protocol 
(CDFW 2012), as follows: 

 Four site visits are necessary to complete the protocol. For breeding season 
surveys, at least one site visit will be conducted between February 15 and April 15, 
and a minimum of three survey visits, at least three weeks apart, between April 15 
and July 15, with at least one visit after 15 June. The initial survey will consist of 
the project site and a buffer of 150 meters, where access is available, that will be 
covered by qualified biologists using transects spaced seven to 20 meters apart, 
adjusting for vegetation height and density. All potential burrows used by 
burrowing owl as determined by the presence of one or more burrowing owls, 
pellets, prey remains, whitewash, or decoration will be mapped using a GPS 
device. Follow up surveys will then check any burrows that have been mapped. If 
conducting non-breeding season surveys, the same methods for breeding season 
surveys, but the three follow up visits will be spread evenly throughout the 
nonbreeding season. 

 If the surveys are positive for the presence of burrowing owl, CDFW will be 
consulted on how to proceed to avoid and minimize potential project-related 
impacts to this species. Mitigation and avoidance measures may include no-work 
buffers and/or seasonal limitations for burrows that cannot be avoided. Burrowing 
owl artificial burrow and exclusion plans are a potential option for burrows that 
would be directly impacted by project activities. 

BIO-4a:  Pre-construction Habitat Assessment. Prior to ground disturbing activities for near-
term storage tanks and pipelines and all long-term project components, a habitat 
assessment shall be conducted by a qualified biologist to determine the potential for the 
following special-status wildlife species to occur within project areas: Mohave ground 
squirrel, desert tortoise, desert kit fox, and American badger. If the habitat assessment 
determines there is potential for one of the special-status species to be present within a 
certain buffer of the construction zone, then additional measures shall be implemented 
as described below. For Mohave ground squirrel and desert tortoise, focused surveys 
shall be conducted prior to project implementation to determine presence or absence. If 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 36 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

the habitat assessment determines there is no potential to occur, then no further 
mitigation is required. 

 Mohave ground squirrel - Wherever the project is occurring in areas containing 
suitable Mohave ground squirrel habitat, CDFW-protocol surveys for Mohave 
ground squirrel shall be conducted to determine presence/absence, which shall 
include a 100-foot buffer surrounding the limits of disturbance; or presence may be 
assumed and PWD shall pay an in-lieu fee to a CDFW-approved conservation area, 
such as an established mitigation bank. The mitigation ration of in-lieu fee amount 
shall be determined through consultation with CDFW prior to any ground-
disturbing activities. If surveys are conducted and presence is confirmed, an 
incidental take permit shall be obtained prior to any ground-disturbing actives from 
CDFW in accordance with Section 2081 of the California Fish and Game Code. 

 Desert tortoise - Wherever the project is occurring in areas containing suitable 
desert tortoise habitat, surveys shall be conducted in accordance with the latest 
USFWS protocols. If desert tortoise is confirmed present, then PWD shall consult 
with CDFW to obtain California Endangered Species Act authorization and, if 
necessary, an incidental take permit prior to any ground disturbance that may 
impact occupied desert tortoise habitat during the life of the project. Once potential 
habitat is cleared of desert tortoise, or if surveys are negative, exclusionary silt 
fencing shall be installed around the project impact area to prevent animals from 
wandering onto the project site. The limits of the silt fencing shall be determined 
by a CDFW and/or USFWS-approved biologist to determine the maximum 
potential for exclusion. The fencing shall be buried a minimum of 10-inches below 
the ground surface to reduce the potential for animals to move onto the project site. 

 American badger and desert kit fox – If the habitat assessment identifies signs of 
occupation by American badger and/or desert kit fox (e.g., occupied or potential 
dens), the following measures should be implemented:  

– If species individuals area found to be present, the project area shall be avoided 
until the individuals are no longer present. Individuals shall be allowed to leave 
on its own without being harassed. If an individual does not vacate the project 
site, PWD would be required to coordinate with CDFW to determine the 
appropriate relocation methods, location, and timing.  
 

– If dens and signs of presence are found but no species individuals are found, a 
qualified biologist shall confirm the dens are no longer active. To prevent any 
species from entering the project site in the future, PWD and the construction 
contractor shall install exclusionary fencing around the project site, if feasible. 
A clearance survey shall be conducted prior to the restart of construction to 
confirm no species are present. Periodic monitoring shall be performed by a 
qualified biologist based on a frequency determined through consultation with 
CDFW.  
 

– PWD and the construction contractor shall follow protocols included in 
Mitigation Measure BIO-4c to prevent wildlife entrapment at project sites.  

 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 37 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

BIO-4b:  Worker Environmental Awareness Program. PWD shall be required to prepare a 
Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP) that identifies methods for 
avoiding inadvertent impacts to special-status wildlife, plants and native vegetation 
communities that have the potential to occur in the project area. The WEAP shall 
include a meeting facilitated by a qualified biologist and attended by all construction 
personnel that describes the special-status species that could occur, measures and 
techniques for avoiding impacts, communication protocol, stop-work thresholds, and 
enforcement authorities and actions should a sensitive-status species be inadvertently 
impacted at any point during construction activities. 

BIO-4c:  Wildlife Entrapment. During construction of all near-term and long-term components, 
all trenches, pits or other depressions that are not in active use be backfilled or covered 
immediately after use to prevent wildlife entrapment. Additionally:  

 A qualified biological monitor should inspect all depressions prior to backfilling to 
salvage any entrapped species observed. 

 If depressions cannot be immediately backfilled or covered, a qualified biological 
monitor should periodically inspect the depressions to remove any entrapped 
species. The frequency of inspection of depressions by the biological monitor 
would be dependent on ambient temperature and precipitation conditions because 
high heat levels or flooding may result in mortality of entrapped wildlife. 

 Depressions that cannot be immediately back filled or covered should be provided 
with escape ramps that could allow some mobile entrapped wildlife to escape. 

 All stockpiled pipe interiors should be inspected for wildlife presence by a 
qualified biological monitor immediately prior to pipe laying. Any wildlife 
observed seeking refuge inside a pipe should be safely evicted. 

 Open-ended terminal pipes within any pipeline laying operation should be 
temporarily sealed if left unattended, to prevent wildlife from entering and 
becoming entrapped. 

 Handling of California Endangered Species Act-listed species entrapped in 
depressions shall only occur by entities possessing an Incidental Take Permit for 
that species. 

BIO-4d:  Prohibition of Anticoagulant or Rodenticides. The use of anticoagulants and 
rodenticides that could result in secondary poisoning or other mortality of non-target 
species including but not limited to American badger and desert kit fox is prohibited 
during the life of the project and future project maintenance activities. 

Riparian Habitat and Sensitive Natural Communities 

Impact 3.4-2: Riparian habitat, jurisdictional waters, and several sensitive natural communities 
have to potential to occur in Near-Term and Long-Term WSMP facility areas, and therefore have 
the potential to be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP facilities. Measures that 
require jurisdictional waters delineation and state permitting and native desert vegetation 
removal permitting would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to riparian 
habitat and sensitive natural communities to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact 
would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 38 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). Multiple storage tanks such as FS-06 and FS-08 would be located 
within undeveloped land; therefore, it is possible that the construction of the storage tanks could 
impact riparian habitat and jurisdictional water features that are regulated by the CDFW. 
Additionally, long-term storage tanks have the potential to be located in one of the multiple 
sensitive natural communities present in the project area. Implementation of Mitigation Measure 
BIO-5 would require siting of long-term storage tanks to either avoid impacts to jurisdictional 
waters and associated riparian habitat or obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals if such 
impacts cannot be avoided. Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-6 would require either 
avoidance of native desert vegetation (including CDFW sensitive natural communities) or 
obtainment of a native desert vegetation removal permit from the City, which involves 
preservation and mitigation stipulations. With implementation of these measures, impacts would 
be less than significant. 

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). Storage tank FS-01 would be located within juniper woodland 
habitat, which is considered a CDFW sensitive natural community. Implementation of Mitigation 
Measure BIO-6 would require either avoidance of California juniper habitat or obtainment of a 
native desert vegetation removal permit from the City, which involves preservation and 
mitigation stipulations. With implementation of this measure, impacts would be less than 
significant. 

Pumps (Long-Term). Although locations are preliminary in nature, the new pump stations may be 
located in undeveloped land; therefore, it is possible that the construction of the pump stations 
could impact jurisdictional waters and associated riparian habitat. Further, long-term pumps have 
the potential to be located in one of the multiple sensitive natural communities present in the 
project area. Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-5 would require siting of long-term 
pumps to either avoid impacts to jurisdictional waters and associated riparian habitat or obtain the 
appropriate regulatory approvals if such impacts cannot be avoided. Implementation of 
Mitigation Measure BIO-6 would require either avoidance of native desert vegetation (including 
CDFW sensitive natural communities) or obtainment of a native desert vegetation removal permit 
from the City, which involves preservation and mitigation stipulations. With implementation of 
these measures, impacts would be less than significant. 

Wells (Long-Term). Wells that are sited within undeveloped areas could impact jurisdictional 
waters and riparian habitats. Further, long-term wells have the potential to be located in one of the 
multiple sensitive natural communities present in the project area. Implementation of Mitigation 
Measure BIO-5 would require siting of long-term wells to either avoid impacts to jurisdictional 
waters and associated riparian habitat or obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals if such 
impacts cannot be avoided. Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-6 would require either 
avoidance of native desert vegetation (including CDFW sensitive natural communities) or 
obtainment of a native desert vegetation removal permit from the City, which involves 
preservation and mitigation stipulations. With implementation of these measures, impacts would 
be less than significant. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 39 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.4-2 to a less than significant level: 

BIO-5: Jurisdictional Waters Delineation and State Permitting. Near-term pipelines (e.g., 
the pipeline along 47th Street East and Pipeline FF-01) cross waters that may be 
jurisdictional and could thus discharge into Waters of the State or alter of the bed and 
banks of streams regulated under Fish and Game Code. A jurisdictional delineation for 
these near term pipelines shall be conducted to determine the limits of potential 
jurisdictional waters. The results of the formal jurisdictional waters delineation will be 
used during project design to determine if jurisdictional waters can be avoided. If 
jurisdictional water can be avoided, then no further mitigation is necessary. If 
jurisdictional water features will be potentially impacted by the proposed project, then 
a Report of Water Discharge will be submitted to the Lahontan RWQCB and, if 
deemed necessary, Waste Discharge Requirements will be obtained from the agency. 
Concurrently, a Notification of Lake or Streambed Alteration will be submitted to the 
CDFW and, if deemed necessary, a Lake or Streambed Alteration Agreement will be 
obtained. Conditions for the certification and agreement may require additional surveys 
for plants and wildlife, as well as best management practices to minimize impacts. 

For long-term storage tanks, pumps, pipelines, and wells, it is first recommended that 
project components be sited to avoid impacts to areas that appear to convey or pond 
water and any associated riparian habitat. If these areas cannot be avoided, a 
jurisdictional delineation for these facilities (as described above for near term pipelines) 
shall be conducted and associated permits obtained from RWQCB and CDFW.  

BIO-6: Native Desert Vegetation Removal Survey and Permit. Prior to ground disturbance, 
a vegetation survey shall be conducted to characterize, map and quantify the amount of 
native desert vegetation, including sensitive natural communities, that would be 
disturbed by project components. This shall include all areas within a minimum of 100-
feet from the project’s impact limits. 

If project components, near-term or long-term, within the boundaries of the City of 
Palmdale cannot be sited to avoid impacts to native desert vegetation species including 
sensitive natural communities as defined by CDFW, then a native desert vegetation 
removal permit will be necessary. This specifically applies to removal of Joshua trees 
and/or California junipers on project sites with a density equal to or greater than two 
individuals per acre (per the Joshua Tree and Native Desert Vegetation Preservation 
Ordinance. The PWD shall comply with all terms and conditions of the permit, 
including preparation and implementation of a desert vegetation preservation plan. 
Associated conditions and measures could include but are not limited to:  

 A desert vegetation preservation plan prepared by a qualified biologist (i.e., desert 
native plant specialist) consisting of a written report and site plan depicting the 
location of each Joshua tree and/or California juniper and, if determined necessary 
by the City of Palmdale, a long-term maintenance program for any Joshua trees 
and/or California junipers left onsite. 

 Joshua trees and/or California junipers to be left onsite shall be fenced-off and left 
undisturbed during any grading activities or removed to a holding area until 
grading activities are completed. If two Joshua trees and/or California junipers per 
acre cannot be preserved onsite (the minimum standard of preservation), the trees 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 40 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

shall be transplanted to an ecologically appropriate offsite location by the Palmdale 
Water District as approved by the City of Palmdale.  

 In lieu of transplantation of Joshua trees and/or California junipers from areas to be 
developed by the project, the Palmdale Water District may satisfy the requirements 
of the City code through payment of a fee to the City. Joshua trees and/or 
California junipers preserved onsite, in landscape easements, or landscape 
assessment districts are to be maintained in a healthy condition for a minimum of 
two (2) growing seasons. The trees will be evaluated after one year by a qualified 
biologist. Trees determined to be failing or that have died will be replaced as 
determined by the City. 

Local Policies or Ordinances Protecting Biological Resources 

Impact 3.4-5: Joshua tree and California juniper, which are protected under the City of 
Palmdale’s “Joshua Tree and Native Desert Vegetation Ordinance,” occur throughout the 
project area and have the potential to be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP 
facilities. Mitigation measure BIO-6 would be implemented to reduce potentially significant 
impacts associated with local policies and ordinances protecting biological resources to less than 
significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). Multiple storage tanks such as FS-06 and FS-08 would be located 
within undeveloped land; therefore, it is possible that the construction of the storage tanks could 
impact Joshua tree and California juniper.  Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-6 would 
require either avoidance of Joshua tree and California juniper or obtainment of a native desert 
vegetation removal permit from the City, which involves preservation and mitigation stipulations. 
With implementation of this measure, impacts would be less than significant. 

Pumps (Long-Term). Although locations are preliminary in nature, the new pump stations may be 
located in undeveloped land; therefore, it is possible that the construction of the pump stations 
could impact Joshua tree and California juniper. Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-6 
would require either avoidance of Joshua tree and California juniper or obtainment of a native 
desert vegetation removal permit from the City, which involves preservation and mitigation 
stipulations. With implementation of this measure, impacts would be less than significant. 

Pipelines (Near-Term). The Pipeline along 47th Street East is within the Palmdale city limits and 
it goes through habitat that supports Joshua tree and California juniper. Construction of the 
pipeline could impact the two species. Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-6 would 
require either avoidance of Joshua tree and California juniper or obtainment of a native desert 
vegetation removal permit from the City, which involves preservation and mitigation stipulations.  

Pipelines (Long-Term). Any pipelines that are sited within undeveloped areas, and within the 
Palmdale city limits, could impact Joshua tree and California juniper. Implementation of 
Mitigation Measure BIO-6 would require either avoidance of Joshua tree and California juniper 
or obtainment of a native desert vegetation removal permit from the City, which involves 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 41 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

preservation and mitigation stipulations. With implementation of this measure, impacts would be 
less than significant. 

Wells (Long-Term). As currently sited, the long-term wells are located within the Palmdale city 
limits and in an area that supports Joshua tree. Construction of the wells could impact the species. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-6 would require either avoidance of Joshua tree and 
California juniper or obtainment of a native desert vegetation removal permit from the City, 
which involves preservation and mitigation stipulations. With implementation of this measure, 
impacts would be less than significant.  

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.4-5 to a less than significant level: 

Implement Mitigation Measure BIO-6 

5.3.4  Cultural Resources 

Historical Resources 

Impact 3.5-1: Historical resources could be located in the WSMP project areas and have the 
potential to be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP facilities. A mitigation 
measure requiring a historic resources assessment of WSMP project sites would be implemented 
to reduce potentially significant impacts associated with historical resources to less than 
significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). There could be as-yet-unidentified historic architectural resources 
that could qualify as historical resources under CEQA within or near long-term storage tank 
project areas. Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-1 would require PWD to conduct a 
Historical Resources Assessment, as necessary, for future long-term components to be 
implemented as part of the WSMP. With implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact 
would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Pumps (Long-Term). There could be as-yet-unidentified historic architectural resources that could 
qualify as historical resources under CEQA within or near long-term pump project areas. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-1 would require PWD to conduct a Historical 
Resources Assessment, as necessary, for future long-term components to be implemented as part 
of the WSMP. With implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact would be reduced to a 
less than significant level. 

Pipelines (Long-Term). The long-term pipelines would be installed primarily within existing 
roadway right-of-ways, and are not anticipated to impact historic architectural resources. 
However, the pipelines could cross linear features that could qualify as historical resources. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-1 would require PWD to conduct a Historical 
Resources Assessment, as necessary, for future long-term components to be implemented as part 
of the WSMP. With implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact would be reduced to a 
less than significant level. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 42 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Wells (Long-Term). The wells would be located in the northern and eastern portion of the PWD 
service area, in undeveloped areas near industrial facilities and the Palmdale Regional Airport 
(north) and just east of developed land containing a high school and residential land uses (east). 
These areas are unlikely to contain historic architectural resources, and construction of the wells 
is not anticipated to impact historical resources. However, implementation of Mitigation 
Measure CUL-1 would require PWD to consider whether historic resources would be affected 
by development of wells and if necessary conduct a Historical Resources Assessment. With 
implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact would be reduced to a less than significant 
level. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.5-1 to a less than significant level: 

CUL-1:  Future Study – Historic Resources: Prior to development of long-term WSMP 
components that could potentially affect historic resources, PWD shall retain a 
Qualified Architectural Historian, defined as meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Professional Qualification Standards for architectural history (codified in 36 CFR Part 
61; 48 FR 44738-44739), to conduct a historic resources assessment including: a 
records search at the South Central Coastal Information Center; a review of pertinent 
archives and sources; a pedestrian field survey; recordation of all identified historic 
resources on California Department of Parks and Recreation 523 forms; and 
preparation of a technical report documenting the methods and results of the 
assessment. All identified historic resources shall be assessed for the project’s potential 
to result in direct and/or indirect effects to those resources and any historic resource 
that may be affected shall be evaluated for its potential significance prior to PWD’s 
approval of project plans and publication of subsequent CEQA documents. The 
Qualified Architectural Historian shall provide recommendations regarding additional 
work or treatment for significant resources that will be affected by the project prior to 
their demolition or alteration. 

Archaeological Resources 

Impact 3.5-2: Archaeological resources could be located in the WSMP project areas and have 
the potential to be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP facilities. Mitigation 
measures requiring retention of a Qualified Archaeologist; cultural resource sensitivity training 
for construction workers; archaeological monitoring; adherence to mitigation policy in instances 
of inadvertent discovery of archaeological resources; and an archaeological resources future 
study would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts associated with 
archaeological resources to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less 
Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). Given that construction of near-term storage tanks ES-01 and ES-03 
includes ground-disturbing activities, there remains a potential, albeit low, to encounter 
archaeological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2, CUL-3, and CUL-5 
would ensure that archaeological resources are identified and any discoveries are mitigated. With 
the implementation of these measures, impacts related to construction of storage tanks ES-01 and 
ES-03 would be reduced to a less than significant level.  



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 43 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Near-term storage tank FS-01 was assessed as having a moderate sensitivity for subsurface 
archaeological resources. It is possible that the construction of these two storage tanks could 
impact archaeological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2 through 
CUL-5 would ensure that archaeological resources are identified and any discoveries are 
mitigated. With the implementation of these measures, impacts related to construction of storage 
tank FS-01 would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). A total of 16 storage tanks could be constructed over the project’s 
long-term planning period. It is possible that the construction of the storage tanks could impact 
archaeological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2 through CUL-6 
would ensure that archaeological resources are identified, construction activities are appropriately 
monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these measures, 
impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level.  

Pumps (Near-Term). Construction of the near-term pumps is not anticipated to impact 
archaeological resources. However, given that construction of the near-term pump stations 
includes ground-disturbing activities, there remains a potential, albeit low, to encounter 
archaeological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2, CUL-3, and CUL-5 
would ensure that archaeological resources are identified and any discoveries are mitigated. With 
the implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Pumps (Long-Term). The project includes four new pumps at five existing pump stations, as well 
as six new pump stations within the project area. Locations are preliminary in nature and it is 
possible that the construction of the pump stations could impact archaeological resources. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2 through CUL-6 would ensure that 
archaeological resources are identified, construction activities are appropriately monitored, and 
any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these measures, impacts would be 
reduced to a less than significant level.  

Pipelines (Near-Term). Near-term pipeline locations were assessed as having a moderate 
sensitivity for subsurface archaeological resources and there is the potential to impact unknown 
buried archaeological resources during trenching the near-term pipelines. Trenching for pipeline 
installation would be 5 feet in depth, and has the potential to encounter intact subsurface 
archaeological resources that may have been capped and preserved under paved roadways, 
although archaeological sensitivity within Holocene alluvium (which underlies all near-term 
pipelines) decreases below 3 feet. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2 through 
CUL-5 would ensure that archaeological resources are identified, construction activities are 
appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With implementation of mitigation, 
impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Pipelines (Long-Term). Construction of long-term pipelines has the potential to impact 
archaeological resources.  Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2 through CUL-6 
would ensure that archaeological resources are identified, construction activities are appropriately 
monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these measures, 
impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 44 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Wells (Long-Term). The wells would be located in the northern and eastern portion of the PWD 
service area, in undeveloped areas near industrial facilities and the Palmdale Regional Airport 
(north) and just east of developed land containing a high school and residential land uses (east). 
Construction of the wells could impact archaeological resources. Implementation of Mitigation 
Measures CUL-2 through CUL-6 would ensure that archaeological resources are identified, 
construction activities are appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the 
implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). An archaeological resources survey was not conducted 
since the headquarters expansion is a long-term project. The depth of excavation for the 
headquarters expansion is currently unknown, but could impact buried archaeological resources. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-2 through CUL-6 would ensure that 
archaeological resources are identified, construction activities are appropriately monitored, and 
any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these measures, impacts would be 
reduced to a less than significant level. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.5-2 to a less than significant level: 

CUL-2:  Retention of a Qualified Archaeologist. Prior to start of any ground-disturbing 
activities for all near-term and long-term projects (i.e., demolition, pavement removal, 
pot-holing or auguring, boring, drilling, grubbing, vegetation removal, brush clearance, 
weed abatement, grading, excavation, trenching, or any other activity that has potential 
to disturb soil), PWD shall retain a Qualified Archaeologist meeting the Secretary of 
the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards for archaeology (codified in 36 
CFR Part 61; 48 FR 44738-44739) to oversee and ensure that all mitigation measures 
related to archaeological resources are carried out.  

CUL-3:  Construction Worker Cultural Resource Sensitivity Training. Prior to the start of 
any ground-disturbing activity for all near-term and long-term projects, the Qualified 
Archaeologist shall conduct cultural resources sensitivity training for all construction 
personnel. Construction personnel shall be informed of the types of archaeological 
resources that may be encountered, and of the proper procedures to be enacted in the 
event of an inadvertent discovery of archaeological resources or human remains. PWD 
shall ensure that construction personnel are made available for and attend the training 
and retain documentation demonstrating attendance. 

CUL-4:  Archaeological Monitoring. Archaeological resources monitoring shall be conducted 
as follows: 

 During ground disturbance related to construction of near-term pipelines FF-01, 
FF-04, FF-05, FF-06, and FF-07 and the pipeline leading to pump station EB-01 to 
a depth of 3 feet (depth at which archaeological sensitivity decreases and 
paleontological sensitivity increases) 

 During ground disturbance related to construction of near-term storage tank FS-01 
to the terminal depth of excavation or until bedrock is reached 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 45 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

 During ground disturbance related to construction of any and all long-term project 
components that the Qualified Archaeologist determines to have a moderate-to-
high archaeological sensitivity (to depths to be determined by the Qualified 
Archaeologist) (see Mitigation Measure CUL-6) 

CUL-5:  Inadvertent Discovery of Archaeological Resources. For all near-term and long-term 
projects, in the event of the unanticipated discovery of archaeological materials and/or 
Native American cultural resources, regardless of location, PWD shall immediately 
cease all work activities in the area (within approximately 100 feet) of the discovery 
until it can be evaluated by the Qualified Archaeologist. The San Manuel Band of 
Mission Indians shall be contacted if any such find occurs and be provided information 
and permitted/invited to perform a site visit when the qualified archaeologist makes 
his/her assessment, so as to provide Tribal input. Construction shall not resume until 
the Qualified Archaeologist has conferred with PWD and the San Manuel Band of 
Mission Indians on the significance of the resource. 

If it is determined that a discovered archaeological resource constitutes a historical 
resource or unique archaeological resource pursuant to CEQA, or a discovered Native 
American cultural resource constitutes a historical resource pursuant to CEQA, 
avoidance and preservation in place shall be the preferred manner of mitigation. 
Preservation in place maintains the important relationship between artifacts and their 
archaeological context and also serves to avoid conflict with traditional and religious 
values of groups who may ascribe meaning to the resource. Preservation in place may 
be accomplished by, but is not limited to, avoidance, incorporating the resource into 
open space, capping, or deeding the site into a permanent conservation easement. In the 
event that preservation in place is determined to be infeasible and data recovery 
through excavation is the only feasible mitigation available, a Cultural Resources 
Research Design and Treatment Plan shall be prepared and implemented by the 
Qualified Archaeologist in consultation with PWD and the San Manuel Band of 
Mission Indians. The Plan shall provide for the adequate recovery of the scientifically 
consequential information contained in the archaeological resource. PWD shall consult 
with the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians in determining treatment for prehistoric 
or Native American resources to ensure cultural values ascribed to the resource, beyond 
those that are scientifically important, are considered, and the draft Treatment Plan 
shall be provided to the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians for review and comment 
prior to implementation. All in-field investigations, assessments, and/or data recovery 
enacted pursuant to the finalized Treatment Plan shall be monitored by a San Manuel 
Band of Mission Indians Tribal Participant(s). 

The Qualified Archaeologist in consultation with the San Manuel Band of Mission 
Indians shall also determine the level of archaeological monitoring that is warranted 
during future ground disturbance in the area, and if work may proceed in other parts of 
the project area while treatment for cultural resources is being carried out. 

The disposition and treatment of any artifacts or other cultural materials encountered 
during project implementation shall be determined by PWD in consultation with the 
San Manuel Band of Mission Indians. 

CUL-6:  Future Study – Archaeological Resources. Prior to development of all long-term 
WSMP components that involve ground disturbance, PWD shall retain a Qualified 
Archaeologist, defined as meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 46 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Qualification Standards for archaeology (codified in 36 CFR Part 61; 48 FR 44738-
44739), to conduct an archaeological resources assessment including: a records search 
update at the South Central Coastal Information Center; a Sacred Lands File search at 
the Native American Heritage Commission;  a pedestrian field survey, where deemed 
appropriate by the Qualified Archaeologist; recordation of all identified archaeological 
resources on California Department of Parks and Recreation 523 forms; and 
preparation of a technical report documenting the methods and results of the study, and 
providing an assessment of the project area’s archaeological sensitivity and the 
potential to encounter subsurface archaeological resources and human remains. All 
identified archaeological resources shall be assessed for the project’s potential to result 
in direct and/or indirect effects to those resources and any archaeological resource that 
cannot be avoided shall be evaluated for its potential significance prior to PWD’s 
approval of project plans and publication of subsequent CEQA documents. The 
Qualified Archaeologist shall provide recommendations regarding archaeological 
monitoring to be conducted in accordance with Mitigation Measure CUL-4, protection 
of avoided resources and/or recommendations for additional work or treatment of 
significant resources that will be affected by the project. 

Paleontological Resources 

Impact 3.5-3: Archaeological resources could be located in the WSMP project areas and have 
the potential to be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP facilities. Mitigation 
measures requiring retention of a Qualified Archaeologist; cultural resource sensitivity training 
for construction workers; archaeological monitoring; appropriate treatment as determined by a 
Qualified Archaeologist in instances of inadvertent archaeological resources discovery; and an 
archaeological resources future study would be implemented to reduce potentially significant 
impacts associated with archaeological resources to less than significant levels. Therefore, this 
impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). Storage tank location ES-03 is underlain by the Punchbowl 
Formation (tps), which has a high paleontological sensitivity, and Holocene alluvium (Qa), which 
has low-to-high paleontological sensitivity, increasing with depth below 3 feet, and construction 
of storage tank ES-03, which will extend up to 10 feet in depth, has the potential to impact 
paleontological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-7 through CUL-9 
would ensure that paleontological resources are identified, construction activities are 
appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these 
measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). A total of 16 storage tanks could be constructed over the project’s 
long-term planning period. Multiple storage tanks would be located within areas of 
paleontological sensitivity; therefore, it is possible that the construction of the storage tanks could 
impact paleontological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-7 through 
CUL-9 would ensure that paleontological resources are identified, construction activities are 
appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these 
measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 47 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Pumps (Near-Term). Pump station location EB-01 is underlain by Holocene alluvium (Qa), which 
has low-to-high paleontological sensitivity, increasing with depth below 3 feet, and pump station 
location FB-02 is underlain by Pleistocene alluvium (Qoa), which has high paleontological 
sensitivity. The pipeline leading to EB-01 is underlain by Holocene alluvium (Qa), which has 
low-to-high paleontological sensitivity, increasing with depth below 3 feet, as well as Pleistocene 
alluvium, the Anaverde Formation, and the Punchbowl Formation, all of which have high 
paleontological sensitivity. Construction of these two pumps will extend up to 10 feet in depth 
and has the potential to impact paleontological resources. Implementation of Mitigation 
Measures CUL-7 through CUL-9 would ensure that paleontological resources are identified, 
construction activities are appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the 
implementation of these measures, impacts related to construction of EB-01 and FB-02 would be 
reduced to a less than significant level. 

Pumps (Long-Term). The project includes four new pumps at five existing pump stations, as well 
as six new pump stations within the project area. Although locations are preliminary in nature, the 
new pump stations may be located in areas of paleontological sensitivity; therefore, it is possible 
that the construction of the pump stations could impact paleontological resources. Implementation 
of Mitigation Measures CUL-7 through CUL-9 would ensure that paleontological resources 
are identified, construction activities are appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are 
mitigated. With the implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than 
significant level. 

Pipelines (Near-Term). The near-term pipelines are all underlain by Holocene alluvium (Qa), 
which has low-to-high paleontological sensitivity, increasing with depth below 3 feet. 
Construction of the pipelines, which would extend up to 5 feet in depth, has the potential to 
impact paleontological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-7 through CUL-9 
would ensure that paleontological resources are identified, construction activities are 
appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these 
measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Pipelines (Long-Term). The long-term pipelines would be installed primarily within existing 
roadway right-of-ways, but may be located in areas of paleontological sensitivity. Construction of 
the pipelines, which would extend up to 5 feet in depth, has the potential to impact 
paleontological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-7 through CUL-9 
would ensure that paleontological resources are identified, construction activities are 
appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these 
measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Wells (Long-Term). The wells would be located in the northern and eastern portion of the PWD 
service area, in undeveloped areas near industrial facilities and the Palmdale Regional Airport 
(north) and just east of developed land containing a high school and residential land uses (east). 
These areas are primarily underlain by Holocene alluvium (Qa), which has low-to-high 
paleontological sensitivity, increasing with depth below 3 feet. Construction of the wells has the 
potential to impact paleontological resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-7 
through CUL-9 would ensure that paleontological resources are identified, construction 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 48 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

activities are appropriately monitored, and any discoveries are mitigated. With the 
implementation of these measures, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). The headquarter expansion location is underlain by 
Holocene alluvium (Qa), which has low-to-high paleontological sensitivity, increasing with depth 
below 3 feet. The depth of excavation for the headquarters expansion is currently unknown, but 
could extend below 3 feet in depth with the potential to impact paleontological resources. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-7 through CUL-9 would ensure that 
paleontological resources are identified, construction activities are appropriately monitored, and 
any discoveries are mitigated. With the implementation of these measures, impacts would be 
reduced to a less than significant level. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.5-3 to a less than significant level: 

CUL-7:  Retention of a Qualified Paleontologist. Prior to start of any ground-disturbing 
activities for all near-term and long-term projects (i.e., demolition, pavement removal, 
pot-holing or auguring, boring, drilling, grubbing, vegetation removal, brush clearance, 
weed abatement, grading, excavation, trenching, or any other activity that has potential 
to disturb soil), PWD shall retain a Qualified Paleontologist meeting the Society of 
Vertebrate Paleontology standards (SVP, 2010). The Qualified Paleontologist shall 
conduct construction worker paleontological resources sensitivity training for all 
construction personnel. The training session shall focus on the recognition of the types 
of paleontological resources that could be encountered within the project area and the 
procedures to be followed if they are found. PWD shall retain documentation 
demonstrating that construction personnel attended the training. 

CUL-8:  Paleontological Monitoring. Full-time paleontological resources monitoring for near-
term and long-term projects shall be performed by a qualified paleontological monitor 
under the direction of the Qualified Paleontologist (SVP, 2010). Monitors shall have 
the authority to temporarily halt or divert work away from exposed fossils, in a radius 
of at least 50 feet, in order to recover the fossil specimens. Any significant fossils 
collected during project-related excavations shall be prepared to the point of 
identification and curated into an accredited repository with retrievable storage. 
Monitors shall prepare daily logs detailing the types of activities and soils observed, 
and any discoveries. The Qualified Paleontologist shall prepare a final monitoring and 
mitigation report to be submitted to PWD.  Paleontological resources monitoring shall 
be conducted as follows:  

a. In sediments mapped as low-to-high paleontological sensitivity [i.e., Holocene 
alluvium (Qa)] all ground-disturbing activities that exceed 3 feet in depth (depth at 
which paleontological sensitivity increases) and occur in areas that have not been 
previously disturbed shall receive full-time paleontological monitoring. This depth 
is an estimate based on the recovery of fossils from the vicinity of the project area. 
The Qualified Paleontologist may reevaluate monitoring levels as construction 
progresses if the paleontological sensitivity of the area proves to be lower than 
anticipated. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 49 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

b. In sediments mapped as high paleontological sensitivity [i.e., Pleistocene alluvium 
(Qoa, Qos), shale and sandstone of the Anaverde Formation (Tac, Tas), and the 
shale and sandstone of the Punchbowl Formation (Tpc, Tps)], all ground-disturbing 
activities that occur in areas that have not been previously disturbed shall be 
receive full-time paleontological monitoring, at all excavation depths. The 
Qualified Paleontologist may reevaluate monitoring levels as construction 
progresses if the paleontological sensitivity of the area proves to be lower than 
anticipated. 

CUL-9:  Inadvertent Discovery of Paleontological Resources. For all near-term and long-term 
projects, if construction or other project personnel discover any potential fossils during 
construction, regardless of the depth of work or location, work at the discovery location 
shall cease in a 50-foot radius of the discovery until the Qualified Paleontologist has 
assessed the discovery and made recommendations as to the appropriate treatment. If 
the find is deemed significant, it shall be salvaged following the standards of the SVP 
(2010) and curated with a certified repository. Following a discovery, the Qualified 
Paleontologist shall also provide PWD with recommendations regarding future 
paleontological monitoring, if deemed warranted. 

Human Remains 

Impact 3.5-4: Human remains could be located in WSMP project areas and have the potential to 
be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP facilities. Mitigation measures requiring 
appropriate treatment as determined by a Qualified Archaeologist in instances of inadvertent 
human remains discovery would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts 
associated with archaeological resources to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact 
would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). There are no cemeteries or known human remains in the vicinity of 
the near-term storage tanks. Given the low to moderate archaeological sensitivity of the near-term 
storage tanks, construction of the storage tanks is not anticipated to impact human remains. 
However, given that construction of the near-term storage tanks includes ground-disturbing 
activities, there nonetheless remains a potential to encounter human remains. Implementation of 
Mitigation Measure CUL-10, which includes provisions for the unanticipated discovery of 
human remains, would reduce impacts to a less than significant level.  

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). A total of 16 storage tanks could be constructed over the project’s 
long-term planning period. It is possible that the construction of the storage tanks could impact 
human remains. Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-10, which includes provisions for 
the unanticipated discovery of human remains, would reduce impacts to a less than significant 
level.  

Pumps (Near-Term). All three near-term pumps would be implemented within existing pump 
stations that are developed. No cemeteries or known human remains are in the vicinity of the 
near-term pump station locations. Given the low archaeological sensitivity of the near-term 
storage tanks, construction of the storage tanks is not anticipated to impact human remains. 
However, given that construction of the near-term pumps includes ground-disturbing activities, 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 50 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

there remains a potential, albeit low, to encounter human remains. Implementation of Mitigation 
Measure CUL-10, which includes provisions for the unanticipated discovery of human remains, 
would reduce impacts to a less than significant level. 

Pumps (Long-Term). The project includes four new pumps at five existing pump stations, as well 
as six new pump stations within the project area. Locations are preliminary in nature and it is 
possible that the construction of the pump stations could impact human remains. Implementation 
of Mitigation Measure CUL-10, which includes provisions for the unanticipated discovery of 
human remains, would reduce impacts to a less than significant level.  

Pipelines (Near-Term). The majority of the near-term pipelines are sited within or adjacent to 
existing roads, and no cemeteries or known human remains are within the near-term pipeline 
locations. However, the near-term pipeline locations were assessed as having a moderate 
sensitivity for subsurface archaeological resources, which could contain human remains. 
Trenching for pipeline installation would be 5 feet in depth, and has the potential to encounter 
intact subsurface archaeological resources with human remains that may have been capped and 
preserved under paved roadways. Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-10, which 
includes provisions for the unanticipated discovery of human remains, would reduce impacts to a 
less than significant level.  

Pipelines (Long-Term). Similar to near-term pipelines, construction of long-term pipelines has the 
potential to impact human remains. Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-10, which 
includes provisions for the unanticipated discovery of human remains, would reduce impacts to a 
less than significant level. 

Wells (Long-Term). The wells would be located in the northern and eastern portion of the PWD 
service area, in undeveloped areas near industrial facilities and the Palmdale Regional Airport 
(north) and just east of developed land containing a high school and residential land uses (east). 
Construction of the wells could impact archaeological resources containing human remains. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-10, which includes provisions for the 
unanticipated discovery of human remains, would reduce impacts to a less than significant level. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). There are no cemeteries or known human remains in the 
vicinity of the headquarters expansion. The depth of excavation for the headquarters expansion is 
currently unknown, but has the potential to encounter intact subsurface archaeological resources 
with human remains. Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-10, which includes 
provisions for the unanticipated discovery of human remains, would reduce impacts to a less than 
significant level. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.5-4 to a less than significant level. 

CUL-10:  Inadvertent Discovery of Human Remains. If human remains or funerary objects are 
encountered during activities associated with the project, then PWD shall halt work in 
the vicinity (within 100 feet) of the discovery and contact the County Coroner in 
accordance with Public Resources Code section 5097.98 and Health and Safety Code 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 51 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

section 7050.5. If the County Coroner determines the remains are Native American, 
then the Coroner shall notify the California Native American Heritage Commission in 
accordance with Health and Safety Code subdivision 7050.5(c), and Public Resources 
Code section 5097.98. The California Native American Heritage Commission shall 
designate a Most Likely Descendant for the remains per Public Resources Code section 
5097.98. Until the landowner has conferred with the Most Likely Descendant, the 
contractor shall ensure the immediate vicinity where the discovery occurred is not 
disturbed by further activity, is adequately protected according to generally accepted 
cultural or archaeological standards or practices, and that further activities take into 
account the possibility of multiple burials. 

5.3.5  Geology and Minerals 

Soil Erosion or Topsoil Loss 

Impact 3.6-2: Soil resources have the potential to be significantly impacted by implementation of 
WSMP facilities. A mitigation measure requiring best management practices for topsoil 
preservation would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts associated with soil 
erosion or topsoil loss to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than 
Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term and Long-Term). The storage tanks to be constructed would all be 
located in undeveloped areas. Construction of near-term and long-term storage tanks would 
require site preparation and clearing, excavation, grading, tank erection and painting, and site 
restoration, which would disturb soils and potentially expose them to erosion or topsoil loss. 
Mitigation Measure GEO-1 would ensure topsoil materials excavated during construction are 
reused and maintained onsite to the extent feasible, and that all topsoil stockpiles are wetted, 
thereby minimizing topsoil loss. The storage tanks would range in size from 3,421 to 18,627 
square feet in size. One acre of disturbance is 43,560 square feet, and thus with ancillary 
construction space, construction could result in disturbance of one acre of ground surface. As 
described in Section 3.8, Hydrology and Water Quality, a Local Stormwater Pollution Prevention 
Plan (LSWPPP) that includes year-round erosion and sediment control Best Management 
Practices (BMPs) would be implemented for all construction activities disturbing more than one 
acre per County requirements. All construction activities regardless of disturbance size must 
implement a Wet Weather Erosion Control Plan (WWECP) that would include temporary erosion 
and sediment control BMPs for the rainy season when erosion and sediment loss potential tends 
to be highest. To further prevent erosion and topsoil loss, Mitigation Measure HYD-1 requires 
preservation of existing vegetation to the maximum extent possible as well as compaction of any 
unvegetated areas post-construction (See Section 3.8, Hydrology and Water Quality). Operation 
of storage tanks would not result in any soil disturbance. Therefore, impacts related erosion and 
topsoil loss during storage tank construction and operation would be less than significant with 
implementation of mitigation. 

Pumps at Existing Pump Stations (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of near-term and 
long-term pumps at existing pump stations would require minimal construction activities for 
pump and motor installation. Near-term and long-term pumps installed at existing pump stations 
would be installed within the existing pump station footprint and would not substantially disturb 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 52 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

topsoil. However, according to County requirements, any grading or earth disturbing construction 
activity must include a WWECP that provides temporary erosion and sediment control measures 
during the rainy season. Impacts during construction and operation would be less than significant.  

New Pump Stations (Long-Term). Construction of six new long-term pump stations as part of the 
WSMP would involve installation of piping and electrical equipment, excavation and structural 
foundation installation, pump house construction, pump and motor installation, and final site 
restoration. These construction activities would expose soil and thus potentially result in erosion 
and/or topsoil loss. Including laydown areas, the construction of new pump stations could 
potentially result in one acre of ground disturbance. A LSWPPP that includes year-round erosion 
and sediment control BMPs would be implemented for all construction activities disturbing more 
than an acre per County requirements. Preparation of a WWECP detailing erosion and sediment 
control BMPs for the rainy season is required by the County regardless of the construction 
disturbance size. Further, Mitigation Measure GEO-1 would ensure all excavated topsoil 
remains onsite and all stockpiled topsoil is wetted to avoid loss by wind erosion. Mitigation 
Measure HYD-1 requires stabilization of soil prior to operation by the preservation of existing 
vegetation and/or compaction of unvegetated areas. Therefore, new pump stations would result in 
less than significant impacts related to erosion and topsoil loss during construction and operation 
with implementation of mitigation measures. 

Pipelines (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of potable or recycled water pipelines 
would involve trenching using a conventional cut and cover technique, jack-and-bore or 
directional drilling techniques where necessary to avoid sensitive land features or roadway 
intersections. Dewatering may be required depending on the location. Over 700,000 feet of 
pipeline is as part of the project; various lengths of pipeline would be constructed at different time 
periods. In accordance with County requirements, pipeline construction activities that would 
disturb more than one acre require implementation of a LSWPPP that includes year-round erosion 
and sediment control BMPs. All construction activities regardless of disturbance size would 
implement a WWECP that includes temporary erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy 
season. Mitigation Measure GEO-1 would ensure all excavated topsoil regardless of the 
construction footprint size is backfilled onsite to the maximum extent practicable, and all 
stockpiled topsoil is wetted to avoid loss by wind erosion. Mitigation Measure HYD-1 requires 
compaction of unvegetated areas post-construction to stabilize soils prior to operation. Pipeline 
operation would not disturb any soils. Therefore, construction and operation of near-term and 
long-term pipelines would have less than significant impacts related to erosion and topsoil loss 
following implementation of mitigation. 

Wells (Long-Term). Construction of wells would include site preparation, mobilization of 
equipment to the well site, well drilling, water quality testing, installation of the well casing, 
gravel packing and finishing with a cement seal. Although wells would be relatively small 
facilities, their construction disturbance footprint could amount to one acre or more. In 
accordance with County requirements, pipeline construction activities that would disturb more 
than one acre would require implementation of a LSWPPP that includes year-round erosion and 
sediment control BMPs. A WWECP including temporary erosion and sediment control BMPs for 
the rainy season is required for all construction activities. Mitigation Measure GEO-1 would 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 53 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

ensure all excavated topsoil remains onsite and all stockpiled topsoil is wetted to avoid loss by 
wind erosion. Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would ensure stabilization of well site soils by 
implementing post-construction BMPs prior to pipeline operation. Well operation would not 
disturb topsoil. Therefore, well construction and operation would have less than significant 
impacts related to erosion and topsoil loss following implementation of mitigation. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long Term). Construction of the headquarters building expansion 
would involve excavation and structural foundation installation, building construction, 
installation of piping and electrical equipment, and final site restoration. These construction 
activities would expose soil and thus potentially result in erosion and/or topsoil loss. Construction 
of addition to the headquarters building would be 21,000 square feet, which would not trigger the 
one acre (43,560 square feet) threshold for a LSWPPP. However, preparation of a WWECP 
detailing erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy season is required by the County 
regardless of the construction disturbance size. Further, Mitigation Measure GEO-1 would 
ensure all excavated topsoil remains onsite and all stockpiled topsoil is wetted to avoid loss by 
wind erosion. Therefore, the expanded headquarters building would result in less than significant 
impacts related to erosion and topsoil loss during construction and operation with implementation 
of mitigation measures. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.6-2 to a less than significant level: 

GEO-1:  Topsoil Preservation. All topsoil stripped from the ground surface during construction 
shall be used, to the extent feasible, for construction of other project elements and not 
hauled offsite. The upper six inches of topsoil shall be used as final cover to help re-
establish vegetation post-construction as applicable. Any temporary stockpiles shall be 
managed through the use of best management practices, which shall include but not be 
limited to wetting and/or covering stockpiles to prevent wind erosion. 

Implement Mitigation Measure HYD-1 

Soil Erosion or Topsoil Loss 

Impact 3.6-3: Unstable geologic units or soil have the potential to be significantly impacted by 
implementation of WSMP facilities, which could result in landslides, subsidence, liquefaction, or 
collapse. A mitigation measure requiring a geotechnical investigation for WSMP facility sites 
would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to geologic units or soil to less 
than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term). None of the near-term storage tanks would be located within a 
landslide hazard zone; however, two of the near-term storage tanks (FS-01 and ES-03) would be 
located within a liquefaction hazard zone (see Figure 3.6-1). Mitigation Measure GEO-2 
requires preparation of a geotechnical report that addresses site-specific potential for liquefaction-
associated settlement and lateral spreading in accordance with applicable County or City 
regulations. Structural mitigation and/or ground modification as recommended by the report 
would be implemented into storage tank design to avoid or lessen impacts related to liquefaction 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 54 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

and collapse. Although the near-term storage tank locations have not yet been mapped for 
subsidence risk by State or federal agencies, all desert soils have the potential to collapse. 
Therefore, the near-term storage tanks could experience subsidence. Mitigation Measure GEO-2 
also requires geotechnical reports for all facilities to analyze potential subsidence risk and 
recommend mitigation to avoid associated impacts to storage tanks. With implementation of 
mitigation measures, impacts associated with geologic instability would be less than significant 
for near-term storage tanks. 

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). Four of the long-term storage tanks (FS-06, FS-07, FS-16 and FS-
10) would be located in an area mapped as having potential landslide risk (see Figure 3.6-1). In 
accordance with Mitigation Measure GEO-2, a geotechnical analysis assessing slope stability 
and providing appropriate measures to mitigate landslide risk would be prepared for these storage 
tanks in accordance with applicable local regulations. One of the long-term storage tanks (ES-02) 
would be located in an area at risk for liquefaction. Per Mitigation Measure GEO-2, this storage 
tanks’ geotechnical report would address the potential for liquefaction in accordance with 
applicable local regulations pertaining to geotechnical reports. Long-term storage tanks FS-04, 
FB-12, FS-13 and FS-15 are in an areas mapped as having low to moderate risk of subsidence. 
Although the locations of the remaining long-term storage tanks have not been mapped, all desert 
soils are capable of collapse. Mitigation Measure GEO-2 also requires geotechnical reports to 
be prepared for all facilities that analyze potential subsidence and collapse risk on a site-specific 
basis and recommend appropriate mitigation to avoid associated impacts to storage tanks. With 
implementation of mitigation measures, impacts associated with geologic instability would be 
less than significant for long-term storage tanks. 

Pumps (Long-Term). None of the long-term pumps to be installed at existing pump stations 
would be located in a landslide or liquefaction hazard area. One of the new long-term pump 
stations (FB-10) would be within a landslide hazard area, and one of the new long-term pump 
stations (FB-04) would be located within a liquefaction hazard area. However, Mitigation 
Measure GEO-2 would require preparation of a geotechnical report that would assess and 
recommend mitigation for potential risks associated with landslide or liquefaction for these long-
term pump stations (respectively) in accordance with applicable regulations; mitigation would be 
incorporated into long-term pump station design to avoid impacts associated with landslide or 
liquefaction. Also in accordance with Mitigation GEO-2, all new long-term pump stations would 
be analyzed for potential subsidence, recommended mitigation would be incorporated into long-
term pump station design to increase structural resiliency in the event of a subsidence event. With 
implementation of mitigation, geologic instability impacts would be less than significant for long-
term pump stations. 

Pipelines (Near-Term and Long-Term). Sections of both near-term and long-term pipelines would 
be located within landslide and liquefaction hazard areas. However, pipelines would be designed 
in accordance with ALA Seismic Guidelines for Water Pipelines, which assess the potential for 
landslide and liquefaction and provide design recommendations for pipelines based on these 
risks, thereby increasing the pipelines’ structural resiliency in the event of a seismic event 
including landslide and liquefaction. The pipelines also have the ability to be damaged by 
subsidence. However, in accordance with Mitigation Measure GEO-2, the geotechnical report 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 55 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

for all pipelines would also contain a subsidence and assessment and mitigation would be applied 
to pipeline design as recommended by the report to avoid or reduce associated impacts. With 
implementation of mitigation, geologic instability impacts would be less than significant for near-
term and long-term pipelines. 

Wells (Long-Term). The wells would not be located in a landslide or liquefaction hazard area, but 
could have the ability to be damaged by subsidence. However, in accordance with Mitigation 
Measure GEO-2, the geotechnical report for all wells would include a subsidence risk 
assessment that would recommend appropriate mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts 
associated with subsidence, which would be implemented into well design prior to construction. 
With implementation of mitigation, geologic instability impacts would be less than significant for 
long-term wells. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). The headquarters building expansion would not be 
located in a landslide or liquefaction hazard area as shown on Figure 3.6-1. However, the 21,000 
square foot building expansion could have the ability to be damaged by subsidence. In 
accordance with Mitigation Measure GEO-2, the geotechnical report for the headquarters 
expansion would include a subsidence risk assessment that would recommend appropriate 
mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts associated with subsidence, which would be 
implemented into well design prior to construction. With implementation of mitigation, geologic 
instability impacts would be less than significant. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.6-3 to a less than significant level: 

GEO-2:  A geotechnical report shall be prepared by a certified engineer for all facilities 
involving substantial ground disturbance or excavation. The report shall assess 
subsidence, liquefaction, landslide, expansive soil potential and collapsible soil 
potential of each facility site. Structural mitigation recommendations provided in the 
geotechnical report shall be incorporated into the design of the facility prior to 
construction. The contents of the geotechnical report shall vary depending on the 
jurisdiction and risks associated with each facility’s location.  

Expansive Soil 

Impact 3.6-4: Expansive soils could be located in WSMP project areas and have the potential to 
be significantly impacted by implementation of WSMP facilities, which could create substantial 
risks to life or property. A mitigation measure that requires a geotechnical investigation for 
WSMP facility sites would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to expansive 
soils to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with 
Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). The facilities have the ability to be located on 
expansive soils; expansion of soils beneath the storage tank structures, wells and pump stations, 
headquarters building expansion, as well as around pipelines, could damage these structures. 
Although the City of Palmdale 1993 General Plan generally outlined areas of low, medium and 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 56 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

high soil expansion potential within the project area, soil expansiveness could vary on a site-
specific basis. Per Mitigation Measure GEO-2, the geotechnical report prepared for near-term 
and long-term storage facilities would include an analysis of soil type and expansion potential, 
and recommendations from the report would be incorporated into facility design. Impacts related 
to expansive soil would be less than significant. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.6-4 to a less than significant level: 

Implement Mitigation Measure GEO-2 

5.3.6  Hazards 

Airports 

Impact 3.7-5: The proposed project could be located within an airport land use plan or within 
two miles of a public airport, public use airport, or private airstrip, which could result in 
significant safety hazards for people residing or working in the project area. Mitigation measures 
that require PWD to coordinate directly with the County of Los Angeles Airport Land Use 
Commission; prepare an airport construction safety plan before construction; and participate in 
the FAA’s 7460 process would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to less 
than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). The Palmdale Regional Airport is located 1.5 miles 
north of the project area. Construction and operation of several long-term pipelines, short-term 
pipeline FF-01, and the two northern groundwater production wells FW-04 and FW-05 would 
occur within the AIA for the Palmdale Regional Airport. Construction of these pipelines and 
wells could be in close proximity to the Palmdale Regional Airport and have the potential to 
disrupt airport operations. All other facilities would be located outside of the AIA. The presence 
of construction equipment, particularly cranes, could pose temporary safety hazards to aviation 
within the AIA. To prevent potential intrusions to navigable airspaces, Mitigation Measure LU-
1 and Mitigation Measure LU-2 would require that PWD coordinate directly with the County of 
Los Angeles Airport Land Use Commission (ALUC) and prepare an airport construction safety 
plan that would identify best management practices to be used before project construction.  

Further, Mitigation Measure LU-3 would require PWD to notify the airport of construction 
activities in advance and participate in the FAA’s 7460 process to ensure that the construction 
equipment does not pose hazards to aviation. In addition to FAA airspace review, throughout the 
long-term construction of pipelines and wells, ongoing coordination with the airport would be 
required to ensure that construction activities do not disrupt airport operations and that 
appropriate notice is provided to aviators using the airport. Implementation of Mitigation 
Measure LU-1 through Mitigation Measure LU-3 would reduce potential impacts associated 
with airport operations in terms of flight patterns, safety, light, navigation, or communications 
between aircraft and the control tower. As a result, impacts associated with safety hazards for 
people working or residing in the project area would be reduced to less than significant. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 57 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.7-5 to a less than significant level. 

LU-1:  For project facilities occurring within the AIA, PWD shall submit their proposed 
project plans to the Los Angeles County ALUC for review and comment prior to final 
design. 

LU-2:  Prior to conducting construction activities within an AIA, PWD shall prepare an airport 
construction safety plan that would identify best management practices. The plan may 
include construction timeframes and hours, lighting and flagging requirements, air 
traffic control communication requirements, access and egress restrictions, equipment 
staging area requirements, personal safety equipment requirements for construction 
workers, and appropriate notification to aviators. The plan would be reviewed and 
approved by airport staff.  

LU-3:  Prior to final design of the project components within an AIA, PWD shall identify the 
ground elevation associated with construction equipment associated with each project 
component constructed within the AIA and submit their project plans to airport staff for 
review and comment. Working with airport staff, PWD shall submit their design plans 
for airspace analysis (FAA Part 7460 review) to determine whether any of the 
construction equipment would protrude into protected airspace. If such objects are 
identified, the implementing agencies, airport staff, and FAA will identify appropriate 
steps to adjust project plans or include appropriate markings to identify hazards to 
aviators pursuant to FAA Part 7460.  

Emergency Plans 

Impact 3.7-6: The proposed project could impair implementation of or physically interfere with 
an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. A mitigation measure that 
requires PWD to prepare and implement a Traffic Control Plan would be implemented to reduce 
potentially significant impacts to emergency response/evacuation plans to less than significant 
levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Pipelines (Near-Term and Long-Term). The majority of pipelines would be constructed within 
public ROWs. This construction activity, and other anticipated construction activity associated 
with conveyance systems, could potentially block access to roadways and driveways for 
emergency vehicles. The construction-related impacts, although temporary, could potentially 
impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan. However, the implementation of Mitigation Measure HAZ-1 would 
require the preparation of a Traffic Control Plan with comprehensive strategies to reduce 
disruption to emergency access. Therefore, with implementation of mitigation measures, potential 
significant impacts to emergency access would be reduced to less than significant levels. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.7-6 to a less than significant level: 

HAZ-1:  In conjunction with Mitigation Measure TR-1, prior to initiating construction of 
pipelines within roadway rights-of-way, PWD shall prepare and implement a Traffic 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 58 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Control Plan that contains comprehensive strategies for maintaining emergency access. 
Strategies shall include, but are not limited to, maintaining steel trench plates at the 
construction sites to restore access across open trenches and identification of alternate 
routing around construction zones. In addition, police, fire, and other emergency 
service providers shall be notified of the timing, location, and duration of the 
construction activities and the location of detours and lane closures. The PWD shall 
ensure that the Traffic Control Plan and other construction activities are consistent with 
the Los Angeles County Operational Area Emergency Response Plan.  

Wildland Fires 

Impact 3.7-7: The proposed project could expose people or structures to significant risk of loss, 
injury, or death involving wildland fire. A mitigation measure that requires PWD to implement 
fire hazard reduction measures would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to 
less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with 
Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Lands adjacent to all facilities are both urbanized and 
undeveloped desert lands. CAL FIRE designates the project area as a non-very high fire hazard 
severity zone; however, there are moderate, high, and very high fire hazards severity zones within 
the southern portion of the project area. As indicated by Figure 3.6-1, various short-term facilities 
such as storage tank FS-01 and long-term facilities such as pump station FB-11 would be located 
in such areas with high risks of wildland fires. The use of spark-producing construction 
machinery within these fire risk areas could create hazardous fire conditions and expose 
construction workers to wildfire risks. The implementation of Mitigation Measure HAZ-2 
would ensure fire hazard reduction measures are conducted during construction in areas 
designated as very high fire hazard severity zones to reduce the potential for wildfire impacts on 
people or structures to less than significant levels.  

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.7-7 to a less than significant level. 

HAZ-2:  Implement Fire Hazard Reduction Measures. During construction of facilities 
located in areas designated as moderate, high, or very high fire hazard severity zone by 
CAL FIRE, PWD shall require that all staging areas, welding areas, or areas slated for 
development using spark-producing equipment shall be cleared of dried vegetation or 
other material that could ignite. Any construction equipment that includes a spark 
arrestor shall be equipped with a spark arrestor in good working order. During the 
construction of the WSMP facilities, contractors shall require all vehicles and crews to 
have access to functional fire extinguishers at all times. In addition, construction crews 
shall have a spotter during welding activities to look out for potentially dangerous 
situations, including accidental sparks.  



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 59 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

5.3.7 Hydrology 

Water Quality Standards and Waste Discharge Requirements 

Impact 3.8-1: The proposed project could violate water quality standards or waste discharge 
requirements, or otherwise substantially degrade water quality (including groundwater quality). 
Mitigation measures that require post-construction stabilization and implementation of source 
control BMPs would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to less than 
significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of storage tanks would require site 
preparation and clearing, excavation, grading, tank erection and painting, and site restoration; 
these construction activities would expose and disturb soils and require the use of fuels, lubricants 
and other chemicals onsite. Although temporary, introduction of sediment and chemicals to 
stormwater and site runoff could potentially violate water quality standards within or downstream 
of the project area, consequentially degrading water quality. Because the project would involve 
construction on more than one acre, PWD is required to implement a LSWPPP that would include 
year-round BMPs designed to prevent mixing of stormwater with sediment and chemicals during 
storage tank construction. With implementation of erosion control measures, impacts to water 
quality during storage tank construction would be less than significant. Once operational, the 
storage tanks would hold millions of gallons of water to serve various pressure zones throughout 
the project area. Although regular operation of the storage tanks would not pose a threat to water 
quality, the tanks would require periodic maintenance including inspection of storage tank 
structures and potential replacement of non-operational machinery; these activities could impact 
the quality of stormwater runoff on storage tank sites by introducing sediment or chemicals to 
runoff. Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would ensure vegetation is preserved to the maximum 
extent possible, and unvegetated sites would be compacted to stabilize soil following 
construction. Mitigation Measure HYD-2 would require implementation of source control 
BMPs on tank sites during maintenance activities to prevent mixing of stormwater with 
maintenance-related chemicals. With implementation of mitigation, impacts to water quality 
during storage tank operation would be less than significant. 

New Pump Stations (Long-Term). Construction of new long-term pump stations would involve 
installation of piping and electrical equipment, excavation and structural foundation installation, 
pump house construction, pump and motor installation, and final site restoration. These 
construction activities have the potential to degrade water quality by introducing sediment and 
pollutants to receiving waters. Because the project would involve construction on more than one 
acre, a WWECP would be implemented for all construction sites that would include temporary 
erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy season. Therefore, County requirements would 
help reduce potential impacts to water quality during pump station construction. Following 
construction, Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would ensure any onsite vegetation is preserved to the 
maximum extent practicable, and unvegetated sites would be compacted to achieve stabilization. 
Vegetation would help stabilize soil, thereby preventing the introduction of sediment into 
stormwater and trapping sediment and pollutants potentially introduced onsite by maintenance 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 60 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

activities. With implementation of mitigation, water quality impacts from construction and 
operation of new long-term pump stations would be less than significant. 

Pipelines (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of pipelines could introduce sediment and 
chemicals to runoff. Because the project would involve construction on more than one acre, a 
WWECP is required for all construction activities. Although discharging dewatered groundwater 
elsewhere could impact the discharge site’s water quality, all dewatering activities would require 
compliance with the Lahontan Region Water Quality Control Board (LRWQCB) Limited Threat 
Discharges Permit. Compliance includes designation of a discharge disposal site, implementation 
of BMPs to control discharges, and monitoring and reporting to ensure discharges do not 
contribute to an exceedance in water quality objectives in receiving waters. With implementation 
of these measures, water quality impacts from construction of pipelines would be less than 
significant. Following construction, Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would require that disturbed 
area is restored to pre-construction conditions. During operation, pipelines would be belowground 
and are not anticipated to require routine maintenance activities Therefore, pipelines are not 
expected to impact water quality on a regular or periodic basis.  

Wells (Long-Term). Construction of production wells could introduce sediment and chemicals to 
runoff and consequently degrade water quality. Because the project would involve construction 
on more than one acre, a LSWPPP is required by the County that would include year-round 
BMPs to prevent impacts to water quality. Additionally, a WWECP is required for all 
construction activities to implement temporary erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy 
season. Although discharging dewatered groundwater during well construction could impact the 
discharge site’s water quality, well construction activities require compliance with the LRWQCB 
Limited Threat Discharges Permit. Compliance includes designation of a discharge disposal site, 
implementation of BMPs to control discharges, and monitoring and reporting to ensure 
discharges do not contribute to an exceedance in water quality objectives in receiving waters. 
With implementation of mitigation, water quality impacts from construction of pipelines would 
be less than significant. During operation, two of the groundwater production wells to be 
implemented as part of the long-term project components could interact with contamination at 
AFP 42. PWD would be required to coordinate with the U.S. Air Force, SWRCB, and DTSC 
prior to construction of the extraction wells to ensure no contamination interference would occur. 
Based on water quality, extracted groundwater may require blending or treatment to meet 
drinking water standards. In addition, maintenance activities associated with wells could require 
the use of substances that would degrade surface water quality if found in stormwater runoff. 
Mitigation Measure HYD-2 would ensure source control BMPs are implemented during well 
maintenance to prevent introduction of sediment and chemicals to runoff during well operation. 
With implementation of mitigation, water quality impacts from construction of wells would be 
less than significant. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). Construction of the headquarters building expansion 
could have the potential to degrade water quality by introducing sediment and pollutants to 
receiving waters. Because the project would involve construction on more than one acre, a 
LSWPPP would be prepared that would implement year-round BMPs for construction activities. 
Additionally, a WWECP would be implemented for all construction sites that would include 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 61 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

temporary erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy season. Therefore, County 
requirements would help reduce potential impacts to water quality during headquarters 
construction. Following construction, Mitigation Measure HYD-2 would require 
implementation of source control BMPs s during maintenance activities to prevent mixing of 
stormwater with maintenance-related chemicals. With implementation of mitigation, water 
quality impacts from construction and operation of the headquarters building expansion would be 
less than significant. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.8-1 to a less than significant level: 

HYD-1:  Post-Construction Stabilization. The project shall be designed to maintain natural 
drainage paths and landscape features to the maximum extent possible to slow and 
filter runoff and maximize groundwater recharge. Following implementation of project 
facilities, areas of disturbance that do not contain aboveground structures shall be 
restored to pre-construction conditions with regard to vegetation cover. Existing 
vegetation shall be preserved to the maximum extent practicable during construction 
activities. If no vegetation was present prior to construction, the site shall be compacted 
to achieve soil stabilization. To ensure immediate soil stabilization of revegetated 
areas, a soil binder shall be applied following planting of vegetation. 

HYD-2:  Source Control BMPs. PWD shall implement source control BMPs for all activities at 
project sites, including but not limited to accidental spills and leaks, outdoor equipment 
operations, and building and grounds maintenance. Source control BMPs shall be 
designed to prevent chemicals associated with these activities from coming into contact 
with stormwater. PWD shall refer to the latest version of the California Stormwater 
Quality Association’s Construction BMP Online Handbook during project operation to 
avoid impacts from spills or leaks of fuel or hazardous materials. Pertinent BMPs 
include but are not limited to WM-4: Spill Prevention and Control and WM-6: 
Hazardous Waste Management. If backup generators with onsite fuel storage will be 
included on pump station sites, PWD shall design a spill prevention and emergency 
response plan to implement in the event of a fuel spill to mitigate potential impacts to 
soil and groundwater. 

Groundwater Supplies and Recharge 

Impact 3.8-2: The proposed project could substantially deplete groundwater supplies or interfere 
substantially with groundwater recharge such that there would be a net deficit in aquifer volume 
or a lowering of the local groundwater table level. Mitigation measures that require future 
coordination with the Antelope Valley Watermaster Engineer would be implemented to reduce 
potentially significant impacts to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less 
Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Groundwater Wells (Long-Term). Operation of the long-term groundwater production wells has 
the potential to affect the groundwater table level and groundwater supplies. The wells would 
directly extract groundwater from the Basin, and their operation could have a localized impact on 
groundwater levels due to temporary pumping depressions. Potential nearby existing wells that 
could be affected by pumping of the wells include EAFB/ Plant 42 near the northern production 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 62 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

wells and wells at the Rock Quarry near the eastern production wells. The location and number of 
other nearby production wells could change over the long-term nature of project implementation 
because PWD would implement the five production wells as a long-term project component. 
Prior to developing the production wells, PWD would be required to obtain a Los Angeles 
County Health permit and submit a well application to the Antelope Valley Watermaster 
Engineer. When PWD chooses to implement the groundwater wells over the long-term portion of 
the project, Mitigation Measure HYD-3 would require coordination with the Antelope Valley 
Watermaster Engineer. Coordination would involve conducting a material harm review of the 
groundwater wells as well as the available groundwater rights. The Antelope Valley Watermaster 
Engineer would ensure operational criteria for the wells do not result in a net deficit in aquifer 
volume or a lowering of the local groundwater table such that the production rate of pre-existing 
nearby wells would drop to a level which would not support existing land uses or planned uses 
for which permits have been granted. Impacts would be less than significant with mitigation. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.8-2 to a less than significant level. 

HYD-3:  Future Coordination with Antelope Valley Watermaster Engineer. For all future 
long-term wells to be implemented under the WSMP, PWD shall coordinate with the 
Watermaster to conduct a material harm review of the proposed groundwater wells as 
well as the available groundwater rights. PWD shall work with the Watermaster to 
ensure that well operation would not interfere substantially with groundwater recharge 
such that there would be a net deficit in aquifer volume or a lowering of the local 
groundwater table level such that the production rate of pre-existing nearby wells 
would drop to a level which would not support existing land uses or planned uses for 
which permits have been granted.  

Drainage Patterns 

Impact 3.8-3: The proposed project could alter the existing drainage pattern of a site or area, 
including the alteration of the course of a stream or river, in a manner that would result in 
substantial erosion, siltation, or flooding on-or off-site. Mitigation measures that require post-
construction vegetation stabilization would be implemented to reduce potentially significant 
impacts to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with 
Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of storage tanks would require grading, 
which would alter the topography and drainage patterns of the storage tank locations. Mitigation 
Measure HYD-1 would ensure implementation of erosion and sediment control BMPs are 
implemented during construction, thereby preventing erosion and siltation from occurring. With 
implementation of mitigation, erosion, sedimentation and flooding impacts related to construction 
of storage tanks would be less than significant. Once operational, the tanks would reduce the 
impervious surfaces, thereby decreasing infiltration and potentially increasing runoff that could 
result in erosion, siltation and/or flooding. Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would require 
preservation of existing vegetation to the maximum extent practicable, and post-construction 
stabilization either by replanting any lost vegetation or compacting the soil, thereby reducing the 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 63 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

potential for erosion and siltation during storage tank operation. Therefore, storage tank 
construction and operation would not result in significant impacts related to erosion, siltation or 
flooding caused by drainage pattern alteration.  

New Pump Stations (Long-Term). Although pump station construction would not require grading, 
other construction activities that would alter the ground surface, such as foundation installation, 
would alter the drainage pattern of the pump sites. Because the project would involve 
construction on more than one acre, a LSWPPP is required by the County that would include 
year-round BMPs to prevent erosion and sedimentation from occurring. A WWECP is also 
required for all construction activities regardless of their disturbance footprint size to implement 
temporary erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy season. Although impervious, the 
pump station area is not large enough to dramatically reduce area’s pervious surfaces and its 
overall ability to absorb surface flows, and would not contribute to flooding. With 
implementation of mitigation, erosion, sedimentation and flooding impacts related to construction 
of long-term pump stations would be less than significant. Following construction, vegetation 
preserved during construction and/or soil compaction required per Mitigation Measure HYD-1 
would stabilize soil. Although long-term pump station FB-04 would be located within the Lake 
Palmdale Dam inundation area and could thus be subject to flooding, drainage pattern alteration 
resulting from pump station construction and operation is expected to be minor and would not 
worsen the site’s existing flood risk. Therefore, neither pump station construction nor operation 
would result in significant impacts related to erosion, siltation or flooding caused by drainage 
pattern alteration. With implementation of mitigation, erosion, sedimentation and flooding 
impacts related to operation of long-term pump stations would be less than significant. 

Pipelines (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction activities associated with pipelines such as 
trenching would disturb the ground surface and alter its drainage pattern. Because the project 
would involve construction on more than one acre, a LSWPPP is required by the County that 
would include year-round BMPs to prevent erosion and sedimentation from occurring. A 
WWECP is also required for all construction activities regardless of their disturbance footprint 
size to implement temporary erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy season. 
Dewatering for pipeline construction could also result in erosion, siltation or flooding if 
dewatered flows are not properly controlled; however, the Limited Threat Discharges Permit 
requires prior designation of a discharge site, along with BMPs to control discharge flows. With 
implementation of mitigation, erosion, sedimentation and flooding impacts related to construction 
of near-term and long-term pipelines would be less than significant. Following construction, 
Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would ensure preservation of existing vegetation to the maximum 
extent practicable and compacting of unvegetated areas to stabilize soil. Once operational, the 
pipelines would operate belowground and disturbed surface areas would be restored to pre-
construction conditions. There would be no decrease in pervious surfaces that could generate 
excessive flood flows. Some long-term pipelines would be located within the Lake Palmdale Dam 
inundation area or a 100-year flood zone; however, pipelines would be located belowground and 
would thus not worsen existing flood risks. Erosion, sedimentation and flooding impacts related 
to operation of near-term and long-term pipelines would be less than significant. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 64 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Wells (Long-Term). Well construction activities such as well drilling and finishing would disturb 
the ground surface and alter its drainage pattern. Because the project would involve construction 
on more than one acre, a LSWPPP is required by the County that would include year-round 
BMPs to prevent erosion and sedimentation from occurring. A WWECP would also be required 
for all construction activities regardless of their disturbance footprint size to implement temporary 
erosion and sediment control BMPs for the rainy season. Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would 
ensure preservation of existing vegetation to the maximum extent practicable and compacting of 
unvegetated areas to stabilize soil. Well construction could also result in erosion, siltation or 
flooding if dewatered flows are not properly controlled; however, compliance with the Limited 
Threat Discharges Permit requires prior designation of a discharge site and implementation of 
BMPs to control discharge flows. Although impervious, the aboveground well structures would 
not be of a substantial size to decrease pervious surfaces such that excessive flood flows are 
generated. With implementation of mitigation, erosion, sedimentation and flooding impacts 
related to construction and operation of long-term wells would be less than significant. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). Construction of the PWD headquarters expansion would 
require grading, which would alter the topography and drainage patterns of the existing PWD 
headquarters site. Mitigation Measure HYD-1 would ensure implementation of erosion and 
sediment control BMPs are implemented during construction, thereby preventing erosion and 
siltation from occurring. With implementation of mitigation, erosion, sedimentation and flooding 
impacts related to construction of the headquarters building would be less than significant. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.8-3 to a less than significant level: 

Implement Mitigation Measure HYD-1 

Drainage Patterns 

Impact 3.8-7: The proposed project could expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, 
injury or death involving inundation by tsunami, seiche, or mudflow. Mitigation measures that 
require post-construction vegetation stabilization would be implemented to reduce potentially 
significant impacts to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than 
Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near Term and Long Term). The project area is not located within the vicinity of 
an ocean and is thus not at risk for experiencing tsunamis. The chance of nearby Lake Palmdale 
generating a seiche is unlikely according to design reports, and the wave volume above the dam 
would not be substantial as to cause damaging floods. The California Aqueduct is located within 
the project area, and could be subject to a seiche; however, relatively few seiches have occurred 
in aqueduct channels. The project area has the potential to experience mudflow. Therefore, all 
project structures except pipelines (storage tanks, pumps, pump stations, wells, and the 
headquarters expansion) could be damaged by mudflows since they would be located 
aboveground. However, in accordance with Mitigation Measure HYD-1, impacts to existing 
vegetation would be minimized and the majority of lost vegetation would be replanted. Therefore, 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 65 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

the project would not alter the project sites’ existing topography based on pre-construction 
conditions that would increase the area’s potential to experience mudflow. Further, the project 
sites would only be periodically occupied (either temporarily for construction or periodically for 
maintenance) and would thus not introduce persons to a permanent risk of safety threats from 
mudflow. Therefore, impacts related to tsunami, seiche and mudflow would be less than 
significant. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement Mitigation Measure HYD-1 that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.8-7 to a less than significant level. 

5.3.8 Land Use and Recreation 

Conflict with Applicable Plans, Policies, or Regulations 

Impact 3.9-2: The project could conflict with an applicable land use plan, policy, or regulation 
adopted for the purposed of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect. Mitigation measures 
that require PWD to coordinate directly with the County of Los Angeles Airport Land Use 
Commission; prepare an airport construction safety plan before construction; and participate in 
the FAA’s 7460 process would be implemented to reduce potentially significant impacts to less 
than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction and operation of several long-term 
pipelines, one short-term pipeline FF-01 and the two northern groundwater production wells 
would occur within the AIA for the Palmdale Regional Airport. All other facilities would be 
located outside of the AIA. Construction of the pipelines within the AIA have the potential to 
disrupt airport operations. The presence of construction equipment, particularly cranes, could 
pose temporary hazards to aviation within the AIA. To prevent potential intrusions to navigable 
airspaces, Mitigation Measure LU-1 and Mitigation Measure LU-2 would require that PWD 
coordinate directly with the County of Los Angeles ALUC and prepare an airport construction 
safety plan that would identify best management practices to be used before project construction. 

Further, Mitigation Measure LU-3 would require PWD to notify the airport of construction 
activities in advance and participate in the FAA’s 7460 process to ensure that the construction 
equipment does not pose hazards to aviation. In addition to FAA airspace review, throughout the 
long-term construction of pipelines, ongoing coordination with the airport would be required to 
ensure that construction activities do not disrupt airport operations and that appropriate notice is 
provided to aviators using the airport. Implementation of Mitigation Measure LU-1 through 
Mitigation Measure LU-3 would reduce potential conflicts with the Palmdale Regional Airport 
Land Use Plan; impacts would be considered less than significant.  

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.9-2 to a less than significant level: 

Implement Mitigation Measure LU-1 

Implement Mitigation Measure LU-2 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 66 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Implement Mitigation Measure LU-3 

Recreational Facilities Physical Effect on Environment 

Impact 3.9-5: The proposed project could include recreational facilities or require the 
construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical impact 
on the environment. Mitigation measures that require PWD to coordinate with the City of 
Palmdale, Recreation and Culture Department would be implemented to reduce potentially 
significant impacts to recreational activities and bikeways to less than significant levels. 
Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Various long-term pipelines would be implemented 
within the Barrel Springs Trail and Equestrian Arena area. Additionally, some facilities such as 
storage tank ES-03 and the short term pipeline along Sierra Highway, would be implemented 
within areas designated as open space. According to the City of Palmdale General Plan, land 
designated as open space is considered to be a recreational land use. Depending on the area 
required for the facility, an individual project could result in the removal of a portion of open 
space that could be used for recreational activities. Mitigation Measure REC-1 would require 
PWD to coordinate with the appropriate jurisdiction to identify ways to minimize impacts of the 
project on open space, which would reduce impacts to open space land uses to a less than 
significant level. Further, multiple long term pipelines would be constructed within roadway 
ROW that contain or are located near designated Class I, II, and III bike paths. The placement of 
these pipelines in the roadways would temporarily disrupt cyclists utilizing these paths. However, 
implementation of Mitigation Measure REC-2 would ensure that potential impacts associated 
with temporary disruptions to bikeways would be mitigated to less than significant levels.  

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.9-5 to a less than significant level: 

REC-1:  For projects that would construct new facilities on public lands designated as open 
spaces, PWD shall coordinate with the City of Palmdale, Recreation and Culture 
Department identify ways to minimize impacts of project construction and operation on 
recreational activities. Measures may include but are not limited to: 

Project Construction 

 Posting of signage indicating dates during which use of recreational areas would be 
restricted due to construction 

 Placement of fencing to isolate construction areas and allow continued use of other 
areas of recreational parks and facilities 

 Timing of construction activities to avoid peak recreational seasons 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 67 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Project Operation 

 Use of vegetation to screen proposed facilities from view of adjacent recreational 
land uses 

 Security fencing to enclose new PWD facilities, as necessary 

REC-2:  For projects that would construct pipelines or other new facilities within designated 
bikeways, PWD shall coordinate with the applicable jurisdiction to determine whether 
circulation and detour plans are required to minimize impacts to access to local 
bikeways. Circulation and detour plans may include the use of signage and flagging of 
cyclists through and/or around the construction zone. 

5.3.9  Noise 

Exceedance of Established Noise Standards 

Impact 3.10-1: The project could expose people to or generate noise levels in excess of standards 
established in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other 
agencies. PWD would require construction contractors to implement noise measures that would 
reduce potentially significant impacts to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would 
be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks, Pump Stations, and Pipelines (Near-Term). Noise during construction of the 
storage tanks, pump stations, and pipeline facilities could exceed the County maximum 
permissible sound levels. Pipeline construction however would be short-term in duration and 
would expose sensitive receptors to temporary increases in noise levels because the construction 
activities would move along the pipeline route (i.e., roadways) as the pipeline is installed. 
Furthermore, construction activities that occur between 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday through 
Saturday, would be exempt from the Los Angeles County Code noise thresholds.  However, if 
construction activities within 4,500 feet of a sensitive receptor were to occur outside of these 
times and days, sensitive receptors could be exposed to increased noise levels in excess of the 
Municipal Code, which could result in a significant impact. However, implementation of 
Mitigation Measure NOISE-1 and NOISE-2 would impose measures to reduce construction 
noise activities adjacent to sensitive receptors, and excessive noise impacts to sensitive receptors 
would be reduced to less than significant. 

Storage Tanks, Pump Stations, Pipelines, Wells, and Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). 
Noise during construction of the all long-term facilities could exceed the City or County 
maximum permissible sound levels. Pipeline construction however would be short-term in 
duration and would expose sensitive receptors to temporary increases in noise levels because the 
construction activities would move as the pipeline is installed. Furthermore, construction 
activities that occur between 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday, would be exempt 
from the Los Angeles County Code and City of Palmdale Municipal Code noise thresholds.  
However, if construction activities within 4,500 feet of a sensitive receptor in the County or 800 
feet of a sensitive receptor in the City were to occur outside of these times and days, sensitive 
receptors could be exposed to increased noise levels in excess of the County or Municipal Code, 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 68 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

which could result in a significant impact. However, implementation of Mitigation Measure 
NOISE-1 and NOISE-2 would impose measures to reduce construction noise activities adjacent 
to sensitive receptors, and excessive noise impacts to sensitive receptors would be reduced to less 
than significant.  

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.10-1 to a less than significant level: 

NOISE-1:  PWD shall require the construction contractors to implement the following measures, 
as applicable, during construction of the proposed facilities: 

 Construction activities shall meet municipal or County code requirements 
related to noise. Construction activities shall be limited to between 7:00 a.m. 
and 7:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday to avoid noise-sensitive hours of the 
day. Construction activities shall be prohibited on Sundays and holidays.  

 Prior to nighttime construction activities that would generate noise in excess of 
noise standards, the construction contractor shall secure a noise waiver from the 
relevant jurisdiction (City or County) and comply with any terms and conditions 
of the waiver. 

 Sensitive receptors (residences, residential areas, schools, and hospitals) within 
800 feet (in the City) and 4,500 feet (in the County) of project construction 
activities shall be identified and mapped. 

 Construction equipment noise shall be minimized by muffling and shielding 
intakes and exhaust on construction equipment (per the manufacturer’s 
specifications) and by shrouding or shielding impact tools. 

 Construction contractors shall locate fixed construction equipment (such as 
compressors and generators) and construction staging areas as far as possible 
from nearby sensitive receptors including residences, schools, and hospitals. 

 Where feasible, construct barriers between noise sources and noise-sensitive 
land uses to block sound transmission. Enclose construction equipment where 
practicable. 

 If construction were to occur near a school, the construction contractor shall 
coordinate the most noise producing construction activities with school 
administration in order to limit disturbance to the campus.  

NOISE-2:  PWD shall require the construction contractor to notify in writing all landowners and 
occupants of properties within 500 feet of the construction area of the construction 
schedule at least two weeks prior to groundbreaking. The construction contractor 
shall designate a Noise Complaint Coordinator who will be responsible for 
responding to complaints regarding construction noise. The Coordinator shall ensure 
that reasonable measures are implemented to correct any problems. A contact 
telephone number for the Coordinator shall be conspicuously posted at the 
construction site and included in the written notification of the construction schedule 
sent to surrounding properties. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 69 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Exposure to Vibration Levels 

Impact 3.10-2: The proposed project could expose people and structures to ground-borne 
vibration or ground-borne noise levels. PWD would require construction contractors to 
implement noise measures that would reduce potentially significant impacts associated with 
vibration levels to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than 
Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of the project would employ 
conventional activities and the equipment/techniques to be used would not cause excessive 
ground-borne vibration; however, drilling could be required during pipeline installation. The 
facilities could get as close as 43 feet from sensitive receptors before exceeding the annoyance 
threshold of 80 RMS and 15 feet from a structure to be below the potential structural damage 
threshold of 0.2 in/sec PPV. However, if construction activities within 43 feet of a sensitive 
receptor were to occur, sensitive receptors could be exposed to ground-borne vibration or ground-
borne noise in excess of FTA standards. This would be a significant impact.  However, 
implementation of Mitigation Measure NOISE-3 would reduce ground-borne vibration and 
noise levels when construction activities occur adjacent to sensitive receptors and would result in 
less than significant impacts to sensitive receptors. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.10-2 to a less than significant level: 

NOISE-3:  PWD shall require the construction contractor to implement the following measures, 
as applicable, during construction of proposed facilities:  

 Sensitive receptors (residences, residential areas, schools, and hospitals) within 
50 feet of project construction activities shall be identified and mapped. 

 Limit jack and bore drilling to at least 43 feet from sensitive receptors and 15 feet 
from any structures.  

 If jack and bore drilling must occur within 15 feet of any structure, the 
construction contractor shall conduct crack surveys before drilling to prevent 
potential architectural damage to nearby structures. The surveys shall be done by 
photographs, video tape, or visual inventory, and shall include inside as well as 
outside locations.  All existing cracks in walls, floors, and driveways shall be 
documented with sufficient detail for comparison after construction to determine 
whether actual vibration damage occurred.  A post-construction survey shall be 
conducted to document the condition of the surrounding buildings after the 
construction is complete.   

Permanent Increase in Ambient Noise Levels 

Impact 3.10-3: The proposed project could result in a permanent increase in ambient noise levels 
in the project vicinity above levels existing without the project. Mitigation that requires PWD to 
conduct post-construction noise measurements would reduce potentially significant impacts 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 70 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

associated with vibration levels to less than significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be 
Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Project operations that would generate noise include 
maintenance vehicle trips and the operation of certain mechanical equipment such as stationary 
pumps, wells, and generators. Pump stations and groundwater wells would include hydraulic 
pumps that would have the potential to produce increased ambient noise levels in the vicinity; 
however, they would be housed within structural buildings to minimize operational noise 
increases. Once constructed, the headquarters facility expansion would produce minimal noise 
associated with normal operation of a business. All near-term and long-term facilities would be 
designed in accordance with noise ordinances of the City or County, whichever the facility site is 
located within, to ensure that noise thresholds at the property boundary do not exceed day and 
nighttime limitations for neighboring land uses. Implementation of Mitigation Measure NOISE-
4 would ensure that operations of new facilities are in compliance with local noise ordinances. As 
a result, the facilities would not generate permanent increase ambient noise levels in the project 
vicinity, and impacts would be less than significant. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.10-3 to a less than significant level: 

NOISE-4:  PWD shall conduct post-construction noise measurements to ensure that operation of 
new equipment is in compliance with local noise ordinances at the property 
boundary. If operational noise exceeds local thresholds, then PWD shall implement 
further noise-reducing measures, such as enclosing noise generating-equipment, until 
facilities are in compliance with local ordinances. 

5.3.10  Traffic 

Traffic Increase 

Impact 3.12-1: The proposed project could conflict with an applicable plan, ordinance or policy 
establishing measure of effectiveness for the performance of the circulation system, taking into 
account all modes of transportation including mass transit and non-motorized travel and relevant 
components of the circulation system, including but not limited to intersections, streets, highways 
and freeways, pedestrian and bicycle paths, and mass transit. Mitigation that requires PWD to 
require the construction contractor to prepare and implement a Traffic Control/Traffic 
Management Plan would reduce potentially significant impacts to less than significant levels. 
Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Pump Stations, Storage Tanks, Wells and Headquarters Expansion (Near-Term and Long-Term). 
Construction of all pump stations, storage tanks, wells, and the PWD headquarters expansion 
would generate vehicle trips associated with both construction worker commutes and material and 
equipment hauling. These increases in trips per day on local and regional roadways could affect 
roadway capacity and circulation. Mitigation Measure TR-1 would require implementation of a 
Traffic Control/Management Plan that would perform traffic counts to understand existing traffic 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 71 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

conditions on roadways near project facilities at the time they are constructed. Using these traffic 
counts, the Plan would recommend various mitigation measures, including minimizing deliveries 
during the A.M. and P.M. peak travel hours, as well as alternative haul routes to avoid traffic 
disruption to minimize disturbance on traffic flow. All activities encroaching onto State ROW would comply with the Caltrans Project Development Procedures Manual. Therefore, impacts associated with construction of near-term and long-term facilities would be less than significant. 
Operation of the pump stations, storage tanks, and wells, would not require daily staffing and 
only periodic maintenance. Therefore, operation of these facilities would not generate a 
noticeable number of vehicular trips that would affect traffic volume or circulation on local or 
regional roadways. The headquarters expansion may involve a minimal increase in staff to 
accommodate future facilities to be constructed as part of the WSMP. Impacts to the existing 
circulation system associated with operation of the facilities would be less than significant. 

Pipelines (Near-Term and Long-Term). Construction of pipelines could impede traffic flow 
because a large portion of the pipelines would be installed within ROW and could temporarily 
require partial or complete road closures. However, the Traffic Control/Management Plan 
required by Mitigation Measure TR-1 would appropriately delineate work areas, and provide 
traffic control, flagging, and signage. Communication with residents and nearby school facilities 
as required by the Plan would help ensure potential traffic-related impacts are reduced. As a 
result, impacts would be less than significant.  

None of the short-term pipelines are to be constructed in intersections operating at LOS E or F. 
There are numerous intersections in the project area operating at LOS D, which is an acceptable 
level of service for short durations of peak hours. There are also several intersections operating at 
LOS E in the project area. While construction of near-term and long-term pipelines within these 
LOS E intersections could impact traffic patterns, the short-term nature of the construction 
activity would not result in a negative change from LOS E to LOS F. With implementation of 
Mitigation Measure TR-1, impacts would be reduced to a less than significant level for 
construction of near-term and long-term pipelines. All activities encroaching onto State ROW would comply with the Caltrans Project Development Procedures Manual. Therefore, impacts associated with construction of near-term and long-term pipelines would be less than significant. 
Operation of the pipelines would only require periodic maintenance. Any additional trips added 
by periodic maintenance would be negligible compared to overall traffic volumes in the area. 
Impacts to the existing circulation system associated with construction and operation of the near-
term and long-term pipelines would be less than significant.  

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.12-1 to a less than significant level: 

TR-1: PWD shall require the construction contractor to prepare and implement a Traffic 
Control/Traffic Management Plan subject to approval by the City of Palmdale, 
Caltrans, and/or the County of Los Angeles prior to construction. The plan shall 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 72 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

include traffic counts on intersections near the proposed project facilities to determine 
existing traffic conditions. Based on these traffic counts, the Plan shall recommend 
mitigation to avoid impacts to existing traffic conditions. These mitigation measures 
shall include but shall not be limited to: 

 Identification of hours of construction and hours for deliveries, potentially avoiding 
the A.M. and P.M. peak hours to minimize disturbance on traffic flow; 

 Specification of both construction-related vehicle and oversize haul routes; 
alternative routes shall be proposed to avoid traffic disruption;  

 Identification of limits on the length of open trench, work area delineation, traffic 
control, flagging, and signage requirements; 

 Identification of all access and parking restrictions; 

 Maintenance of access and minimize disruption to residence and business 
driveways at all times to the extent feasible;  

 Layout of a plan for notifications and a process for communication with affected 
residents and businesses prior to the start of construction. Advance public 
notification shall include posting of notices and appropriate signage of construction 
activities. The written notification shall include the construction schedule, the exact 
location and duration of activities within each street (i.e., which lanes and access 
point/driveways would be blocked on which days and for how long), and a toll-free 
telephone number for receiving questions or complaints; 

 For construction activities within one-quarter mile of a school facility, inclusion of 
a plan to coordinate all construction activities with the Antelope Valley Union 
High School District and Palmdale School District, at least two months in advance. 
The Antelope Valley Union High School District and the Palmdale School District 
shall be notified of the timing, location, and duration of construction activities. The 
implementing agencies shall require its contractor to maintain vehicle, pedestrian, 
and school bus service during construction through inclusion of such provisions in 
the construction contract;  

 Specification of street restoration requirements pursuant to agreements with the 
local jurisdictions; 

 Development of circulation and detour plans to minimize impact to local street 
circulation, including bikeways. This may include the use of signing and flagging 
to guide vehicles and cyclists through and/or around the construction zone; and 

 Parking at staging areas to limit lane closures in the public right-of-way. 

Emergency Access 

Impact 3.12-5: The proposed project could result in inadequate emergency access. Mitigation 
that requires PWD to require the construction contractor to coordinate all construction activities 
with emergency service providers would reduce potentially significant impacts to less than 
significant levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 73 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long-Term). Fire protection, emergency medical services, and 
police services within the project area are provided by the Los Angeles County Fire Department, 
Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department, and California Highway Patrol (See Section 3.11, 
Public Services in the Draft PEIR for more details). Depending upon the timing, location, and 
duration of construction activities, construction of the facilities could delay emergency vehicle 
response times or otherwise disrupt delivery of emergency services. However, Mitigation 
Measure TR-2 requires coordination with emergency service providers at least one month prior 
to construction. Adherence to this mitigation measure would reduce any potential impacts 
regarding emergency services to less than significant levels. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measure that will reduce 
potentially significant Impact 3.12-5 to a less than significant level: 

TR-2:  PWD shall require the construction contractor to coordinate all construction activities 
with emergency service providers in the area at least one month in advance. Emergency 
service providers shall be notified of the timing, location, and duration of construction 
activities. All roads shall remain passable to emergency service vehicles at all times. 

Public Transit 

Impact 3.12-6: The proposed project could conflict with adopted policies, plans, or programs 
regarding public transit, bicycle, or pedestrian facilities, or otherwise decrease the performance 
of safety of such facilities. Mitigation that requires PWD to require the construction contractor to 
consult and coordinate with Metrolink and the Antelope Valley Transit Authority; and to consult 
with the City and/or County would reduce potentially significant impacts to less than significant 
levels. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term and Long Term). Operation of the project would have no long-term 
impact on demand for alternative transportation or on alternative transportation facilities (i.e., for 
transit and bicyclists). However, construction of some of the facilities could disrupt the existing 
Antelope Valley Transit Authority (AVTA) bus routes within the project area due to construction 
activities within roadway ROW, which may result in partial lane closures, roadway closures and 
delays. Construction of some of the facilities would also occur adjacent to an existing segment 
Metrolink Antelope Valley Line. Furthermore, construction of the facilities could result in bike 
pathway and sidewalk closures in the project area. However, implementation of Mitigation 
Measure TR-3 would require consultation with Metrolink and AVTA to minimize impacts to 
alternative transportation facilities and service. Further, implementation of Mitigation Measure 
TR-4 would require consultation with local jurisdictions to develop plans to minimize any 
potential impacts to bicycle or pedestrian facilities. Impacts related to public transit, bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities would be less than significant. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.12-6 to a less than significant level: 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 74 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

TR-3: PWD shall require the construction contractor to consult and coordinate with Metrolink 
and the Antelope Valley Transit Authority at least one month prior to construction of 
pipelines within roadways or rights-of way that coincide with bus or train routes, to 
determine whether construction of the proposed project would affect bus stop locations 
or otherwise disrupt public transit routes. A plan shall be developed to relocate bus 
stops or reroute buses to avoid disruption of transit service.  

TR-4: PWD shall require the construction contractor to consult with the City and/or County if 
bicycle or pedestrian facilities would be directly affected by construction activities. 
This consultation shall inform the circulation and detour plans included in the Traffic 
Control/Traffic Management Plan designed to minimize impact to local street 
circulation, including bikeways.  

5.3.11  Tribal Cultural Resources 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

Impact 3.13-1: The Project could result in a substantial adverse change in the significance of a 
tribal cultural resource, defined in Public Resources Code section 21074. Mitigation that 
requires PWD to participate in California Native American Tribe consultation, as required by AB 
52, would reduce potentially significant impacts to tribal cultural resources to a less than 
significant level. Therefore, this impact would be Less Than Significant with Mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

Storage Tanks (Long-Term). A total of 16 storage tanks could be constructed over the project’s 
long-term planning period. The location of the long-term storage tanks can be seen on Figure 2-2 
in the Draft PEIR; however, these locations are subject to change in the future. It is possible that 
the construction of the storage tanks could impact tribal cultural resources. Implementation of 
Mitigation Measure TCR-1 would ensure that Native American consultation occurs to satisfy 
the requirements of AB 52 for implementation of future project components. With 
implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact would be reduced to a less than significant 
level. 

Pumps (Long-Term). The project includes four new pumps at five existing pump stations, as well 
as six new pump stations within the project area. Locations are preliminary in nature and it is 
possible that the construction of the pump stations could impact tribal cultural resources. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measure TCR-1 would ensure that Native American consultation 
occurs to satisfy the requirements of AB 52 for implementation of future project components. 
With implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact would be reduced to a less than 
significant level. 

Pipelines (Long-Term). Construction of long-term pipelines have the potential to impact 
archaeological resources. Any impacts to archaeological resources would be considered 
significant without mitigation. Implementation of Mitigation Measure TCR-1 would ensure that 
Native American consultation occurs to satisfy the requirements of AB 52 for implementation of 
future project components. With implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact would be 
reduced to a less than significant level. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 75 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Wells (Long-Term). The wells would be located in the northern and eastern portion of the PWD 
service area, in an undeveloped area just east of developed land containing a high school and 
residential land uses. Construction of the wells could impact tribal cultural resources. 
Implementation of Mitigation Measure TCR-1 would ensure that Native American consultation 
occurs to satisfy the requirements of AB 52 for implementation of future project components. 
With implementation of this mitigation measure, the impact would be reduced to a less than 
significant level. 

Headquarters Expansion (Long-Term). The headquarters expansion would occur on developed 
land on the existing PWD headquarters parcel. Construction of the headquarters expansion could 
impact tribal cultural resources. Implementation of Mitigation Measure TCR-1 would ensure 
that Native American consultation occurs to satisfy the requirements of AB 52 for 
implementation of future project components. With implementation of this mitigation measure, 
the impact would be reduced to a less than significant level. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures that will 
reduce potentially significant Impact 3.13-1 to a less than significant level: 

TCR-1:  Future AB 52 Consultation: Prior to development of all long-term WSMP 
components, PWD shall provide formal notification to the designated contact of, or a 
tribal representative of, traditionally and culturally affiliated California Native 
American tribes that have requested notice. Formal notification shall be accomplished 
by means of at least one written notification that includes a brief description of the 
proposed project and its location, the PWD contact information, and a notification that 
the California Native American tribe has 30 days from receipt of the letter to request 
consultation. PWD shall begin the consultation process within 30 days of receiving a 
California Native American tribe’s request for consultation. The purpose of the 
consultation shall be to identify sites, features, places, cultural landscapes, sacred 
places, and objects with cultural value to a California Native American tribe that meet 
the definition of tribal cultural resources provided in CEQA Sections 21074(a)(1) or 
21074(a)(2) that could be affected by subsequent phases of the project. In addition, the 
California Native American tribe may request consultation regarding the type of 
environmental review necessary, the significance of tribal cultural resources, the 
significance of the project’s impacts on the tribal cultural resources, and, if necessary, 
project alternatives or the appropriate measures for preservation or mitigation. 

In the event that tribal cultural resources are identified, PWD shall develop mitigation 
measures, including, but not limited to, those recommended in Section 21084.3, 
capable of avoiding or substantially lessening potential significant impacts to a tribal 
cultural resource or alternatives that would avoid significant impacts to a tribal cultural 
resource, in consultation with the California Native American tribe. Consultation shall 
be considered complete when the parties agree to measures to mitigate or avoid a 
significant effect, if a significant effect exists, on a tribal cultural resource, or when a 
party, acting in good faith and after reasonable effort, concludes that mutual agreement 
cannot be reached. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 76 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

5.3.12 Cumulative Impacts 

Cumulative impacts to aesthetics; air quality; biological resources; cultural resources; geology, 
soils, and seismicity; hazards and hazardous materials; hydrology and water quality; land use, 
planning, and recreation; traffic and transportation; and tribal cultural resources would be 
significant but would be reduced to below the level of significance with mitigation measures. 

All other cumulative impacts would have no impact (see section 5.1.1 above), less than 
significant impacts (see section 5.2.1 above), or potentially significant and unavoidable impacts 
(see section 5.4.1 below). 

5.4  Findings Regarding Potentially Significant and 
Unavoidable Impacts 

Temporary Increase in Ambient Noise Levels 

Impact 3.10-4: The project could result in temporary or periodic increases in ambient noise 
levels in the project vicinity above levels existing without the project. Mitigation that requires 
PWD to require construction contractors to comply with municipal or county code requirements 
related to noise; to secure noise waivers for nighttime construction; to identify and map sensitive 
receptors within 800 and 4,500 feet; to muffle, shield, or shroud construction equipment intakes 
and exhaust on construction equipment and impact tools; to locate construction equipment and 
staging areas as far as possible from sensitive receptors; to enclose construction equipment 
where practical; and to communicate with nearby school administrators to limit disturbance 
would be implemented to reduce impacts associated with noise to the greatest extent feasible. 
This impact would remain Significant and Unavoidable with mitigation. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term). During construction of the near-term facilities, temporary or periodic 
increases in ambient noise levels in and around each project site would result from the operation 
of construction equipment. The construction activities for each project facility could expose 
nearby existing land uses to increased noise levels as high as 89 dBA during excavation activities, 
which would result in a substantial ambient noise increase over existing ambient noise levels at 
that existing land use. Since the near-term storage tanks, pump stations, and most near-term 
pipelines would be located in unincorporated areas of Los Angeles County, in order for excavation 
and finishing noise for the near-term facilities to be below the County daytime residential threshold of 
50 dBA, construction would have to occur at an approximate distance of 4,500 feet or greater from 
a sensitive receptor. Several near-term components would be constructed adjacent to (less than 
100 feet from) sensitive residential use receptors, including new pumps at existing pump stations 
EB-01, FB-01, FB-02, and various pipeline segments. Although implementation of Mitigation 
Measure NOISE-1 would reduce construction noise levels associated with the project to the 
maximum extent feasible, under circumstances where facilities or sensitive receptors are located 
immediately adjacent to existing sensitive land uses, particularly for construction of EB-01, FB-
01, FB-02, and various pipeline segments in the near-term, the noise impacts related to a 
substantial temporary or periodic increase in ambient noise levels above levels existing without 
the project could be significant. Therefore, this temporary impact associated with construction of 
near-term project facilities is considered potentially significant and unavoidable.  



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 77 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

All Facilities (Long-Term). During construction of the long-term facilities, temporary or periodic 
increases in ambient noise levels in and around each project site would result from the operation 
of construction equipment. The construction activities for each project facility could expose 
nearby existing land uses to increased noise levels as high as 89 dBA during excavation activities, 
which would result in a substantial ambient noise increase over existing ambient noise levels at 
that existing land use. Long-term facilities would be located both within unincorporated Los 
Angeles County and the City of Palmdale. Based on the noise levels described in Table 3.10-9 
and Table 3.10-10 in the Draft EIR, in order for excavation and finishing noise for the long-term 
facilities to be below the County daytime residential threshold of 50 dBA or City daytime 
residential threshold of 65 dBA, construction would have to occur at an approximate distance of 
4,500 feet or 800 feet, respectively, from a sensitive receptor. Well drilling would have to occur 
at approximately 1,600 feet and 400 feet, respectively, to be below these thresholds. Given the 
preliminary locations of long-term facilities in the WSMP, there is potential for construction to 
occur in proximity to sensitive receptors that are closer than 4,500 feet or 800 feet. Although 
implementation of Mitigation Measure NOISE-1 would reduce construction noise levels 
associated with the project to the maximum extent feasible, under circumstances where facilities 
or sensitive receptors are located immediately adjacent to existing sensitive land uses, the noise 
impacts related to a substantial temporary or periodic increase in ambient noise levels above 
levels existing without the project could be significant. Therefore, this temporary impact 
associated with construction of long-term project facilities is considered potentially significant 
and unavoidable.  

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures, however, 
implementation of WSMP facilities would temporarily have potentially significant and 
unavoidable impacts on ambient noise levels. 

Implement Mitigation Measure NOISE-1 

5.4.1 Cumulative Impacts 

Cumulative Noise Impacts 

Impact 4-10: Concurrent construction of the proposed project and related projects in the 
geographic scope could result in cumulative short-term impacts to noise. 

Facts in Support of the Finding:  

All Facilities (Near-Term). When added to the cumulative scenario, the effects of the proposed 
project would contribute incrementally to the cumulative impacts on noise and vibration because 
WSMP pipelines, storage tanks, pump stations, wells, and the headquarters expansion might be 
constructed simultaneously and within exactly the same streets as some capital improvement 
projects (CIP), such as the City of Palmdale 10-Year Capital Improvement Program. As a result, 
the combined effects of the projects in the geographic scope for noise could be cumulatively 
significant.  

Because daytime construction noise is exempt from maximum noise thresholds identified in local 
noise ordinances, noise associated with daytime construction activities would not violate noise 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 78 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

ordinances. Implementation of Mitigation Measure NOISE-1 and NOISE-2 would restrict 
construction activities to daytime hours, between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m., Monday through 
Saturday, and would require other measures to reduce the effects of construction noise on sensitive 
receptors to less than significant levels. Mitigation Measure NOISE-3 would reduce ground-borne 
vibration and noise levels when construction activities occur adjacent to sensitive receptors and 
would result in less than significant impacts to sensitive receptors. Mitigation Measure NOISE-4 
would ensure that operations of new facilities are in compliance with local noise ordinances. With 
implementation of these mitigation measures (notwithstanding the local noise ordinance 
exemption), the impacts associated with construction of the proposed project would be less than 
significant.  

However, due to the immediate proximity of some WSMP near-term and long-term components 
to sensitive receptors, noise impacts related to a substantial temporary or periodic increase in 
ambient noise levels above existing levels would be a potentially significant and unavoidable 
impact even after implementation of mitigation measures. As a result, when added to the 
cumulative scenario of CIP Project 20, which would be constructed within the same streets and 
potentially simultaneously with the WSMP components, the cumulative impact would be 
cumulatively considerable. Mitigation Measure CUM-1 would require PWD to coordinate 
construction of the WSMP with other agencies in the Antelope Valley to minimize temporary 
impacts to ambient noise levels where projects occur simultaneously and within exactly the same 
streets. Nevertheless, if projects are not able to be reconsidered to avoid the temporary ambient 
impacts, based on CIP requirements and other commitments, the project’s incremental 
contribution to this noise impact would be cumulatively considerable. Even with implementation 
of mitigation measures, impacts would be potentially significant and unavoidable. 

Finding: PWD has adopted and will implement the following mitigation measures, however, 
implementation of WSMP facilities would temporarily have potentially significant and 
unavoidable impacts on cumulative noise levels. 

Implement Mitigation Measures NOISE-1 through NOISE-4  

CUM-1:  PWD shall communicate and coordinate project construction activities with other 
municipalities (e.g., City of Palmdale, County of Los Angeles) and agencies (e.g., 
Caltrans, LA County DPW) in the Antelope Valley. Phasing of project construction 
shall be coordinated to minimize cumulative impacts to noise and vibration and traffic 
and transportation. 

All other cumulative impacts would have no impact (see section 5.1.1 above), less than 
significant impacts (see section 5.2.1 above), or less than significant impacts with mitigation (see 
section 5.3.12 above). 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 79 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

6.0  Findings Regarding Alternatives to the Project 

6.1  CEQA Requirements for Alternatives Analysis 
CEQA Guidelines (§15126.6) set forth the following criteria for alternatives: 

 Identifying Alternatives. The range of alternatives is limited to those that would avoid or 
substantially lessen any of the significant effects of the project, are feasible, and would attain 
most of the basic objectives of the project. Factors that may be considered when addressing 
the feasibility of an alternative include site suitability, availability of infrastructure, general 
plan consistency, other plans or regulatory limitations, jurisdictional boundaries, economic 
viability, and whether the proponent can reasonably acquire, control or otherwise have access 
to the alternative site. An EIR need not consider an alternative whose impact cannot be 
reasonably ascertained and whose implementation is remote and speculative. The specific 
alternative of ‘no project’ shall also be evaluated along with its impact. 

 Range of Alternatives. An EIR need not consider every conceivable alternative, but must 
consider a reasonable range of alternatives that will foster informed decision-making and 
public participation. The “rule of reason” governs the selection and consideration of EIR 
alternatives, requiring that an EIR set forth only those alternatives necessary to permit a 
reasoned choice.  

 Evaluation of Alternatives. EIRs are required to include sufficient information about each 
alternative to allow meaningful evaluation, analysis, and comparison with the project. 
Matrices may be used to display the major characteristics of each alternative and significant 
environmental effects of each alternative to summarize the comparison. If an alternative 
would cause one or more significant effects in addition to those that would be caused by the 
project as proposed, the significant effects of the alternative must be discussed but in less 
detail than the significant effects of the project. 

The alternatives evaluated by PWD in the PEIR are described and their associated environmental 
impacts are summarized below.  

6.2  Alternatives to the Project 

6.2.1  Alternatives Considered in the PEIR 

Based on the “rule of reason” governance in the CEQA Guidelines, an EIR is only required to “set 
forth only those alternatives necessary to permit a reasoned choice” (CEQA Guidelines Section 
15126(f). Additionally, Section 15126.6(e) of the CEQA Guidelines requires that an EIR include 
analysis of a “no project” alternative. As a result, this PEIR considered two Project alternatives: 
the Reduced Project Alternative and the No Project Alternative.  

Alternative 1: Reduced Project Alternative 

Under the Reduced Project Alternative, PWD would only implement the WSMP near-term 
project components which address existing water system deficiencies that critically affect the 
ability of PWD to provide a reliable water supply to its customers. These components are the 
highest priority for PWD and are planned to be constructed prior to 2020. The Reduced Project 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 80 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

Alternative would be implemented by PWD if growth projections in the service area do not 
materialize as planned. Many of the long-term components would be constructed to support 
future growth (i.e. new residential developments), and if this growth does not occur, the need for 
long-term components becomes less necessary. Components in the Reduced Project Alternative 
include Storage Tanks ES-01, FS-01, and ES-03; Pumps EB-01, FB-01, and FB-02 to be 
constructed at existing pump stations; Fire flow pipelines FF-01, FF-04, FF-05, FF-06, and FF-07 
and other age-based pipeline improvements and expansions. The long-term project components 
are not considered to be immediately critical or high priority to PWD, and would not be 
constructed as part of the Reduced Project Alternative. 

Implementation of the Reduced Project Alternative would meet some of the project objectives 
because, fundamentally, this alternative would be implemented only if population growth and 
associated water demand was less than anticipated. The highest-priority components would be 
constructed in order to improve and replace existing PWD water system infrastructure. However, 
without construction of WSMP long-term components, the Reduced Project Alternative would 
not meet the project objective of providing infrastructure to meet future growth within PWD’s 
service area. Therefore, implementation of the Reduced Project Alternative would not holistically 
address PWD’s need for ensuring a reliable water supply capable of meeting increased water 
demand within its service area. 

As described on pages 6-2 through 6-8 of the Draft PEIR, the Reduced Project Alternative results 
in similar resource impacts as the near-term components of the WSMP. However, since the 
Reduced Project Alternative does not include the long-term components of the project, it results 
in fewer environmental impacts to aesthetics, air quality and greenhouse gas emissions, biological 
resources, hazards and hazardous materials, hydrology and water quality, traffic and 
transportation, utilities and energy, and cumulative impacts. The reductions in impacts are based 
in large part on the fewer number of components to be built over a shorter period of time than the 
project. It should be noted that while the Reduced Project Alternative lessens noise impacts, it 
does not eliminate altogether the potentially significant and unavoidable impact conclusion 
reached for the project regarding temporary increases in ambient noise levels during construction. 

Alternative 2: No Project Alternative 

Under the No Project Alternative, PWD would not implement their Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP), which would hinder PWD’s ability to holistically address existing hydraulic 
system deficiencies, replace aging infrastructure, or provide the facilities necessary to meet future 
growth. PWD would continue to use the existing water distribution system to convey water 
throughout its service area. Existing PWD facilities include 21 storage reservoirs, 17 booster 
pump stations, 23 active groundwater wells, 14 pressure reducing stations, and approximately 412 
miles of pipelines (PWD 2016). PWD would continue to maintain existing infrastructure, and 
facilities specifically included in the CIP that are aging, required to meet fire flow requirements 
or address system deficiencies, would be constructed or modified individually on an ad hoc basis. 
While PWD could continue to replace or modify infrastructure as needed, the benefits of a 
comprehensive approach to project implementation under the CIP would not occur under the No 
Project Alternative. Without the holistic approach and associated benefits of CIP project 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 81 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

implementation, PWD could encounter delays in implementing projects related to environmental 
reviews, local approvals, and other factors not envisioned at this time. Under the No Project 
Alternative, PWD’s ability to provide potable water to its customers could be at risk, due to delay 
of individual project implementation and other obstacles.  

Implementation of the No Project Alternative would avoid each of the potentially significant 
impacts of the project but would not provide the benefits of improving and replacing existing 
PWD water system infrastructure, or provide new infrastructure to meet future growth within 
PWD’s service area. Therefore, implementation of the No Project Alternative would not meet any 
of the stated project objectives and would not address PWD’s need for ensuring a reliable water 
supply capable of meeting increased water demand in the Antelope Valley.  

6.2.2  Environmentally Superior Alternative 

Section 15126.6(e) of the CEQA Guidelines requires the lead agency to identify which of the 
alternatives other than the no-project alternative is environmentally superior. The Draft PEIR 
concludes that the Reduced Project Alternative would be the environmentally superior alternative. 

As stated above and in Chapter 6 of the Draft PEIR, the Reduced Project Alternative presents a 
tradeoff between achieving project objectives and impacting the environment. The Reduced 
Project Alternative would meet some of the project objectives by constructing the highest-priority 
components in order to improve and replace existing PWD water system infrastructure. However, 
without construction of long-term components proposed by the WSMP Project, the Reduced 
Project Alternative may not meet the project objective of providing infrastructure to meet future 
growth within PWD’s service area. 

In terms of impacts, the Reduced Project Alternative results in the same resource impacts as the 
near-term components of the WSMP. However, since the Reduced Project Alternative does not 
include the long-term components of the project, it results in fewer environmental impacts to 
aesthetics, air quality and greenhouse gas emissions, biological resources, hazards and hazardous 
materials, hydrology and water quality, traffic and transportation, utilities and energy, and 
cumulative impacts. It should be noted that while the Reduced Project Alternative lessens noise 
impacts, it does not eliminate altogether the potentially significant and unavoidable impact 
conclusion reached for the project regarding temporary increases in ambient noise levels during 
construction.  

7.0  Additional Findings  

7.1  Certification of the PEIR 
In accordance with CEQA, PWD and its Board of Directors have considered the effects of the 
project on the environment, as shown in the Draft PEIR, Final PEIR, and the whole of the 
administrative record, prior to taking any action to approve the project. The Final PEIR was 
released for the required 10-day circulation to Draft PEIR commenting parties on November 15, 
2018, and presented to the Board of Directors on November 26, 2018. The Board of Directors has 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 82 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

reviewed and considered the Draft PEIR and Final PEIR and the information relating to the 
environmental impacts of the project contained in those documents and certifies that the PEIR has 
been prepared and completed in compliance with CEQA.  By adopting these Findings, the Board 
of Directors ratifies and adopts the conclusions of the Final PEIR as set forth in these Findings, 
except where such conclusions are specifically modified by these Findings. The Final EIR and 
these Findings represent the independent judgment and analysis of the Board of Directors. 

7.2  Changes to the Draft PEIR and Need to Recirculate   
In the course of responding to comments received during the public review and comment period 
on the Draft PEIR, certain portions of the Draft PEIR have been modified slightly for further 
clarification.  None of this information has revealed the existence of: (1) a significant new 
environmental impact that would result from the project or an adopted mitigation measure; (2) a 
substantial increase in the severity of an environmental impact; (3) a feasible project alternative 
or mitigation measure not adopted that is considerably different from others analyzed in the Draft 
EIR that would clearly lessen the significant environmental impacts of the project; or (4) 
information that indicates that the public was deprived of a meaningful opportunity to review and 
comment on the Draft PEIR.  

Consequently, PWD finds that the amplifications and clarifications made to the Draft PEIR in the 
Final PEIR do not collectively or individually constitute significant new information within the 
meaning of Public Resources Code Section 21092.1 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15088.5. 
Recirculation of the Draft PEIR or any portion thereof, is therefore not required. 

8.0  Statement of Overriding Considerations 

CEQA requires that a public agency balance the benefits of a project against its unavoidable 
environmental risks in determining whether to approve the project, and authorizes a public 
agency to approve a project with significant and unavoidable environmental impacts if it 
concludes that such impacts are acceptable because they are outweighed by the benefits of the 
project. In making this determination, PWD is guided by CEQA Guidelines Section 15093 which 
provides as follows: 

(a) CEQA requires the decision-making agency to balance, as applicable, the economic, legal, 
social, technological, or other benefits, including region-wide or statewide environmental 
benefits, of a proposed project against its unavoidable environmental risks when determining 
whether to approve the project. If the specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other 
benefits, including region-wide or statewide environmental benefits, of a proposed project 
outweigh the unavoidable adverse environmental effects, the adverse environmental effects 
may be considered “acceptable.” 

(b) When the lead agency approves a project which will result in the occurrence of significant 
effects which are identified in the Final EIR but are not avoided or substantially lessened, the 
agency shall state in writing the specific reasons to support its action based on the Final EIR 
and/or other information in the record. The statement of overriding considerations shall be 
supported by substantial evidence in the record. 



Findings of Fact 

 

PWD Water System Master Plan 83 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

(c) If an agency makes a statement of overriding considerations, the statement should be 
included in the record of the project approval and should be mentioned in the notice of 
determination. This statement does not substitute for, and shall be in addition to, findings 
required pursuant to Section 15091. 

Consistent with these guidelines and the California Public Resources Code section 21081(b), 
PWD has made a good-faith effort to eliminate, minimize, and render less than significant all 
potentially significant adverse impacts that may result from implementation of the project through 
the adoption of feasible mitigation measures. Despite this effort, PWD concludes that the project 
may result in potentially significant and unavoidable impacts to noise during construction of near-
term and long-term Project components. However, after considering the project and the entire 
administrative record and weighing the project’s benefits against its potential environmental 
impacts, PWD concludes that the benefits of the project outweigh its potentially significant and 
unavoidable adverse environmental impacts.  

PWD recognizes the importance of meeting the WSMP’s primary objectives. Namely, PWD 
recognizes the importance of providing cost-effective and fiscally responsible water services that 
meet the water quantity, water quality, system pressure, and reliability requirements of PWD 
customers; improving or replacing existing PWD water system infrastructure; providing future 
water system infrastructure necessary to meet projected growth of the PWD service area; and 
ensuring potable water supply capable of meeting overall annual water demand that is projected 
to double over the next 25 years. The project would involve a suite of mitigation measures to 
reduce noise impacts during construction to the surrounding environment and sensitive receptors. 
While the project impacts may not be reduced to a level of less than significance, the project 
specifically balances the needs for PWD to meet the consumptive water demands of its ratepayers 
and the need to protect the environment of Southern California to the greatest extent feasible. For 
the entire project, PWD has determined, based on the amount of information available at this 
time, that certain project impacts may be potentially significant even after implementation of 
mitigation.  

8.1  Impacts of the Project and Associated Mitigation 
Measures  

As described in Section 5.4 above, the PEIR identifies the following potentially significant and 
unavoidable impacts associated with the WSMP:  

 Impact 3.10-4: The project could result in temporary or periodic increases in ambient noise 
levels in the project vicinity above levels existing without the project.  

 The project could result in cumulative impacts associated with temporary or periodic 
increases in ambient noise levels. 

For the project, Mitigation Measures NOISE-1, NOISE-2, NOISE-3, NOISE-4, and CUM-1 are 
incorporated into the PEIR and the MMRP, demonstrating a commitment by PWD to avoid, 
minimize, and compensate for these environmental impacts. However, even after implementation 
of mitigation measures, these two impacts remain potentially significant and unavoidable. 



Findings of Fact 

PWD Water System Master Plan 84 ESA / 160836.00 

Findings of Fact November 2018 

8.2  Benefits of the Project 
CEQA requires the lead agency to balance the benefits of a project against its unavoidable 
environmental risks in determining whether to approve a project. PWD finds that each of the 
following benefits of the WSMP Project supports the overriding of the significant impacts 
identified above. 

 The project would provide cost-effective and fiscally responsible water services that meet the
water quantity, water quality, system pressure, and reliability requirements of PWD
customers.

 The project would involve the improvement and replacement of existing PWD water system
infrastructure.

 The project would provide future water system infrastructure necessary to meet projected
growth of PWD service area.

 The project would ensure PWD has a potable water supply capable of meeting overall annual
water demand that is projected to double over the next 25 years.

8.3  Conclusion 
PWD acknowledges that despite all feasible mitigation measures, approval of the WSMP may 
result in significant adverse and unavoidable impacts associated with noise-generating 
construction equipment. However, for the foregoing reasons and based on the Draft PEIR and 
Final PEIR and the entire administrative record, PWD hereby determines that when the impacts 
are balanced against the project’s specific benefits, and when considering the long-term benefits 
as part of the project implemented over 25 years, on the whole the benefits of the project 
outweigh the impacts and warrant approval of the project. While the project’s impacts cannot be 
definitively reduced to a level of less than significance, the project specifically balances the needs 
for PWD to meet the water quantity, water quality, system pressure and reliability requirements 
of its customers and the need to protect the environment of Southern California to the greatest 
extent feasible. 

PWD further finds that each of the overriding considerations set forth above constitutes a separate 
and independent basis for finding that the benefits of the project outweigh the potentially 
unavoidable adverse environmental effects, and warrants approval of the project. 



PWD Water System Master Plan 1 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR  November 2018 

MITIGATION MONITORING AND  
REPORTING PROGRAM  
Palmdale Water District Water System Master 
Plan Final Program Environmental Impact 
Report 

In accordance with Section 15091(d) and Section 15097 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) Guidelines, which require a public agency to adopt a program for reporting on or 
monitoring required changes or conditions of approval to substantially lessen significant 
environmental effects, the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) is hereby 
adopted for this project. 

This MMRP summarizes the mitigation commitments identified in the Palmdale Water District 
(PWD) Water System Master Plan Final PEIR (State Clearinghouse No. 2017021042). Mitigation 
measures are presented in the same order as they occur in the Final PEIR. The columns in the 
MMRP table provide the following information: 

 Mitigation Measure(s): The action(s) that will be taken to reduce the impact to a less than
significant level.

 Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action: The appropriate steps to implement
and document compliance with the mitigation measures.

 Responsibility: The agency or private entity responsible for ensuring implementation of the
mitigation measure. However, until the mitigation measures are completed, PWD, as the
CEQA Lead Agency, remains responsible for ensuring implementation of the mitigation
measures occur in accordance with the program (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15097(a)).

 WSMP Component: The near-term and/or long-term WSMP component that each
mitigation measure applies to.

 Monitoring Schedule: The general schedule for conducting each monitoring task, either
prior to construction, during construction, and/or after construction.

EXHIBIT B



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 2 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

Aesthetics 
AES-1: During project design, a landscape plan shall be prepared for 
proposed storage tanks that affect scenic resources. The landscape 
plan shall include measures to restore disturbed areas by replanting 
trees and/or reseeding with a native seed mix typical of the surrounding 
area. Vegetation screening shall also be included in order to assist in 
shielding the proposed aboveground facilities from public vantage 
points. 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications. 

 Retain copies of the landscape plan and final design specifications in 
the project file.  

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file that verify 
compliance with landscape plan specifications after construction is 
complete. 

X   X     

PWD; 
construction 

contractor; design 
contractor 

X  X 

AES-2: Aboveground buildings/structures shall be designed to have 
color palettes and vegetation screening as necessary to blend with the 
surrounding character of the site and to minimize contrasting features in 
the visual landscape. 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications. 

 Retain copies of the landscape plan and final design specifications in 
the project file.  

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file that verify 
compliance with the mitigation measure after construction is complete. 

X   X   X X 

PWD; 
construction 

contractor; design 
contractor 

X  X 

AES-3: Aboveground buildings/structures shall be designed to have 
similar aesthetic qualities to existing structures in the vicinity to minimize 
contrasting features in the visual landscape. 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications. 

 Retain copies of the final design specifications in the project file.  

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file that verify 
compliance with the mitigation measure after construction is complete. 

    X  X X 

PWD; 
construction 

contractor; design 
contractor 

X  X 

AES-4: All new permanent exterior lighting associated with proposed 
WSMP components shall be shielded and directed downward to avoid 
light spill onto neighboring parcels and visibility from surrounding public 
vantage points. 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications. 

 Retain copies of the final design specifications in the project file.  

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file that verify 
compliance with the mitigation measure after construction is complete. 

X   X X   X 

PWD; 
construction 

contractor; design 
contractor 

X  X 

AES-5: The proposed WSMP aboveground facilities shall be designed 
to include non-glare exterior materials and coatings to minimize glare or 
reflection. 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications. 

 Retain copies of the final design specifications in the project file.  

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file that verify 
compliance with the mitigation measure after construction is complete. 

X   X X  X X 

PWD; 
construction 

contractor; design 
contractor 

X  X 

AES-6: Lighting used during nighttime construction, including any 
associated 24-hour well drilling, shall be shielded and pointed away from 
surrounding light-sensitive land uses. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 

      X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

 X  

Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
AQ-1: The following mitigation measures shall be incorporated to 
minimize emissions of NOx associated with construction activities for the 
proposed project: 

 Construction activities shall require the use of 2010 and newer diesel 
haul trucks (e.g., material delivery trucks and soil import/export) to 
the extent feasible. 

 Off-road diesel-powered construction equipment greater than 50 
horsepower shall meet Tier 3 emissions standards, including Level 3 
CARB-Certified diesel particulate filters at a minimum and Tier 4 for 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 

   X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 3 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

equipment makes and models that are commercially available within 
the Mojave Desert Air Basin. 

AQ-2: For each individual project, PWD shall require by contract 
specifications that: 

 Construction-related equipment, including heavy-duty equipment, 
motor vehicles, and portable equipment, shall be turned off when not 
in use for a period of five minutes or more to avoid excessive idling. 

 Construction activities shall minimize use of diesel-powered 
generators and rely on the electricity infrastructure where appropriate 
power requirements are available without the need to construct 
additional infrastructure. 

 Construction trucks shall be routed along haul routes to minimize 
travel adjacent to sensitive receptor areas where feasible. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 
   X X X X X 

PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  

Biological Resources 
BIO-1: Pre-Construction Focused Surveys for Rare Plants. The 
following measures are recommended to avoid and/or reduce potential 
impacts to special-status plants as a result of proposed project activities 
for near-term project components and long-term projects in undeveloped 
portions of the project area with suitable habitat. The preconstruction 
surveys for special-status plants shall follow CDFW’s recent updated 
Protocols for Surveying and Evaluating Impacts to Special Status Native 
Plant Populations and Natural Communities (CDFW 2018). 

 A floristic survey for special-status plant species having potential to 
occur within and adjacent to the project area should be conducted by 
a qualified biologist for the aforementioned near-term project 
components and the long-term project components that are located 
in the San Andreas Rift Zone and the hilly topography south of it. The 
surveys shall cover the blooming period of all special-status plant 
species having potential to occur. The results of the survey should be 
documented in a report that will be submitted to CDFW 

 If the floristic survey is positive for any of the four special-status plant 
species (slender mariposa lily, Robbins' nemacladus, short-joint 
beavertail, and Mason's neststraw), or any other sensitive plant 
species, and the avoidance of the special-status plant species is not 
feasible, coordination with CDFW would be required to determine 
suitable mitigation. The mitigation strategy may include avoidance, 
on-site or off-site restoration/enhancement areas, translocation, 
and/or seed collection, and exotic weed control. 
Restoration/enhancement areas for special-status plant species 
should be situated adjacent to protected open space and not result in 
isolated islands of habitat. If restoration and/or translocation are 
needed, a restoration/revegetation plan must be prepared and 
approved by CDFW. At a minimum, the plan should include a 
description of the existing conditions, site selection criteria, site 
preparation and planting methods, maintenance and monitoring 
schedule, performance standards, adaptive management strategies, 
contingency actions should success criteria not be met, identification 
of responsible parties, and a sufficient funding mechanism to assure 
that management and reporting requirements occur in perpetuity. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified biologist to conduct a floristic survey. 

 Retain copies of floristic survey report in the project file. 

 If results of the survey are positive, coordination with CDFW is 
required to determine suitable mitigation. 

 Retain copies of all correspondence with CDFW, if necessary, in the 
project file. 

 Retain copies of reports or plans documenting implementation of any 
required mitigation in the project file. 

X  X X X X   
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X X 



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 4 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

BIO-2: Pre-Construction Focused Surveys for Special-status Reptiles. 
The following measures are recommended to avoid and/or reduce 
potential impacts to special-status reptiles (coast horned lizard and 
silvery legless lizard) as a result of proposed project activities on the 
aforementioned near-term project components and in portions of the 
project area with suitable habitat for the species: 

 A qualified biologist should conduct a preconstruction clearance 
survey throughout proposed impact areas for silvery legless lizard 
and coast horned lizard. If individuals are observed within or near the 
project work areas during preconstruction clearance surveys or 
construction monitoring, a qualified biologist should relocate the 
individuals to suitable habitat outside of the proposed impact areas 
so that construction-related impacts are avoided. 

 A qualified biologist should monitor the removal of vegetation to 
confirm special-status species are not impacted. 

 Prior to the commencement of construction activities, construction 
personnel should check under stationary equipment to confirm no 
wildlife species are present. 

 All trash should be collected daily and taken offsite for proper 
disposal. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified biologist to conduct the pre-construction clearance 
survey, relocate special-status reptiles if necessary, and monitor 
vegetation removal. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. X  X X X X X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  

BIO-3: Nesting Bird Surveys. If project activities occur within the bird 
nesting season (generally defined as February 1st through August 31st), 
a qualified biologist should conduct a nesting bird survey within two 
weeks of the anticipated start date to identify any active nests within 300 
feet of impact areas for most bird species, but 500 feet for raptors. If an 
active nest is found, the nest should not be impacted and project 
activities should be conducted as recommended by the biologist to avoid 
the nest, such as implementation of suitable buffer zones or postponing 
construction until the young have fledged and are no longer associated 
with the nest. A common nest buffer for most bird species is 300 feet, 
whereas raptors may require a buffer up to 500 feet; however, 
avoidance buffers may be reduced within urban areas, where 
appropriate, at the discretion of the biologist. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified biologist to conduct surveys to identify active nests 
within 300 feet of project impact areas (500 feet for raptors), and, if an 
active nest is found, recommend measures to avoid impacts to the 
nests (i.e. implementing buffer zones, postponing construction). 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 

X  X X X X X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  

BIO-4: Protocol Burrowing Owl Surveys. There is marginal 
breeding/wintering habitat for the species at the following near-term 
project components: ES-01, FS-01, ES- 03, Pipeline FF-05, FF-06, the 
Pipeline along 47th Street East, and the Pipeline west of Lakeview 
Drive. A burrowing owl habitat assessment using CDFW protocols 
(CDFW 2012) should be conducted by a qualified biologist for these 
near-term project components and any long-term project component that 
is located within areas that are determined to have potential to support 
the species. For the near-term and long-term project components in 
areas that are assessed as having potential habitat to support burrowing 
owl, presence/absence surveys will be conducted per CDFW protocol 
(CDFW 2012), as follows: 

 Four site visits are necessary to complete the protocol. For breeding 
season surveys, at least one site visit will be conducted between 
February 15 and April 15, and a minimum of three survey visits, at 
least three weeks apart, between April 15 and July 15, with at least 
one visit after 15 June. The initial survey will consist of the project 
site and a buffer of 150 meters, where access is available, that will 
be covered by qualified biologists using transects spaced seven to 
20 meters apart, adjusting for vegetation height and density. All 
potential burrows used by burrowing owl as determined by the 
presence of one or more burrowing owls, pellets, prey remains, 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified biologist to conduct surveys to delineate the extent 
of potential burrowing owl habitat and burrowing owl 
presence/absence, as applicable, at near-term and long-term project 
components. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain copies of survey report and inspection notes during 
construction in the project file. 

 If results of the survey are positive, coordination with CDFW is 
required to determine suitable mitigation. 

X  X X X X X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 5 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

whitewash, or decoration will be mapped using a GPS device. Follow 
up surveys will then check any burrows that have been mapped. If 
conducting non-breeding season surveys, the same methods for 
breeding season surveys, but the three follow up visits will be spread 
evenly throughout the nonbreeding season. 

 If the surveys are positive for the presence of burrowing owl, CDFW 
will be consulted on how to proceed to avoid and minimize potential 
project-related impacts to this species. Mitigation and avoidance 
measures may include no-work buffers and/or seasonal limitations 
for burrows that cannot be avoided. Burrowing owl artificial burrow 
and exclusion plans are a potential option for burrows that would be 
directly impacted by project activities. 

BIO-4a: Pre-construction Habitat Assessment. Prior to ground disturbing 
activities for near-term storage tanks and pipelines and all long-term 
project components, a habitat assessment shall be conducted by a 
qualified biologist to determine the potential for the following special-
status wildlife species to occur within project areas: Mohave ground 
squirrel, desert tortoise, desert kit fox, and American badger. If the 
habitat assessment determines there is potential for one of the special-
status species to be present within a certain buffer of the construction 
zone, then additional measures shall be implemented as described 
below. For Mohave ground squirrel and desert tortoise, focused surveys 
shall be conducted prior to project implementation to determine 
presence or absence. If the habitat assessment determines there is no 
potential to occur, then no further mitigation is required. 

 Mohave ground squirrel - Wherever the project is occurring in areas 
containing suitable Mohave ground squirrel habitat, CDFW-protocol 
surveys for Mohave ground squirrel shall be conducted to determine 
presence/absence, which shall include a 100-foot buffer surrounding 
the limits of disturbance; or presence may be assumed and PWD 
shall pay an in-lieu fee to a CDFW-approved conservation area, such 
as an established mitigation bank. The mitigation ration of in-lieu fee 
amount shall be determined through consultation with CDFW prior to 
any ground-disturbing activities. If surveys are conducted and 
presence is confirmed, an incidental take permit shall be obtained 
prior to any ground-disturbing actives from CDFW in accordance with 
Section 2081 of the California Fish and Game Code. 

 Desert tortoise - Wherever the project is occurring in areas 
containing suitable desert tortoise habitat, surveys shall be 
conducted in accordance with the latest USFWS protocols. If desert 
tortoise is confirmed present, then PWD shall consult with CDFW to 
obtain California Endangered Species Act authorization and, if 
necessary, an incidental take permit prior to any ground disturbance 
that may impact occupied desert tortoise habitat during the life of the 
project. Once potential habitat is cleared of desert tortoise, or if 
surveys are negative, exclusionary silt fencing shall be installed 
around the project impact area to prevent animals from wandering 
onto the project site. The limits of the silt fencing shall be determined 
by a CDFW and/or USFWS-approved biologist to determine the 
maximum potential for exclusion. The fencing shall be buried a 
minimum of 10-inches below the ground surface to reduce the 
potential for animals to move onto the project site. 

 American badger and desert kit fox – If the habitat assessment 
identifies signs of occupation by American badger and/or desert kit 
fox (e.g., occupied or potential dens), the following measures should 
be implemented:  

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified biologist to conduct habitat assessments for 
Mohave ground squirrel, desert tortoise, desert kit fox, and American 
badger. 

 If the habitat assessment is positive, and there is potential for species 
to occur, then retain a qualified biologist to implement additional 
measures for each species.  

 Retain copies of all correspondence with CDFW and USFWS in the 
project file. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain copies of survey report and inspection notes during 
construction in the project file. 

X  X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X x  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 6 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

– If species individuals are found to be present, the project 
area shall be avoided until the individuals are no longer 
present. Individuals shall be allowed to leave on its own 
without being harassed. If an individual does not vacate 
the project site, PWD would be required to coordinate with 
CDFW to determine the appropriate relocation methods, 
location, and timing.  

– If dens and signs of presence are found but no species 
individuals are found, a qualified biologist shall confirm the 
dens are no longer active. To prevent any species from 
entering the project site in the future, PWD and the 
construction contractor shall install exclusionary fencing 
around the project site, if feasible. A clearance survey shall 
be conducted prior to the restart of construction to confirm 
no species are present. Periodic monitoring shall be 
performed by a qualified biologist based on a frequency 
determined through consultation with CDFW.  

– PWD and the construction contractor shall follow protocols 
included in Mitigation Measure BIO-4c to prevent wildlife 
entrapment at project sites.  

BIO-4b: Worker Environmental Awareness Program. PWD shall be 
required to prepare a Worker Environmental Awareness Program 
(WEAP) that identifies methods for avoiding inadvertent impacts to 
special-status wildlife, plants and native vegetation communities that 
have the potential to occur in the project area. The WEAP shall include a 
meeting facilitated by a qualified biologist and attended by all 
construction personnel that describes the special-status species that 
could occur, measures and techniques for avoiding impacts, 
communication protocol, stop-work thresholds, and enforcement 
authorities and actions should a sensitive-status species be 
inadvertently impacted at any point during construction activities. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified biologist to prepare the WEAP and conduct meeting 
for all construction personnel. 

 Retain copies of personnel attendance at the WEAP meeting in the 
project file.  X  X X  X X  

PWD; 
construction 
contractor 

X   

BIO-4c: Wildlife Entrapment. During construction of all near-term and 
long-term components, all trenches, pits or other depressions that are 
not in active use be backfilled or covered immediately after use to 
prevent wildlife entrapment. Additionally:  

 A qualified biological monitor should inspect all depressions prior to 
backfilling to salvage any entrapped species observed. 

 If depressions cannot be immediately backfilled or covered, a 
qualified biological monitor should periodically inspect the 
depressions to remove any entrapped species. The frequency of 
inspection of depressions by the biological monitor would be 
dependent on ambient temperature and precipitation conditions 
because high heat levels or flooding may result in mortality of 
entrapped wildlife. 

 Depressions that cannot be immediately back filled or covered 
should be provided with escape ramps that could allow some mobile 
entrapped wildlife to escape. 

 All stockpiled pipe interiors should be inspected for wildlife presence 
by a qualified biological monitor immediately prior to pipe laying. Any 
wildlife observed seeking refuge inside a pipe should be safely 
evicted. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain copies of inspection notes during construction in the project 
file. 

X  X X  X X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 7 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

 Open-ended terminal pipes within any pipeline laying operation 
should be temporarily sealed if left unattended, to prevent wildlife 
from entering and becoming entrapped. 

 Handling of California Endangered Species Act-listed species 
entrapped in depressions shall only occur by entities possessing an 
Incidental Take Permit for that species. 

BIO-4d: Prohibition of Anticoagulant or Rodenticides. The use of 
anticoagulants and rodenticides that could result in secondary poisoning 
or other mortality of non-target species including but not limited to 
American badger and desert kit fox is prohibited during the life of the 
project and future project maintenance activities. 

 Include mitigation measures in project design and maintenance 
specifications 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain copies of inspection notes during construction in the project 
file. 

X  X X  X X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X X 

BIO-5: Jurisdictional Waters Delineation and State Permitting. Near-
term pipelines (e.g., the pipeline along 47th Street East and Pipeline FF-
01) cross waters that may be jurisdictional and could thus discharge into 
Waters of the State or alter of the bed and banks of streams regulated 
under Fish and Game Code. A jurisdictional delineation for these near 
term pipelines shall be conducted to determine the limits of potential 
jurisdictional waters. The results of the formal jurisdictional waters 
delineation will be used during project design to determine if 
jurisdictional waters can be avoided. If jurisdictional water can be 
avoided, then no further mitigation is necessary. If jurisdictional water 
features will be potentially impacted by the proposed project, then a 
Report of Water Discharge will be submitted to the Lahontan RWQCB 
and, if deemed necessary, Waste Discharge Requirements will be 
obtained from the agency. Concurrently, a Notification of Lake or 
Streambed Alteration will be submitted to the CDFW and, if deemed 
necessary, a Lake or Streambed Alteration Agreement will be obtained. 
Conditions for the certification and agreement may require additional 
surveys for plants and wildlife, as well as best management practices to 
minimize impacts. 

For long-term storage tanks, pumps, pipelines, and wells, it is first 
recommended that project components be sited to avoid impacts to 
areas that appear to convey or pond water and any associated riparian 
habitat. If these areas cannot be avoided, a jurisdictional delineation for 
these facilities (as described above for near term pipelines) shall be 
conducted and associated permits obtained from RWQCB and CDFW.  

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications  

 Retain a qualified biologist to conduct a jurisdictional delineation to 
determine the limits of potential jurisdictional waters. 

 Include results of the formal jurisdictional waters delineation in project 
design contract specifications. 

 If applicable, retain copies of Waste Discharge Requirements and/or 
Lake or Streambed Alteration Agreement in the project file.  

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of any conditions or mitigation requirements included in the permits, 
during and after construction. 

 Retain copies of construction monitoring report; jurisdictional 
delineation report; and any letter reports or permits submitted 
to/received from the Lahontan RWQCB and CDFW, if jurisdictional 
water cannot be avoided. 

   X X X X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X X 

BIO-6: Native Desert Vegetation Removal Survey and Permit. Prior to 
ground disturbance, a vegetation survey shall be conducted to 
characterize, map and quantify the amount of native desert vegetation, 
including sensitive natural communities, that would be disturbed by 
project components. This shall include all areas within a minimum of 
100-feet from the project’s impact limits. 

If project components, near-term or long-term, within the boundaries of 
the City of Palmdale cannot be sited to avoid impacts to native desert 
vegetation species including sensitive natural communities as defined by 
CDFW, then a native desert vegetation removal permit will be 
necessary. This specifically applies to removal of Joshua trees and/or 
California junipers on project sites with a density equal to or greater than 
two individuals per acre (per the Joshua Tree and Native Desert 
Vegetation Preservation Ordinance. The PWD shall comply with all 
terms and conditions of the permit, including preparation and 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications and 
construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified biologist to identify allowable limits of Joshua 
tree/California juniper removal as indicated in the measure, prepare a 
desert vegetation preservation plan, and evaluate health of onsite 
trees post-construction. 

 Include limits of Joshua tree/California juniper removal in project 
design specifications. 

 Include limits of Joshua tree/California juniper removal in construction 
contractor specifications. 

 Retain copies of written report, site plan depicting tree locations, long-
term maintenance program (if necessary), and design and contractor 
specifications in project files. 

X  X X X X X  
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X X 



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 8 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

implementation of a desert vegetation preservation plan. Associated 
conditions and measures could include but are not limited to: 

 A desert vegetation preservation plan prepared by a qualified 
biologist (i.e., desert native plant specialist) consisting of a written 
report and site plan depicting the location of each Joshua tree and/or 
California juniper and, if determined necessary by the City of 
Palmdale, a long-term maintenance program for any Joshua trees 
and/or California junipers left onsite. 

 Joshua trees and/or California junipers to be left onsite shall be 
fenced-off and left undisturbed during any grading activities or 
removed to a holding area until grading activities are completed. If 
two Joshua trees and/or California junipers per acre cannot be 
preserved onsite (the minimum standard of preservation), the trees 
shall be transplanted to an ecologically appropriate offsite location by 
the Palmdale Water District as approved by the City of Palmdale.  

 In lieu of transplantation of Joshua trees and/or California junipers 
from areas to be developed by the project, the Palmdale Water 
District may satisfy the requirements of the City code through 
payment of a fee to the City. Joshua trees and/or California junipers 
preserved onsite, in landscape easements, or landscape assessment 
districts are to be maintained in a healthy condition for a minimum of 
two (2) growing seasons. The trees will be evaluated after one year 
by a qualified biologist. Trees determined to be failing or that have 
died will be replaced as determined by the City. 

 Perform site inspections to verify contractor compliance. 

 Retain inspection records in the project file. 

Cultural Resources 
CUL-1: Future Study – Historic Resources. Prior to development of 
long-term WSMP components that could potentially affect historic 
resources, PWD shall retain a Qualified Architectural Historian, defined 
as meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualification 
Standards for architectural history (codified in 36 CFR Part 61; 48 FR 
44738-44739), to conduct a historic resources assessment including: a 
records search at the South Central Coastal Information Center; a 
review of pertinent archives and sources; a pedestrian field survey; 
recordation of all identified historic resources on California Department 
of Parks and Recreation 523 forms; and preparation of a technical report 
documenting the methods and results of the assessment. All identified 
historic resources shall be assessed for the project’s potential to result in 
direct and/or indirect effects to those resources and any historic 
resource that may be affected shall be evaluated for its potential 
significance prior to PWD’s approval of project plans and publication of 
subsequent CEQA documents. The Qualified Architectural Historian 
shall provide recommendations regarding additional work or treatment 
for significant resources that will be affected by the project prior to their 
demolition or alteration. 

 Retain a Qualified Architectural Historian to prepare historic resource 
assessments for long-term WSMP components as applicable.  

 Implement recommendations from historic resources assessment as 
applicable.  

 Retain copies of historic resources assessments in the project file. 

 Retain copies of inspection/monitoring reports documenting 
implementation of recommendations from historic resources 
assessments in the project file.    X X X X  PWD X X  

CUL-2: Retention of a Qualified Archaeologist. Prior to start of any 
ground-disturbing activities for all near-term and long-term projects (i.e., 
demolition, pavement removal, pot-holing or auguring, boring, drilling, 
grubbing, vegetation removal, brush clearance, weed abatement, 
grading, excavation, trenching, or any other activity that has potential to 
disturb soil), PWD shall retain a Qualified Archaeologist meeting the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards for 
archaeology (codified in 36 CFR Part 61; 48 FR 44738-44739) to 
oversee and ensure that all mitigation measures related to 
archaeological resources are carried out. 

 Retain a Qualified Archaeologist to carry out all mitigation related to 
archaeological resources. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of mitigation implementation during project construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 9 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

CUL-3: Construction Worker Cultural Resource Sensitivity Training. 
Prior to the start of any ground-disturbing activity for all near-term and 
long-term projects, the Qualified Archaeologist shall conduct cultural 
resources sensitivity training for all construction personnel. Construction 
personnel shall be informed of the types of archaeological resources 
that may be encountered, and of the proper procedures to be enacted in 
the event of an inadvertent discovery of archaeological resources or 
human remains. PWD shall ensure that construction personnel are 
made available for and attend the training and retain documentation 
demonstrating attendance. 

 Retain a Qualified Archaeologist to coordinate with a Native American 
representative to conduct cultural resources sensitivity training for all 
construction personnel. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain copies of personnel attendance at the sensitivity training in the 
project file.  

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X   

CUL-4: Archaeological Monitoring. Archaeological resources monitoring 
shall be conducted as follows: 

 During ground disturbance related to construction of near-term 
pipelines FF-01, FF-04, FF-05, FF-06, and FF-07 and the pipeline 
leading to pump station EB-01 to a depth of 3 feet (depth at which 
archaeological sensitivity decreases and paleontological sensitivity 
increases) 

 During ground disturbance related to construction of near-term 
storage tank FS-01 to the terminal depth of excavation or until 
bedrock is reached 

 During ground disturbance related to construction of any and all long-
term project components that the Qualified Archaeologist determines 
to have a moderate-to-high archaeological sensitivity (to depths to be 
determined by the Qualified Archaeologist) (see Mitigation Measure 
CUL-6) 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications  

 Retain an appropriate number of qualified archaeological monitors to 
conduct monitoring of project-related ground disturbance as required. 

 Conduct periodic monitoring of mitigation commitments during 
construction. 

 Retain construction monitoring logs and reports in project file. 
X  X X X X X X 

PWD; 
construction 
contractor 

 X  

CUL-5: Inadvertent Discovery of Archaeological Resources. For all 
near-term and long-term projects, in the event of the unanticipated 
discovery of archaeological materials and/or Native American cultural 
resources, regardless of location, PWD shall immediately cease all work 
activities in the area (within approximately 100 feet) of the discovery until 
it can be evaluated by the Qualified Archaeologist. The San Manuel 
Band of Mission Indians shall be contacted if any such find occurs and 
be provided information and permitted/invited to perform a site visit 
when the qualified archaeologist makes his/her assessment, so as to 
provide Tribal input. Construction shall not resume until the Qualified 
Archaeologist has conferred with PWD and the San Manuel Band of 
Mission Indians on the significance of the resource. 

If it is determined that a discovered archaeological resource constitutes 
a historical resource or unique archaeological resource pursuant to 
CEQA, or a discovered Native American cultural resource constitutes a 
historical resource pursuant to CEQA, avoidance and preservation in 
place shall be the preferred manner of mitigation. Preservation in place 
maintains the important relationship between artifacts and their 
archaeological context and also serves to avoid conflict with traditional 
and religious values of groups who may ascribe meaning to the 
resource. Preservation in place may be accomplished by, but is not 
limited to, avoidance, incorporating the resource into open space, 
capping, or deeding the site into a permanent conservation easement. In 
the event that preservation in place is determined to be infeasible and 
data recovery through excavation is the only feasible mitigation 
available, a Cultural Resources Research Design and Treatment Plan 
shall be prepared and implemented by the Qualified Archaeologist in 
consultation with PWD and the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians. 
The Plan shall provide for the adequate recovery of the scientifically 
consequential information contained in the archaeological resource. 
PWD shall consult with the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians in 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications 

 If found, document and retain records regarding discovery of 
archaeological resources. 

 Retain construction monitoring report in project file. 

 As needed, retain a Qualified Archaeologist to prepare/implement an 
Archaeological Resources Research Design and Treatment Plan in 
consultation with PWD and interested tribal groups; and determine 
how to proceed with future ground disturbance in the project area. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

 X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 10 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

determining treatment for prehistoric or Native American resources to 
ensure cultural values ascribed to the resource, beyond those that are 
scientifically important, are considered, and the draft Treatment Plan 
shall be provided to the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians for review 
and comment prior to implementation. All in-field investigations, 
assessments, and/or data recovery enacted pursuant to the finalized 
Treatment Plan shall be monitored by a San Manuel Band of Mission 
Indians Tribal Participant(s). 

The Qualified Archaeologist in consultation with the San Manuel Band of 
Mission Indians shall also determine the level of archaeological 
monitoring that is warranted during future ground disturbance in the 
area, and if work may proceed in other parts of the project area while 
treatment for cultural resources is being carried out. 

The disposition and treatment of any artifacts or other cultural materials 
encountered during project implementation shall be determined by PWD 
in consultation with the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians. 

CUL-6: Future Study – Archaeological Resources: Prior to development 
of all long-term WSMP components that involve ground disturbance, 
PWD shall retain a Qualified Archaeologist, defined as meeting the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualification Standards for 
archaeology (codified in 36 CFR Part 61; 48 FR 44738-44739), to 
conduct an archaeological resources assessment including: a records 
search update at the South Central Coastal Information Center; a 
Sacred Lands File search at the Native American Heritage Commission;  
a pedestrian field survey, where deemed appropriate by the Qualified 
Archaeologist; recordation of all identified archaeological resources on 
California Department of Parks and Recreation 523 forms; and 
preparation of a technical report documenting the methods and results 
of the study, and providing an assessment of the project area’s 
archaeological sensitivity and the potential to encounter subsurface 
archaeological resources and human remains. All identified 
archaeological resources shall be assessed for the project’s potential to 
result in direct and/or indirect effects to those resources and any 
archaeological resource that cannot be avoided shall be evaluated for its 
potential significance prior to PWD’s approval of project plans and 
publication of subsequent CEQA documents. The Qualified 
Archaeologist shall provide recommendations regarding archaeological 
monitoring to be conducted in accordance with Mitigation Measure CUL-
4, protection of avoided resources and/or recommendations for 
additional work or treatment of significant resources that will be affected 
by the project. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specification  

 Retain a Qualified Archaeologist to conduct an archaeological 
resources assessment in accordance with the mitigation measure. 

 Retain technical report in the project file. 

   X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X   

CUL-7: Retention of a Qualified Paleontologist. Prior to start of any 
ground-disturbing activities for all near-term and long-term projects (i.e., 
demolition, pavement removal, pot-holing or auguring, boring, drilling, 
grubbing, vegetation removal, brush clearance, weed abatement, 
grading, excavation, trenching, or any other activity that has potential to 
disturb soil), PWD shall retain a Qualified Paleontologist meeting the 
Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards (SVP, 2010). The 
Qualified Paleontologist shall conduct construction worker 
paleontological resources sensitivity training for all construction 
personnel. The training session shall focus on the recognition of the 
types of paleontological resources that could be encountered within the 
project area and the procedures to be followed if they are found. PWD 
shall retain documentation demonstrating that construction personnel 
attended the training. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contracting specification  

 Retain an appropriate number of qualified paleontologists to carry out 
all mitigation measure related to paleontological resources. 

 Retain documentation demonstrating the construction personnel 
attended the training. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X   



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 11 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

CUL-8: Paleontological Monitoring. Full-time paleontological resources 
monitoring for near-term and long-term projects shall be performed by a 
qualified paleontological monitor under the direction of the Qualified 
Paleontologist (SVP, 2010). Monitors shall have the authority to 
temporarily halt or divert work away from exposed fossils, in a radius of 
at least 50 feet, in order to recover the fossil specimens. Any significant 
fossils collected during project-related excavations shall be prepared to 
the point of identification and curated into an accredited repository with 
retrievable storage. Monitors shall prepare daily logs detailing the types 
of activities and soils observed, and any discoveries. The Qualified 
Paleontologist shall prepare a final monitoring and mitigation report to be 
submitted to PWD. Paleontological resources monitoring shall be 
conducted as follows: 

 In sediments mapped as low-to-high paleontological sensitivity 
[i.e., Holocene alluvium (Qa)] all ground-disturbing activities that 
exceed 3 feet in depth (depth at which paleontological sensitivity 
increases) and occur in areas that have not been previously 
disturbed shall receive full-time paleontological monitoring. This 
depth is an estimate based on the recovery of fossils from the vicinity 
of the project area. The Qualified Paleontologist may reevaluate 
monitoring levels as construction progresses if the paleontological 
sensitivity of the area proves to be lower than anticipated. 

 In sediments mapped as high paleontological sensitivity [i.e., 
Pleistocene alluvium (Qoa, Qos), shale and sandstone of the 
Anaverde Formation (Tac, Tas), and the shale and sandstone of the 
Punchbowl Formation (Tpc, Tps)], all ground-disturbing activities that 
occur in areas that have not been previously disturbed shall be 
receive full-time paleontological monitoring, at all excavation depths. 
The Qualified Paleontologist may reevaluate monitoring levels as 
construction progresses if the paleontological sensitivity of the area 
proves to be lower than anticipated. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contracting specification  

 Retain a qualified paleontologist to monitor near-term and long-term 
project site excavations as required by the mitigation measure. 

 Retain copies of monitoring logs, discoveries, and the final mitigation 
report in the project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
 X  

CUL-9: Inadvertent Discovery of Paleontological Resources. For all 
near-term and long-term projects, if construction or other project 
personnel discover any potential fossils during construction, regardless 
of the depth of work or location, work at the discovery location shall 
cease in a 50-foot radius of the discovery until the Qualified 
Paleontologist has assessed the discovery and made recommendations 
as to the appropriate treatment. If the find is deemed significant, it shall 
be salvaged following the standards of the SVP (2010) and curated with 
a certified repository. Following a discovery, the Qualified Paleontologist 
shall also provide PWD with recommendations regarding future 
paleontological monitoring, if deemed warranted. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specification  

 If found, document and retain records regarding discovery of 
paleontological resources as required in the project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
 X  

CUL-10: Inadvertent Discovery of Human Remains. If human remains or 
funerary objects are encountered during activities associated with the 
project, then PWD shall halt work in the vicinity (within 100 feet) of the 
discovery and contact the County Coroner in accordance with Public 
Resources Code section 5097.98 and Health and Safety Code section 
7050.5. If the County Coroner determines the remains are Native 
American, then the Coroner shall notify the California Native American 
Heritage Commission in accordance with Health and Safety Code 
subdivision 7050.5(c), and Public Resources Code section 5097.98. The 
California Native American Heritage Commission shall designate a Most 
Likely Descendant for the remains per Public Resources Code section 
5097.98. Until the landowner has conferred with the Most Likely 
Descendant, the contractor shall ensure the immediate vicinity where 
the discovery occurred is not disturbed by further activity, is adequately 
protected according to generally accepted cultural or archaeological 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specification 

 If found, document and retain records regarding discovery of human 
remains as required in the project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
 X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 12 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

standards or practices, and that further activities take into account the 
possibility of multiple burials. 

Geology, Soils, Seismicity and Mineral Resources 
GEO-1 Topsoil Preservation. All topsoil stripped from the ground surface 
during construction shall be used, to the extent feasible, for construction 
of other project elements and not hauled offsite. The upper six inches of 
topsoil shall be used as final cover to help re-establish vegetation post-
construction as applicable. Temporary stockpiles shall be managed 
through the use of best management practices, which shall include but 
not be limited to wetting and/or covering stockpiles to prevent wind 
erosion. 

Implement Mitigation Measures HYD-1. 

 Include mitigation measure in design contract specifications 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications 

 Conduct periodic monitoring of best management practices and 
mitigation requirements. 

 Retain copies of monitoring reports in the project file. 

X   X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X X 

GEO-2: A geotechnical report shall be prepared by a certified engineer 
for all facilities involving substantial ground disturbance or excavation. 
The report shall assess subsidence, liquefaction, landslide, expansive 
soil potential and collapsible soil potential of each facility site. Structural 
mitigation recommendations provided in the geotechnical report shall be 
incorporated into the design of the facility prior to construction. The 
contents of the geotechnical report shall vary depending on the 
jurisdiction and risks associated with each facility’s location.  

 Include mitigation measure in design contractor specifications 

 Retain qualified consultant to prepare Geotechnical Investigation 

 Retain a copy of Geotechnical Investigation report, recommendations, 
and design specifications in project file 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

design contractor 
X   

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 
HAZ-1: In conjunction with Mitigation Measure TR-1, prior to initiating 
construction of pipelines within roadway rights-of-way, PWD shall 
prepare and implement a Traffic Control Plan that contains 
comprehensive strategies for maintaining emergency access. Strategies 
shall include, but are not limited to, maintaining steel trench plates at the 
construction sites to restore access across open trenches and 
identification of alternate routing around construction zones. In addition, 
police, fire, and other emergency service providers shall be notified of 
the timing, location, and duration of the construction activities and the 
location of detours and lane closures. The PWD shall ensure that the 
Traffic Control Plan and other construction activities are consistent with 
the Los Angeles County Operational Area Emergency Response Plan. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified consultant to prepare a Traffic Control Plan that is 
consistent with the Los Angeles County Operational Area Emergency 
Response Plan. 

 Retain copies of written notifications in the project file. 

 Retain copies of the Traffic Control Plan in the project file. 

  X   X   
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  

HAZ-2: Implement Fire Hazard Reduction Measures. During 
construction of facilities located in areas designated as moderate, high, 
or very high fire hazard severity zone by CAL FIRE, PWD shall require 
that all staging areas, welding areas, or areas slated for development 
using spark-producing equipment shall be cleared of dried vegetation or 
other material that could ignite. Any construction equipment that 
includes a spark arrestor shall be equipped with a spark arrestor in good 
working order. During the construction of the WSMP facilities, 
contractors shall require all vehicles and crews to have access to 
functional fire extinguishers at all times. In addition, construction crews 
shall have a spotter during welding activities to look out for potentially 
dangerous situations, including accidental sparks. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Conduct routine inspections of construction equipment to ensure 
compliance. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

 X  

Hydrology 
HYD-1: Post-Construction Stabilization. The project shall be designed to 
maintain natural drainage paths and landscape features to the maximum 
extent possible to slow and filter runoff and maximize groundwater 
recharge. Following implementation of project facilities, areas of 
disturbance that do not contain aboveground structures shall be restored 
to pre-construction conditions with regard to vegetation cover. Existing 
vegetation shall be preserved to the maximum extent practicable during 
construction activities. If no vegetation was present prior to construction, 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to ensure implementation of 
post-construction restoration activities. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
X x x 



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 13 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

the site shall be compacted to achieve soil stabilization. To ensure 
immediate soil stabilization of revegetated areas, a soil binder shall be 
applied following planting of vegetation. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 

HYD-2: Source Control BMPs. PWD shall implement source control 
BMPs for all activities at project sites, including but not limited to 
accidental spills and leaks, outdoor equipment operations, and building 
and grounds maintenance. Source control BMPs shall be designed to 
prevent chemicals associated with these activities from coming into 
contact with stormwater. PWD shall refer to the latest version of the 
California Stormwater Quality Association’s Construction BMP Online 
Handbook during project operation to avoid impacts from spills or leaks 
of fuel or hazardous materials. Pertinent BMPs include but are not 
limited to WM-4: Spill Prevention and Control and WM-6: Hazardous 
Waste Management. If backup generators with onsite fuel storage will 
be included on pump station sites, PWD shall design a spill prevention 
and emergency response plan to implement in the event of a fuel spill to 
mitigate potential impacts to soil and groundwater. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to ensure implementation of 
source control BMP’s at project sites. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. 
X   X   X X 

PWD; 
construction 
contractor 

 X  

HYD-3: Future Coordination with Antelope Valley Watermaster 
Engineer. For all future long-term wells to be implemented under the 
WSMP, PWD shall coordinate with the Watermaster to conduct a 
material harm review of the proposed groundwater wells as well as the 
available groundwater rights. PWD shall work with the Watermaster to 
ensure that well operation would not interfere substantially with 
groundwater recharge such that there would be a net deficit in aquifer 
volume or a lowering of the local groundwater table level such that the 
production rate of pre-existing nearby wells would drop to a level which 
would not support existing land uses or planned uses for which permits 
have been granted. 

 Prior to implementation of future wells, PWD to coordinate with the 
Antelope Valley Watermaster to prepare a material harm review. 

 Retain copies of correspondence with the Watermaster and any 
resulting studies or operation plans in the project file. 

      X  PWD X   

Land Use and Recreation 
LU-1: For project facilities occurring within the AIA, PWD shall submit 
their proposed project plans to the Los Angeles County ALUC for review 
and comment prior to final design. 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications. 

 Submit project plans to the Los Angeles County Airport Land Use 
Commission prior to final design. 

 Retain copies of project plans reflecting modifications recommended 
by the Los Angeles County ALUC. 

 Include comments from Los Angeles County ALUC in construction 
contractor specifications. 

  X   X X  
PWD; 

contractors 
X   

LU-2: Prior to conducting construction activities within an AIA, PWD 
shall prepare an airport construction safety plan that would identify best 
management practices. The plan may include construction timeframes 
and hours, lighting and flagging requirements, air traffic control 
communication requirements, access and egress restrictions, equipment 
staging area requirements, personal safety equipment requirements for 
construction workers, and appropriate notification to aviators. The plan 
would be reviewed and approved by airport staff. 

 Retain a qualified consultant to prepare an airport construction safety 
plan to identify BMPs. 

 Retain airport staff approval for the airport construction safety plan in 
the project file. 

 Include airport construction safety plan in construction contractor 
specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to ensure airport construction 
safety plan requirements and BMPs are implemented during project 
construction. 

 Maintain written monitoring records in the project file to verify 
compliance. 

  X   X X  
PWD; 

contractors 
X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 14 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

LU-3: Prior to final design of the project components within an AIA, 
PWD shall identify the ground elevation associated with construction 
equipment associated with each project component constructed within 
the AIA and submit their project plans to airport staff for review and 
comment. Working with airport staff, PWD shall submit their design 
plans for airspace analysis (FAA Part 7460 review) to determine whether 
any of the construction equipment would protrude into protected 
airspace. If such objects are identified, the implementing agencies, 
airport staff, and FAA will identify appropriate steps to adjust project 
plans or include appropriate markings to identify hazards to aviators 
pursuant to FAA Part 7460. 

 Include mitigation measure in design contractor specifications. 

 Prior to final design, submit airspace analysis to airport staff.  

 As applicable, incorporate requirements from airport staff and FAA 
regarding aviation hazards into final design plans and specifications. 

 Include requirements of airspace analysis in construction contractor 
specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to ensure requirements of the 
airspace analysis are implemented during project construction.  

 Maintain written monitoring records in the project file to verify 
compliance. Retain copies of all correspondence with airport staff and 
the FAA in the project file.  

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
X X  

REC-1: For projects that would construct new facilities on public lands 
designated as open spaces, PWD shall coordinate with the City of 
Palmdale, Recreation and Culture Department to identify ways to 
minimize impacts of project construction and operation on recreational 
activities. Measures may include but are not limited to 

Project Construction 

 Posting of signage indicating dates during which use of recreational 
areas would be restricted due to construction 

 Placement of fencing to isolate construction areas and allow 
continued use of other areas of recreational parks and facilities 

 Timing of construction activities to avoid peak recreational seasons 

Project Operation 

 Use of vegetation to screen proposed facilities from view of adjacent 
recreational land uses 

 Security fencing to enclose new PWD facilities, as necessary 

 Include mitigation measure in project design specifications to 
incorporate vegetation screening and security fencing as applicable. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to ensure requirements of the 
mitigation measure are implemented during project construction.  

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance 

 All monitoring records shall be retained in the project file. X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
X X X 

REC-2: For projects that would construct pipelines or other new facilities 
within designated bikeways, PWD shall coordinate with the applicable 
jurisdiction to determine whether circulation and detour plans are 
required to minimize impacts to access to local bikeways. Circulation 
and detour plans may include the use of signage and flagging of cyclists 
through and/or around the construction zone. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 As needed, prepare circulation and detour plans prior to initiation of 
construction activities within bikeways. 

 Conduct periodic monitoring to verify compliance with requirements of 
circulation and detour plans. Retain copies of written monitoring logs 
and reports in the project file 

 Retain copies of circulation and detour plans in project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  

Noise 
NOISE-1: PWD shall require the construction contractors to implement 
the following measures, as applicable, during construction of the 
proposed facilities: 

 Construction activities shall meet municipal or County code 
requirements related to noise. Construction activities shall be limited 
to between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday to 
avoid noise-sensitive hours of the day. Construction activities shall 
be prohibited on Sundays and holidays.  

 Prior to nighttime construction activities that would generate noise in 
excess of noise standards, the construction contractor shall secure a 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of noise reduction measures during project construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance. X X X X X X X X 

PWD; 
construction 
contractor 

X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 15 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

noise waiver from the relevant jurisdiction (City or County) and 
comply with any terms and conditions of the waiver. 

 Sensitive receptors (residences, residential areas, schools, and 
hospitals) within 800 feet (in the City) and 4,500 feet (in the County) 
of project construction activities shall be identified and mapped. 

 Construction equipment noise shall be minimized by muffling and 
shielding intakes and exhaust on construction equipment (per the 
manufacturer’s specifications) and by shrouding or shielding impact 
tools. 

 Construction contractors shall locate fixed construction equipment 
(such as compressors and generators) and construction staging 
areas as far as possible from nearby sensitive receptors including 
residences, schools, and hospitals. 

 Where feasible, construct barriers between noise sources and noise-
sensitive land uses to block sound transmission. Enclose 
construction equipment where practicable. 

 If construction were to occur near a school, the construction 
contractor shall coordinate the most noise producing construction 
activities with school administration in order to limit disturbance to the 
campus.  

NOISE-2: PWD shall require the construction contractor to notify in 
writing all landowners and occupants of properties within 500 feet of the 
construction area of the construction schedule at least two weeks prior 
to groundbreaking. The construction contractor shall designate a Noise 
Complaint Coordinator who will be responsible for responding to 
complaints regarding construction noise. The Coordinator shall ensure 
that reasonable measures are implemented to correct any problems. A 
contact telephone number for the Coordinator shall be conspicuously 
posted at the construction site and included in the written notification of 
the construction schedule sent to surrounding properties. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified Noise Complaint Coordinator to implement the 
mitigation measure. 

 Maintain written documentation of all noise complaints and the 
resolution of complaints in the project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  

NOISE-3: PWD shall require the construction contractor to implement 
the following measures, as applicable, during construction of proposed 
facilities:  

 Sensitive receptors (residences, residential areas, schools, and 
hospitals) within 50 feet of project construction activities shall be 
identified and mapped. 

 Limit jack and bore drilling to at least 43 feet from sensitive receptors 
and 15 feet from any structures.  

 If jack and bore drilling must occur within 15 feet of any structure, the 
construction contractor shall conduct crack surveys before drilling to 
prevent potential architectural damage to nearby structures. The 
surveys shall be done by photographs, video tape, or visual 
inventory, and shall include inside as well as outside locations.  All 
existing cracks in walls, floors, and driveways shall be documented 
with sufficient detail for comparison after construction to determine 
whether actual vibration damage occurred.  A post-construction 
survey shall be conducted to document the condition of the 
surrounding buildings after the construction is complete. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of vibration reduction measures during project construction. 

 Retain all crack survey documentation required by the mitigation 
measure. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X X 



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 16 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

NOISE-4: PWD shall conduct post-construction noise measurements to 
ensure that operation of new equipment is in compliance with local noise 
ordinances at the property boundary. If operational noise exceeds local 
thresholds, then PWD shall implement further noise-reducing measures, 
such as enclosing noise generating-equipment, until facilities are in 
compliance with local ordinances. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain a qualified noise consultant to conduct post-construction noise 
measurements and implement noise-reducing measures, as 
applicable. 

 Retain noise measurement results in the project file. 

X X X X X X X X PWD   X 

Traffic and Transportation 
TR-1: PWD shall require the construction contractor to prepare and 
implement a Traffic Control/Traffic Management Plan subject to approval 
by the City of Palmdale, Caltrans, and/or the County of Los Angeles 
prior to construction. The plan shall include traffic counts on 
intersections near the proposed project facilities to determine existing 
traffic conditions. Based on these traffic counts, the Plan shall 
recommend mitigation to avoid impacts to existing traffic conditions. 
These mitigation measures shall include but shall not be limited to: 

 Identification of hours of construction and hours for deliveries, 
potentially avoiding the A.M. and P.M. peak hours to minimize 
disturbance on traffic flow; 

 Specification of both construction-related vehicle and oversize haul 
routes; alternative routes shall be proposed to avoid traffic disruption;  

 Identification of limits on the length of open trench, work area 
delineation, traffic control, flagging, and signage requirements; 

 Identification of all access and parking restrictions; 

 Maintenance of access and minimize disruption to residence and 
business driveways at all times to the extent feasible;  

 Layout of a plan for notifications and a process for communication 
with affected residents and businesses prior to the start of 
construction. Advance public notification shall include posting of 
notices and appropriate signage of construction activities. The written 
notification shall include the construction schedule, the exact location 
and duration of activities within each street (i.e., which lanes and 
access point/driveways would be blocked on which days and for how 
long), and a toll-free telephone number for receiving questions or 
complaints; 

 For construction activities within one-quarter mile of a school facility, 
inclusion of a plan to coordinate all construction activities with the 
Antelope Valley Union High School District and Palmdale School 
District, at least two months in advance. The Antelope Valley Union 
High School District and the Palmdale School District shall be 
notified of the timing, location, and duration of construction activities. 
The implementing agencies shall require its contractor to maintain 
vehicle, pedestrian, and school bus service during construction 
through inclusion of such provisions in the construction contract;  

 Specification of street restoration requirements pursuant to 
agreements with the local jurisdictions; 

 Development of circulation and detour plans to minimize impact to 
local street circulation, including bikeways. This may include the use 
of signing and flagging to guide vehicles and cyclists through and/or 
around the construction zone; and 

 Parking at staging areas to limit lane closures in the public right-of-
way. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain copies of all correspondence with the City of Palmdale, 
Caltrans, and the County of Los Angeles in the project file.  

 Retain copies of the Traffic Control/Traffic Management Plan in the 
project file. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of traffic control measures during project construction. 

 Maintain a record of collected information and written notifications in 
the project file. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Palmdale Water District Water System Master Plan 17 ESA / 160836.00 

Final Program EIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term 

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

TR-2: PWD shall require the construction contractor to coordinate all 
construction activities with emergency service providers in the area at 
least one month in advance. Emergency service providers shall be 
notified of the timing, location, and duration of construction activities. All 
roads shall remain passable to emergency service vehicles at all times. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Maintain a record of written notifications and correspondence with 
emergency service providers in the project file. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of traffic control measures and emergency access during project 
construction. 

 Maintain written inspection records in the project file to verify 
compliance. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
X X  

TR-3: PWD shall require the construction contractor to consult and 
coordinate with Metrolink and the Antelope Valley Transit Authority at 
least one month prior to construction of pipelines within roadways or 
rights-of way that coincide with bus or train routes, to determine whether 
construction of the proposed project would affect bus stop locations or 
otherwise disrupt public transit routes. A plan shall be developed to 
relocate bus stops or reroute buses to avoid disruption of transit service. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain copies of all correspondence with Antelope Valley Transit in 
the project file.  

 Retain copies of plans to avoid disruption of transit service in the 
project file.  

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
X X  

TR-4: PWD shall require the construction contractor to consult with the 
City and/or County if bicycle or pedestrian facilities would be directly 
affected by construction activities. This consultation shall inform the 
circulation and detour plans included in the Traffic Control/Traffic 
Management Plan designed to minimize impact to local street 
circulation, including bikeways. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications. 

 Retain copies of all correspondence with applicable jurisdictions in the 
project file. 

 Retain copies of the Traffic Control/Traffic Management Plan in the 
project file. 

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

contractors 
X X  

Tribal Cultural Resources 
TCR-1: Future AB 52 Consultation. Prior to development of all long-
term WSMP components, PWD shall provide formal notification to the 
designated contact of, or a tribal representative of, traditionally and 
culturally affiliated California Native American tribes that have requested 
notice. Formal notification shall be accomplished by means of at least 
one written notification that includes a brief description of the proposed 
project and its location, the PWD contact information, and a notification 
that the California Native American tribe has 30 days from receipt of the 
letter to request consultation. PWD shall begin the consultation process 
within 30 days of receiving a California Native American tribe’s request 
for consultation. The purpose of the consultation shall be to identify 
sites, features, places, cultural landscapes, sacred places, and objects 
with cultural value to a California Native American tribe that meet the 
definition of tribal cultural resources provided in CEQA Sections 
21074(a)(1) or 21074(a)(2) that could be affected by subsequent phases 
of the project. In addition, the California Native American tribe may 
request consultation regarding the type of environmental review 
necessary, the significance of tribal cultural resources, the significance 
of the project’s impacts on the tribal cultural resources, and, if 
necessary, project alternatives or the appropriate measures for 
preservation or mitigation. 

In the event that tribal cultural resources are identified, PWD shall 
develop mitigation measures, including, but not limited to, those 
recommended in Section 21084.3, capable of avoiding or substantially 
lessening potential significant impacts to a tribal cultural resource or 
alternatives that would avoid significant impacts to a tribal cultural 
resource, in consultation with the California Native American tribe. 
Consultation shall be considered complete when the parties agree to 
measures to mitigate or avoid a significant effect, if a significant effect 
exists, on a tribal cultural resource, or when a party, acting in good faith 

 PWD will contact affiliated tribes as required by AB 52 prior to design 
of long-term WSMP components.  

 Maintain a record of all formal notifications and consultation requests 
in the project file to verify compliance. 

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct routine inspections 
of any mitigation activities agreed upon in tribal consultations during 
project construction. 

   X X X X X PWD X X  



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

PWD Water System Master Plan 18 ESA / 160836 

Final PEIR November 2018 

Mitigation Measures Implementation, Monitoring, and Reporting Action 

Near-Term Long-Term

Responsibility 

Monitoring Schedule 

ST P Pipe ST P Pipe W HQ 
Before 

Construction 
During 

Construction 
After 

Construction 

and after reasonable effort, concludes that mutual agreement cannot be 
reached. 

Cumulative Impacts 
CUM-1: PWD shall communicate and coordinate project construction 
activities with other municipalities (e.g., City of Palmdale, County of Los 
Angeles) and agencies (e.g., Caltrans, LA County DPW) in the Antelope 
Valley. Phasing of project construction shall be coordinated to minimize 
cumulative impacts to noise and vibration and traffic and transportation. 

 Include mitigation measure in construction contractor specifications.

 Maintain a record of communication with municipalities and agencies
in the project file to verify compliance.

 Retain qualified noise/traffic consultants to coordinate with
municipalities and agencies on minimizing cumulative impacts
associated with project construction.

 Retain a qualified construction monitor to conduct and document
routine inspections of any mitigation measures during construction.

X X X X X X X X 
PWD; 

construction 
contractor 

X X



 

01184.0001/519405.2  1

RESOLUTION NO. 18-13 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT APPROVING AND ADOPTING 
THE WATER SYSTEM MASTER PLAN 

DATED DECEMBER 2016 
 
 
 

  WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 89-5 adopted August 8, 1989, the Palmdale Water 
District (“District”) adopted a Capital Improvement Plan (“CIP”) identifying capital 
facilities and improvements needed to accommodate anticipated growth and development 
within the District’s service area over the next seven years; 
 
 WHEREAS, the CIP was only part of a larger study then adopted by the District 
and entitled “Master Plan Supplement August, 1988,” which supplemented the District’s 
prior master plan; 
 
 WHEREAS, on an annual basis, the District reviewed and updated its master plan 
and in connection therewith, modified and updated the CIP; 
 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 96-7 adopted September 19, 1996, the District 
adopted a CIP identifying capital facilities and improvements needed to accommodate 
anticipated growth and development within the District’s service area over the next seven 
years; 
 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 01-09 adopted November 13, 2001, the District 
adopted a Water System Master Plan identifying capital facilities and improvements 
needed to accommodate anticipated growth and development within the District’s service 
area over the next nine years; 
 
 WHEREAS, there were no further updates to the 2001 Water System Master Plan 
and associated CIP due to a decline in development;  
 

WHEREAS, recognizing that development was increasing, the District retained 
Montgomery Watson to review, study, and update its Water Master Plan and, among 
other things, make recommendations concerning the CIP to meet projected needs through 
year 2030; 
 
 WHEREAS, in December, Montgomery Watson submitted its final report entitled 
Final Water System Master Plan Update (“2016 Water System Master Plan”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the District conducted an environmental assessment of the 2016 
Water System Master Plan pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act and prepared and certified a Final Program Environmental Impact Report 
(Final “PEIR”) relating thereto; 



01184.0001/519405.2 2

WHEREAS, the District has held a duly noticed public hearing with respect to the 
2016 Water System Master Plan and received and considered all written and oral 
testimony; and 

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it is in the best interests of the 
District, its existing and future customers, and the public generally, to approve and adopt 
the 2016 Water System Master Plan as prepared and submitted by Montgomery Watson, 
because, among other things, it will: 

(i) Serve as a basis for updating the CIP and determining future fees 
payable under District policy regarding capital improvement fees; 

(ii) Assist the District in making and implementing future budgeting 
decisions; and 

(iii) Provide a guide for future planning, development and expansion of 
the District’s water system through the year 2030, subject to the 
limitations set forth in the Final PEIR. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that based on the Board of Directors of 
the District: (i) finds that all of the above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated 
herein by reference; and (ii) based on the above findings and all the oral and written 
testimony received at the hearings, hereby approves the Water System Master Plan dated 
December 2016, as submitted by Montgomery Watson and adopts it as the District’s 
2016 Water System Master Plan. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED on this 26th day of November, 2018 by the Board of 
Directors of the Palmdale Water District. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

VINCENT DINO, President 

ATTEST: 

ROBERT ALVARADO, Assistant Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER, General Counsel 



01184.0001/519409.2 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 18-14 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 

THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT UPDATING CAPITAL  
IMPACT AND WATER SUPPLY FEES  

FOR NEW WATER SERVICE CONNECTIONS 

WHEREAS, following an update of its Water System Master Plan in 1989, Palmdale Water 
District ("District") adopted a Capital Improvement Plan ("CIP") and a Capital Improvement Fee 
Policy ("Policy") which is set forth in Exhibit "H" to the District's Rules and Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the Policy established Capital Impact Fees (“CIF”) to be paid in connection 
with new service connections within the District's service area; and 

WHEREAS, the new capital improvements identified in the CIP are the basis for 
determining the CIF under the Policy; and 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the CIF is to create a fund to finance the estimated reasonable 
cost of capital improvements shown on the CIP to meet anticipated demand for water service 
arising from new connections; and 

WHEREAS, as required under California Government Code Section 66002(b), the District 
has annually reviewed and, when necessary, updated the CIP and, based upon changes to the CIP, 
has modified the Policy and adjusted the CIF in accordance therewith; and 

WHEREAS, since the initial planning period for the CIP would have expired in 1996, the 
District engaged Montgomery Watson in June, 1995, to review, study and update its Water System 
Master Plan and to make recommendations to modify the CIP to meet projected needs and 
demands through the year 2005; and 

WHEREAS, in January, 1996, Montgomery Watson submitted its final report entitled 
Water System Master Plan ("1996 Master Plan"), which report, among other things, made 
recommendations concerning the CIP to meet projected growth and development through year 
2005; and 

WHEREAS, on September 19, 1996, the District adopted the 1996 Master Plan which 
contained an updated CIP; and 

WHEREAS, the 1996 Master Plan constituted an updating of the CIP, which update 
included the identification of recommended capital improvements to the District’s water system 
and the estimated cost of constructing the capital facilities required to accommodate projected 
growth and development through year 2005; and 

WHEREAS, following properly noticed and conducted public hearings in 1997, 1998, 
1999, and 2000, the District duly adopted resolutions which updated the Policy and modified the 
CIF; and 



01184.0001/519409.2   2 
 

 WHEREAS, in 2000, the District retained Montgomery Watson to review, study, and 
update the 1996 Master Plan and, among other things, make recommendations concerning the CIP 
to meet projected needs through year 2010; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in March 2001, Montgomery Watson submitted its final report entitled Water 
System Master Plan (“2001 Master Plan”) including recommended modifications of the CIP, and 
the District has approved that report and adopted it as the District’s 2001 Master Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, following properly noticed and conducted public hearings in 2001, 2002, 
2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006 the District adopted Resolutions which updated the Capital 
Improvement Policy and modified the CIF; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in light of the economic slowdown which impacted growth and development 
within the District between 2007 and 2012, the District did not make changes to the CIP over those 
years; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District in 2010 adopted a Strategic Water Resources Plan (“SWRP”), 
which sets forth recommended water supply acquisitions and projects necessary to meet future 
anticipated growth within the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, following a properly noticed and conducted public hearing in March, 2013, 
the District adopted a Resolution which updated the Capital Improvement Fee Policy and modified 
the CIF; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in 2013, the District retained Carollo Engineers to review, study, and calculate 
a proposed Water Supply Fee necessary to supply the next 14,000 acre feet per year of new water 
supply that will be necessary to meet anticipated growth and development within the District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the purpose of the Water Supply Fee is to create a fund to finance the 

estimated reasonable cost of capital projects and water acquisitions necessary to meet anticipated 
demand for water service arising from new connections; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the District has considered the water supply costs and costs of constructing 
the capital facilities identified in the SWRP and CIP, and the impact on the existing CIF payable 
under the Policy and determined that the Policy and the CIF should be modified; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in 2014, the District retained Montgomery Watson to review, study, and 
update the 2001 Master Plan; and 
  

WHEREAS, in January 2016, Montgomery Watson submitted its final report entitled 
Water System Master Plan ("2016 Master Plan"), which report, among other things, made 
recommendations concerning the CIP to meet projected growth and development through year 
2030; and 

 
WHEREAS, in 2016, the District retained ESA Water to complete a Program 

Environmental Impact Report (Final PEIR) for the 2016 Master Plan; and 



01184.0001/519409.2 3 

WHEREAS, in September 2018, ESA Water submitted its Final PEIR which report, among 
other things includes a programmatic assessment of the entire 2016 Master Plan and a project-
level assessment of facilities to be implemented in the first phase of the Capital Improvement Plan; 
and 

WHEREAS, on November 26, 2018 the District Board of Directors adopted the 2016 
Master Plan and certified the Final PEIR; and 

WHEREAS, the District has held a duly noticed public hearing with respect to the proposed 
update to the CIF payable thereunder; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Palmdale Water District has found and determined 
that the establishment of Capital Impact Fees is exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act pursuant to California Public Resources Code Section 21080(b)(8) and 
further has found and determined that said fees are for the purpose of obtaining funds for capital 
projects necessary to maintain service within existing service areas. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, the Board of Directors of Palmdale Water 
District: (i) finds that all of the above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by 
reference; and (ii) based on the above findings and all the oral and written testimony received at 
the hearing, hereby adopts and updates the CIF by deleting the existing Table 1 from Appendix 
"H" to the District's Rules and Regulations and inserting in place thereof proposed Table 1 attached 
hereto and incorporated herein. 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the General Manager of the District is hereby authorized and 
directed to implement this updated Capital Impact Fee until further order of the Board. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District at a 
duly called and noticed public meeting of said Board held on November 26, 2018. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

VINCENT DINO, President 
ATTEST: 

ROBERT ALVARADO, Assistant Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER, General Counsel 



Revised 10/18/2018 

APPENDIX H 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FEE 

1. Capital Improvement Fees per Article 10.07C:

Table 1 
CAPITAL IMPACT FEE 

(EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 1, 2019‐DECEMBER 31, 2019)
(PER SINGLE‐FAMILY DWELLING UNIT) 
(FEES BASED ON JULY 2018 COSTS) 

SERVICE ZONE 
PROPOSED 

INFRASTRUCTURE     
($/EDU) 

WATER SUPPLY
($/SFDU) 

TOTAL 

2800' & 2850' $3,541 $8,128 $11,669 

2950' & 3000' $9,816 $8,196 $18,012 

3200' & 3250' $12,028 $7,852 $19,880 

3400' & 3600'+ $14,316 $7,852 $22,168 

CAPITAL IMPACT FEE 
(EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 1, 2019‐DECEMBER 31, 2019)

(COMMERCIAL /INDUSTRIAL) 
(FEES BASED ON JULY 2018 COSTS) 

SERVICE ZONE 
PROPOSED 

INFRASTRUCTURE     
($/EDU) 

WATER SUPPLY
($/AFY) 

TOTAL 

2800' & 2850'  $3,541  $12,234 

BASED ON EDU'S & 
AFY 

2950' & 3000'  $9,816  $12,234 

3200' & 3250'  $12,028  $12,234 

3400' & 3600' +  $14,316  $12,234 

Subsequent updates to the Capital Impact Fees(CIF) will modify the fees shown 
in Table 1, plus a percentage increase based on the published Construction Cost Index 
from data provided by Engineering-News Record.   The frequency of updates will depend 
on the growth in water demands in the District service areas, the CIF collected and the 
need for additional facilities. 



Revised 10/18/2018 

Once the modified Capital Infrastructure Fee and Water Supply Fee is in place, 
the District will segregate the revenues derived from said fees and hold and account for 
them as specified in Government Code Sections 66001 and 66006. The revenue 
generated by these CIF fees will only be used on water supply acquisitions and projects 
associated with new water supply related to new development. 
     
2. Commercial/Industrial, Multifamily Residential, and Single Family Residential 

Developments per Article 10.07: 
 
  For all projects proposing new water service connections, including 

domestic, irrigation, or fire protection, or projects with no new connections but 
conditioned with fire flow demands which exceed the original project demands, 
the capital improvement fees for commercial/industrial, multifamily residential, 
and single family residential developments shall be calculated as follows: 

 
   The capital improvement fee shall be calculated by adding the fire flow 

demand based on the ratio of fire flow requirements above and beyond that 
required for a single family residence, 1,250 gpm for 2 hours, and the domestic 
water demand.  The result of these two components represent the total number of 
equivalent single family units of the development.  It is then multiplied by the 
capital improvement fee required for a single family residence in the subject water 
service zone as shown in Table 1. 

 
  The domestic water demand for commercial/industrial developments is 

established as the ratio of the requested metered water service connection(s) to a 
¾” water service connection.  The domestic water demand for multifamily 
residential developments is established as one-half the number of units in a 
multifamily residential development. 

 
  The domestic water demand for requested water service connections with 

no fire flow requirements, such as irrigation services, is established as the ratio of 
the requested metered water service connection(s) to a ¾” water service 
connection.  There will be no fire flow demand included for these water service 
connections. 

 
  The following formulae summarize the procedure for 

commercial/industrial, multifamily residential, and single family residential 
developments: 

 
Commercial/Industrial and Single Family Residential Development CIF Calculation 

 
  C.I.F. = | (PFFD + OSFFD) - (pffd + osffd) +   DSD2 |  (Z) 
    |  (1250)(2)       0.752   | 
 

Multifamily Residential Development CIF Calculation 
 

  C.I.F. = | (PFFD + OSFFD) – (pffd + osffd) +  (MFU)(0.5) | (Z) 
    |  (1250)(2)    | 



Revised 10/18/2018 

 
 
Definition of Formulae Terms 

 
AFY = Acre Feet Per Year 
C.I.F. = Capital Improvement Fee 
PFFD = New Public Fire Flow Demand = (GPM)(HR) 
OSFFD= New On-Site Fire Flow Demand = (GPM)(HR) 
DSD = Domestic Service Diameter 
MFU = Multifamily Residential Units 
Z = C.I.F. for Single Family Residential in the Subject Zone 
pffd = Old Public Fire Flow Demand = (GPM)(HR) 
osffd = Old On-Site Fire Flow Demand = (GPM)(HR) 
 
Examples: 
 
 
 1) If a commercial/industrial development in the 2800’ Zone has a public fire 
flow requirement of 2,500 gpm for 2 hours, an on-site fire flow requirement of 1,250 gpm 
for 2 hours, and a 2-inch domestic service, the capital improvement fee would be 
calculated as follows: 
 
  C.I.F. = | (2,500)(2) + (1,250)(2)   +  2.02    |  ($3,761) 
    | (1250)(2)           0.752  | 
 
  C.I.F. = (3.00 + 7.11)($3,761) = (10.11)($3,761) = $38,023.71 
 
 
 2) If a multifamily residential development in the 2800’ Zone has a public 
fire flow requirement of 2,500 gpm for 2 hours, an on-site fire flow requirement of 1,250 
gpm for 2 hours, and 100 residential units, the capital improvement fee would be 
calculated as follows: 
 
  C.I.F. = | (2,500)(2) + (1,250)(2)         +     (100)(0.5) |  ($3,761) 
    | (1250)(2)            | 
 
  C.I.F. = (3.00 + 50.00)($3,761) = (53.00)($3,761) = $199,333.00 
 
 
 3) If a 1.5-inch irrigation service is requested, the capital improvement fee 
would be calculated as follows: 
 
  C.I.F. = | 0        +  1.502 |  ($3,761) 
    |  0.752 | 
 
  C.I.F. = (0 + 4.00)($3,761) = (4.00)($3,761) = $15,044.00 
 
Revised 9/13/04    -3- 



Revised 10/18/2018 

4) If an existing commercial/industrial, multifamily residential or single
family residential development in the 2800 zone is conditioned with a new public fire 
flow requirement which has been increased or upgraded to 2,500 gpm for 2 hours from 
1,250 gpm for 2 hours but having no new or upgraded service connection, the capital 
improvement fee would be calculated as follows: 

C.I.F. = | (2,500)(2)-(1,250)(2) |  (Z) 
| (1,250)(2) | 

C.I.F. = (1)($3,761) = $3,761 

3. Reactivation of Inactive Service.
1) Reactivation of Inactive Service Connection with Same Size Connection

or Smaller Connection – Capital Improvement Fee Previously Paid:  In the event an 
inactive service connection (i.e., a service connection that has not received water service 
from the District for over 5 years) that previously paid a Capital Improvement Fee to the 
District desires to reactivate service with the same size service connection as initially 
installed, or a smaller size connection, that service connection shall pay to the District the 
current Capital Improvement Fee for that size connection, as determined in accordance 
with the formula set forth in this Appendix H, less a credit in the amount of the Capital 
Improvement Fee previously paid with respect to that service connection; provided, 
however, that if a smaller connection is requested, in no event shall that service 
connection be entitled to a refund of any portion of the previously paid Capital 
Improvement Fee. 

2) Reactivation of Inactive Service Connection With Larger Connection –
Capital Improvement Fee Previously Paid for Existing Size Connection:  In the event an 
inactive service connection, as defined in Paragraph 1), above, that previously paid a 
Capital Improvement Fee to the District desires to reactivate service with a larger size 
connection than initially installed, that service connection shall pay to the District the 
current Capital Improvement Fee for that larger connection, as determined in accordance 
with the formula set forth in this Appendix H, less a credit in the amount of the Capital 
Improvement Fee previously paid with respect to that service connection. 

3) Reactivation of Inactive Service Connection – Capital Improvement Fee
Not Previously Paid:  In the event an inactive service connection, as defined in Paragraph 
1), above, desires to reactivate service, but no Capital Improvement Fee has ever been 
paid to the District with respect to that service connection, that service connection shall 
pay to the District the current Capital Improvement Fee for the size connection being 
reactivated. 

4) Payment of Additional Capital Improvement Fees:  Pursuant to Rule 10.11
of these Rules and Regulations, the District shall not be obligated to provide service to 
any service connection until any supplemental Capital Improvement Fees payable under 
subparagraphs 1 through 3, above, have been paid in full. 



- 1 - 

10.07: CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FEE (Revised 8-7-18) 

In order to provide funds for the construction of District facilities and 

acquisition of water supply to meet water demands created by future 

development, the Board has determined that developers shall be required to 

contribute toward the cost of constructing the additional facilities and 

acquisition of water supply required to meet increasing demands for water 

service.  In order to implement this determination and to comply with all legal 

requirements pertaining to such development fees, the Board authorized a 

study of the District's water system, facilities, and water supply which resulted 

in an updated master plan known as "2016 Water System Master Plan 

Update” and the development of the “2010 Strategic Water Resources Plan”. 

All of these documents constitute the District's Capital Improvement Plan in 

which costs shall be updated each year to reflect increase in construction 

costs.  To the extent any such update changes the Capital Improvement Plan 

or Schedule of Capital Impact Fees (CIF) based on the actual costs or 

estimated costs tied to the Construction Cost Index, this policy shall also be 

updated and modified to be consistent with said changes and modified plan. 

Resolution No. 18-14 and Table 1 under Appendix H incorporates the 

proposed modifications to the existing Capital Impact Fees and incudes the 

Water Supply Component of said fees adopted in 2014 and updated using 

Construction Cost Index from Engineering-News Record online services. The 

following table summarizes the proposed fees for the period of February 1, 

2019 – December 31, 2019. 



  - 2 - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Subsequent updates to the Capital Impact Fees(CIF) will modify the 

fees shown in Table 1, plus a percentage increase based on the 

published Construction Cost Index from data provided by Engineering-

News Record.   The updates will make the necessary adjustments for 

fees collected and fees projected to be collected. The frequency of 

updates will depend on the growth in water demands in the District 

service areas, the CIF collected and the need for additional facilities. 

 

Once the modified Capital Improvement Fee and Water Supply Fee is 

in place, the District will segregate the revenues derived from said fees 

CAPITAL IMPACT FEE 
(EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 1, 2019‐DECEMBER 31, 2019)      

(PER SINGLE‐FAMILY DWELLING UNIT) 

SERVICE ZONE 

PROPOSED 

INFRASTRUCTURE   
($/EDU) 

WATER SUPPLY*    
($/SFDU) 

TOTAL 

2800' & 2850'  $3,541  $8,128  $11,669 

2950' & 3000'  $9,816  $8,196  $18,012 

3200' & 3250'  $12,028  $7,852  $19,880 

3400' & 3600'+   $14,316  $7,852  $22,168 

CAPITAL IMPACT FEE 
(EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 1, 2019‐DECEMBER 31, 2019)      

(COMMERCIAL /INDUSTRIAL) 

SERVICE ZONE 

PROPOSED 

INFRASTRUCTURE   
($/EDU) 

WATER SUPPLY*    
($/AFY) 

TOTAL 

2800' & 2850'  $3,541  $12,234 

BASED ON EDU'S 
& AFY 

2950' & 3000'  $9,816  $12,234 

3200' & 3250'  $12,028  $12,234 

3400' & 3600' +  $14,316  $12,234 



  - 3 - 

and hold and account for them as specified in Government Code 

Sections 66001 and 66006. The revenue generated by these CIF fees 

will only be used on water supply acquisitions and projects associated 

with new water supply related to new development. 

A Purpose:  The purpose of the Capital Impact Fee is to create a fund to 

finance the estimated reasonable cost of capital improvements required 

to meet anticipated demands for water service arising from new 

residential, commercial and industrial development within the 

District's service area. 

B. Elevation Zones:  Given the nature of a water service system and the 

topographic and geographic characteristics of the District's service 

area, the Infrastructure component of the Capital Impact Fees to be 

imposed on new developments are segregated by elevation zone. The 

purpose of this segregation is, to the extent possible, to fairly allocate 

the fees accordingly to the benefit derived from the capital 

improvements to be constructed.  Accordingly, different fees will be 

charged under this policy depending upon the elevation zone in which 

the ultimate water consumer is or will be located, as well as by type of 

service involved. 

C. Single Family Residential Connections:  The Board has determined 

that anticipated water usage based on historical data should be the 

primary basis for determining Capital Impact Fees for residential 

connections.  Residential water usage varies depending on whether the 

connection is for a single family residence or part of a larger 

residential complex such as apartments, condominiums or mobile 

home parks.  As explained in the study, the District made an analysis 

of water usage by type of residential dwelling unit.  This analysis led 

to the development of an "single family dwelling unit or equivalent 

dwelling unit" equating two multiple family dwelling units to each 



  - 4 - 

single family dwelling unit for purposes of the Capital Impact Fee as 

applied to residential units.  Thus, developers of residential units, 

regardless of type, are assessed a Capital Impact Fee for each single 

family dwelling unit or equivalent dwelling unit, depending upon the 

applicable elevation zone.  The schedule of such fees applicable to 

single family residential units is set forth in Table 1 of Appendix H. In 

cases where a single family residential connection requires a fire flow 

requirement specified by the County of Los Angeles which is in excess 

of 1250 GPM for two hours, the method of calculating said Capital 

Impact Fee is attached hereto as Appendix H. 

D. Commercial/Industrial and Multifamily Residential Connections:  

The Board has determined fire flow requirements specified by the 

County of Los Angeles and the domestic usage of these connections 

should be the primary basis for determining the Capital Impact Fees 

for commercial/industrial and multifamily residential connections. The 

developer will be assessed a Capital Impact Fee based upon the fire 

flow and domestic water demands. The method of calculating Capital 

Impact Fees for commercial/industrial and multifamily residential 

developments are set forth in Appendix H. 

E. Temporary Structure Connections:  The Board recognizes that the 

amount of the capital improvement charge for nonresidential services 

should be adjusted in the event the structure to which service is to be 

provided is a temporary structure.  The District policy is to provide for 

some proportionate reimbursement of such charges based upon the 

duration of service.  For purposes of this paragraph, a "temporary 

structure" is one manufactured under state license in whole or in 

sections in a factory, transported to a site, placed and, if in sections, 

joined together thereon and may be disconnected and removed in the 



- 5 - 

same configuration as initially delivered and placed.  When a party 

applies for water service for a temporary structure, the District Capital 

Impact Fees calculated pursuant to Appendix H shall be applied and 

paid.  In the event that the water service is discontinued and the 

temporary structure removed from the site prior to the running of a 10 

year period following payment of the  Capital Impact Fee, the District 

will reimburse the applicant, or the applicant's designated successor, 

an amount equal to: 

Reimbursement =  CIF - CIF (n)  

120 

For purposes of this formula, the following definitions apply: 

1. "C.I.F." means the amount of Capital Impact Fees originally

paid.

2. "n" means the time expressed in months up to a maximum of

120 months that water service was provided to the temporary

structure following payment of the Capital Impact Fees.



Cost Estimate
A. Entire System

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018

2. Headquarters Building Expansion (21,000 square feet at $200 per square foot from R.S. Means) $4,200,000

3. Headquarters and other buildings remodeling to service growth in population $2,000,000

4. Littlerock Sediment Removal Grade Control (plus engineering and environmental) $10,800,000

5. Littlerock Sediment Removal EIS/EIR Preparation and Design (January 2015 to August 2018) $1,010,057

6. Engineering and Environmental for Water Master Plan (costs 2015 to 2018) $345,407

Sub-Total for Entire System $18,355,464

B. 2800 Zone

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 -$1,168,266

2. New 4.0 MG storage tank at existing 45th Street Location  (FS-04) $8,409,152

3. New fire flow deficiency pipe of 2,675 feet length  (FF-01) $778,655

4. New fire flow deficiency pipe of 965 feet length (FF-04) $280,898

5. New well #36 near 375 feet S/O Ave P and 440 feet W/O 20th St. E. (FW-04) $1,293,716

6. New Well # 37 near  1000 feet N/O Ave P and 1000 feet W/O 15th St. E. (FW-05) $1,293,716

7. Expansion Pipeline of 850 linear feet of 16" diameter $330,029

8. Expansion Pipeline of 94 linear feet of 30" diameter $69,103

9. Velocity deficiency pipeline of 23 linear feet of 20" diameter $11,246

10. Velocity deficiency pipeline of 23 linear feet of 24" diameter $787,376

Sub-Total for 2800 zone $12,085,624

C. 2850 Zone

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 $0

2. New 2.0 MG storage tank at existing 50th Street location (FS-03) $4,851,434

3. Expansion Pipeline of 2,702 linear feet of 16" diameter $1,048,662

Sub-Total for 2850 zone $5,900,096

2016 Water System Master Plan Recommended Improvements
Features Required from 2015 to 2030_



 

Cost Estimate

D. 2950 Zone

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 -$242,303

2. New 4.2 MG storage tank near Sierra Highway and Rae Street (ES-03) $8,829,610

3.  New 5.7 MG storage tank on 47th Street East, South of East Avenue T-8 (FS-02) $11,061,269

4.  New pump at existing Clearwell 2950 booster pump station  (FB-04)(serves multi-zone) $927,163

(note: construct FB-04  with first 2,490 EDU's in Zones 2950, 3200, 3400 W and 3600 W)
5.  New Well # 28 on 70th St. and East Avenue S requires equipping (FW-01) $646,858

6.  New Well #27 on 70 St north of Well #25 requires equipping (FW-02) $646,858

7.  New Well #34 requires equipping (FW-03) $646,858

8.  New fire flow deficiency pipe 1,570 feet length (FF-05) $609,340

9.  New fire flow deficiency pipe 48 feet length (FF-06) $9,315

10. Expansion  Pipeline of 5,871 linear feet of 16" diameter $2,278,519

11.  Expansion Pipeline of 1,024 linear feet of 18" diameter $452,840

12.  Expansion Pipeline of 564 linear feet of 20" diameter $273,482

13.  Expansion Pipeline of 25,465 linear feet of 20" diameter (serves multi-zones) $12,354,044

14. Expansion  Pipeline of 3,585 linear feet of 24" diameter $2,087,017

15. Expanision Pipeline of 1,228 linear feet of 24" diameter (serves mulit-zones) $715,148

16. Expansion Pipeline of 150 linear feet of 36" diameter (serves multi-zones) $130,989

17. Expansion  Pipeline of 87 linear feet of 42" diameter $89,473

18. Expansion Pipeline of 100 linear feet of 42" diameter (serves multi-zones) $102,419

19.  Velocity deficiency pipeline of 96 linear feet of 16" diameter $37,240

20.  Velocity deficiency pipeline of 516 linear feet of 20" diameter $250,533

21.  Velocity deficiency pipeline of 231 linear feet of 24" diameter $134,627

Sub-Total for 2950 zone $42,041,299

E. 3000 Zone

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 -$19,884

2. Expansion Pipeline of 3,462 linear feet of 20' diameter $1,679,329

3. Expansion Pipleline of 1,494 linear feet of 20" daimeter (serves multi-zones) $724,984

4. Expansion Pipeline of 120 linear feet of 24" diameter $69,861

5. Expansion Pipeline of 412 linear feet of 30" diameter $302,069

6. Expansion Pipeline of 370 linear feet of 30" diameter (serves multi-zones) $271,029

Sub-total for 3,000 zone $3,027,388

F. 3200 Zone

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 $0

2.  New pump at Lower El Camino Pump Station (FB-03) (serves multi-zones) $884,039

(note construct FB-03 pump after  2,592 EDU's in Zones 3200, 3400 and 3600)
3.  Expansion Pipeline of 11.528 linear feet of 16" diameter $4,474,206

4.  Expansion Pipeline of 33 linear feet of 20" diameter $16,157

5. Expansion Pipeline of 586 feet of 20" diameter (serves multi-zones) $284,343

6.  Expansion Pipeline of 20 linear feet of 24" diameter $11,591

Sub-Total for 3200 zone $5,670,336

2016 Water System Master Plan Recommended Improvements
Features Required from 2015 to 2030_



Cost Estimate

G. 3250 Zone

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 $0

2. New 3.1 MG storage tank near 47th Street and East Avenue V4 (south of Barrel  Springs
Road) (ES-02) $7,018,408

3. Existing Fire pump deficiency at existing T-8 Pump Station 3250 Zone (EB-02) $937,944

4. Existing Fire pumps deficiency at existing Hilltop Pump Station 3250 C Zone  (EB-03) $743,887

5. Existing Fire pump deficiency at existing 5 MG Booster pump station 3250 A Zone (EB-04) $689,982

6. Expansion Pipeline of 13,794 linear feet of 16" diameter $5,353,662

7. Expansion Pipeline of 5,394 linear feet of 24" diameter $3,139,945

Sub-Total for 3250 zone $17,883,827

H. 3400 Zone 

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 -$4,910

2. New 0.75 MG storage tank Quail Valley Development  (FS-01) $2,425,717

3. New 2.0 MG storage tank on Mt. Emma Road and 47th Street East (FS-05) $4,851,434

4. Existing fire pump deficiency  at existing V-5 pump station  3400 E zone(EB-01) $2,813,832

5. New fire flow deficiency pipe 1,400 feet length (FF-07) $271,680

6. Expansion Pipeline of 143 linear feet of 16" diameter $55,339

7. Expansion Pipeline of 3,028 linear feet of 20" diameter $1,468,971

8. New pump at Underground Pump Station  to 3400 Zone $743,887

Sub-Total for 3400 zone $12,625,950

I. 3600 Zone

1. Adjustments for CIF Collected from 2014 to July 2018 -$19,315

2. New 1.0MG storage tank Quail Valley Development (ES-01 ) $2,910,860

3. New pump to 3600 W. Zone at Ft Booster pump station (FB-01) $366,553

Sub-Total for 3600 zone $3,258,098

Total Recommended Capital Improvement Plan $122,302,760

2016 Water System Master Plan Recommended Improvements
Features Required from 2015 to 2030_



Palmdale Water District  1 2016 Water System Master Plan

CAPITAL IMPACT FEES 
2014 AND PROPOSED 2019 

Table 11-1 
2014 Approved Capital Impact Fee per Service Zone 

Single Family 
($ per Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) 

Commercial and Industrial 

Zone Infrastructure Water 
Supply

Total Infrastructure 
Water 
Supply 

($/AFY) 
Total 

2800’ & 2850’ $1,441 $7,288 $8,729 $1,441 $10,970 

Based on 
EDU’s & 
AFY 

2950’ & 3000’ $1,161 $7,349 $8,510 $1,161 $10,970 

3200 & 3250 $9,089 $7,041 $16,130 $9,089 $10,970 

3400 & 3600 
plus 

$12,274 $7,041 $19,315 $12,274 $10,970 

2800 & 2850 2950 & 3000 3200 & 3250 3400 & 3600+
Infrastructure $3,541 $9,816 $12,028 $14,316

Water Supply $8,128 $8,196 $7,852 $7,852

Total CIF $11,669 $18,012 $19,880 $22,168

(Single Family Dwelling Unit)
Table 11-7  -  Proposed 2018 Capital Impact Fee (CIF)

2800 & 2850 2950 & 3000 3200 & 3250 3400 & 3600+
Infrastructure $3,541 $9,816 $12,028 $14,316

Water Supply ($/AFY) $12,234 $12,234 $12,234 $12,234

Total CIF

(Commercial and Industrial)

Based on EDU's and AFY of Water

Table 11-8  -  Proposed 2018 Capital Impact Fee (CIF)



P A L M D A L E   W A T E R   D I S T R I C T

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: November 15, 2018 November 26, 2018 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Jennifer Emery, Human Resources Director 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.5 – CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON 
APPROVAL OF MUTUAL RESPONSE AGREEMENT – LOS ANGELES 
COUNTY WATER AGENCY MUTUAL ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT 
THROUGH THE PUBLIC WATER AGENCIES GROUP. (NO BUDGET 
IMPACT – HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR EMERY)  

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the Board take action to authorize the Palmdale Water District to 
execute a Mutual Response Agreement – Los Angeles County Water Agency Mutual Assistance 
Agreement.  

Alternative Options: 

The Board cannot approve the Agreement. 

Impact of Taking No Action: 

The District would not be a party to any mutual aid from the members of the Public Water 
Agencies Group. 

Background: 

In an effort coordinated through the Public Water Agencies Group (PWAG), participating 
member agencies and mutual water companies have established a more formal means of providing 
mutual aid in the event of a localized emergency and/or a catastrophic event through the 
Agreement.  The Agreement has been vetted by each of the seventeen PWAG-Emergency 
Response Members’ staff and also utilizes the best concepts from the California Water/Wastewater 
Agency Response Network (CalWARN), Water Emergency Response of Los Angeles County 
(WERLAC), Foothill MWD Agencies, and a previous PWAG draft agreement. 

The PWAG Mutual Aid Agreement provides its member agencies with: 

 A means for public works agencies to receive mutual aid quickly following a localized or a
more wide-spread catastrophic disaster or declared emergencies.

 The resources to respond and recover more quickly from a disaster.

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.5



2 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager November 15, 2018 

 A mutual assistance program consistent with other statewide mutual aid programs and the
Standardized Emergency Management System and the National Incident Management System.

 A forum for developing and maintaining emergency contacts and relationships.
 New ideas from ‘lessons learned in disasters.’

A final draft of the proposed agreement was routed to all PWAG member agencies for 
comment and a final copy (attached) is provided for review and approval by the governing bodies 
of each agency.   

The Agreement will be administered through the Public Water Agencies Group Emergency 
Preparedness Coordinator and the Emergency Preparedness Coordinator Administrative 
Committee.  If adopted, participation in the Agreement is voluntary.  An agency is not obligated 
to provide or deplete its own resources and should reasonably commit and utilize its own resources 
to meet its needs before requesting or providing mutual aid. There are no fiscal impacts by 
becoming party to this agreement. The member requesting assistance will reimburse the 
responding PWAG member for personnel, equipment, materials and supplies, and supplemental 
water, in accordance with the Agreement’s terms. 

Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 5 – Regional Leadership. 
This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 

Budget: 

There is no budget impact. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Mutual Response Agreement – Los Angeles County Water Agency Mutual Assistance
Agreement



1 

Mutual Response Agreement 
Los Angeles County Water Agency Mutual Assistance Agreement 

This AGREEMENT is made and entered into by the signatories to this Agreement, as listed on 
Exhibit A hereto, which have adopted and signed this agreement to provide mutual assistance 
in times of emergency in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act and the 
California Disaster and Civil Defense Master Mutual Aid Agreement; and to provide 
reimbursement for equipment, supplies and personnel made available on an emergency basis 
as specified herein. 

Said water utilities are individually referred to herein as a “Member Utility” and all of said water 
utilities are referred to herein collectively as "the parties." 

In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, the parties agree 
to provide mutual assistance to one another in times of emergency as follows: 

ARTICLE I. 
PURPOSE 

Recognizing that emergencies may require assistance in the form of personnel, equipment, and 
supplies from outside the area of an emergency’s impact, the parties hereby establish an 
Intrastate Program for Mutual Aid, Response and Assistance. Through this Mutual Aid, 
Response and Assistance Program (the “Program”), Members coordinate response activities 
and share resources during emergencies and assist during local emergencies or planned or 
unplanned outages, as defined herein. This Agreement sets forth the procedures and standards 
for the administration of the Program among the parties.  

ARTICLE II. 
DEFINITIONS 

A. Authorized Official – An employee or officer of a Member Utility who is authorized to: 
1. Request assistance;
2. Offer assistance;
3. Refuse to offer assistance or
4. Withdraw assistance under this agreement.

B. Emergency – A natural or human caused event or circumstance causing, or imminently 
threatening to cause, impact to the operations of a Member Utility’s system, loss of life, 
injury to person or property, human suffering, or financial loss, and includes, but is not 
limited to, fire, flood, severe weather, earthquake, civil disturbance, riot, explosion, drought, 
volcanic activity, spills or releases of oil or hazardous materials, contamination, utility or 
transportation emergencies, disease, blight, infestation, intentional acts, sabotage, 
declaration of war, or other conditions which is, or is likely to be, beyond the control of the 
services, personnel, equipment, and facilities of a Member Utility and requires mutual 
assistance. 

C. Members or Member Utilities – Any public or private water utility that manifests intent to 
participate in the Program by executing this Agreement.  



 2  

1. Associate Member – Any non-utility participant, approved by the Committee defined in 
Article III below, that provides a support role for the Program.  
 

2. Requesting Member – A Member Utility who requests aid or assistance under the 
Program.   
 

3. Responding Member – A Member Utility that responds to a request for aid or 
assistance under the Program.  
 

4. Non-Responding Member - A Member Utility or Associate Member that does not 
provide aid or assistance during a Period of Assistance under the Program. 

 
D. Confidential Information - Any document shared with any signatory of this Agreement that 

is marked confidential, including but not limited to any map, report, notes, papers, opinion, 
or e-mail which relates to the system vulnerabilities of a Member Utility or Associate 
Member. 

 
E. Period of Assistance – A specified period of time when a Responding Member assists a 

Requesting Member.  The period commences when personnel, equipment, or supplies 
depart from Responding Member’s facility and ends when the resources return to their 
facility (portal to portal).  All protections identified in this Agreement apply during this period.  
The specified Period of Assistance may occur during response to or recovery from an 
Emergency, as previously defined, or during an Outage, as defined herein. 

 
F. National Incident Management System (NIMS) - A national, standardized approach to 

incident management and response that sets uniform processes and procedures for 
emergency response operations. 

 
G. Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) - A standardized approach to 

field command and jurisdictional management and response set forth by State of California 
Code of Regulations for multi-agency or multi-jurisdictional response to an emergency. 

 
H. Outage – A period of time where a Member’s water supply is interrupted to the extent that 

the interruption jeopardizes the health and safety of the Member’s customers.  An Outage is 
“planned” when the Member is given at least three (3) days prior notice of the interruption in 
supply.  An Outage is “unplanned” when the Outage occurs without at least three (3) days 
prior notice of the interruption in supply, including when the Outage occurs unexpectedly.  

  
 

ARTICLE III. 
ADMINISTRATION 

 
The Program shall be administered through the Public Water Agencies Group Emergency 
Preparedness Coordinator (the “Coordinator”) and the Emergency Preparedness Coordinator 
Administrative Committee (the “Committee”).   
 
The purpose of the Committee is to provide local coordination of the Program before, during, 
and after an Emergency or Outage.  The Committee shall meet as frequently as necessary, but 
at least quarterly, to address Program issues and review emergency preparedness and 
response procedures. The Committee will be made up of at least five (5) representatives 
selected from among the Member Utilities.  The Committee members shall work with the 



 3  

Coordinator to plan and coordinate emergency planning and response activities for the 
Program, and shall ensure that all Member Utilities are informed of such activities and have the 
opportunity to participate in all related planning and training activities.   
 
 

ARTICLE IV. 
PROCEDURES 

 
A. In coordination with the Committee, emergency management and public health systems of 

the state, the Committee and Coordinator shall develop operational and planning 
procedures for the Program. These procedures shall be consistent with the Standardized 
Emergency Management System (SEMS), the National Incident Management System 
(NIMS) and this Agreement. These procedures shall be reviewed at least annually and 
updated as needed by the Committee and Coordinator. 

 
B. Requests for emergency assistance or assistance with any Outage under this Agreement 

shall be directed to the appropriate Authorized Official(s) from the list of Members. 
 
 

ARTICLE V.  
REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE  

 
In general, assistance will be in the form of resources, such as equipment, supplemental water 
supplies, other supplies, and personnel. Assistance shall be given only when a Responding 
Member determines that its own needs can be met while rendering assistance. The execution of 
this Agreement shall not create any duty to respond on the part of any party hereto. A potential 
Responding Member shall not be held liable for failing to provide assistance. A potential 
Responding Member has the absolute discretion to decline to provide any requested 
assistance. 
 
A. Responsibility- Members shall identify an Authorized Official and alternates; provide 

contact information including 24-hour access and maintain resource information that may be 
available from the utility for mutual aid and assistance response. Such contact information 
shall be updated annually or when changes occur, and be promptly provided to the 
Coordinator.  

 
B. Member Request- In the event of an Emergency or Outage (planned or unplanned), a 

Member’s Authorized Official may request mutual aid and assistance from a participating 
Member.  Requests for assistance can be made orally or in writing.  When made orally, the 
request for personnel, equipment, supplemental water supplies and other supplies shall be 
prepared in writing as soon as practicable.  Requests for assistance shall be directed to the 
Authorized Official of the participating Member.  Specific protocols for requesting aid shall 
be provided in the required procedures to be established by the Committee pursuant to 
Article IV hereof. 

 
C.  Response to a Request for Assistance – Members are not obligated to respond to a 

Requesting Member’s request. After a Member receives a request for assistance, that 
Member’s Authorized Official evaluates whether or not to respond, whether resources are 
available to respond, or if other circumstances would hinder response.  Following the 
evaluation, that Member’s Authorized Representative shall inform, as soon as possible, the 
Requesting Member whether that Member will respond.  If the Member is willing and able to 



 4  

provide assistance, the Member shall inform the Requesting Member about the type of 
available resources and the approximate arrival time of such assistance.  If a Member 
determines it cannot respond to a request for assistance, that Member shall not be 
responsible for any consequences associated with its failure to respond. 

 
D. Discretion of Responding Member’s Authorized Official – Execution of this Agreement 

does not create any duty for a Member to respond to a request for assistance.  When a 
Member receives a request for assistance, the Authorized Official shall have sole and 
absolute discretion as to whether or not to respond, or the availability of resources to be 
used in such response.  An Authorized Member’s decisions on the availability of resources 
shall be final.   

 
 ARTICLE VI.  

RESPONSE COORDINATION 
  
When providing assistance under this Agreement, the Requesting Member and Responding 
Member shall be organized and shall function under the Standard Emergency Management 
System and National Incident Management System protocols and procedures. 
 
A. Personnel- Responding Member retains the right to identify the specific employees to be 

provided to a Requesting Member and the resources that are available. 
 
B.  Control – While employees so provided may be under the supervision of the 
      Responding Member, the Responding Member’s employees come under the direction and 

control of the Requesting Member, consistent with the NIMS Incident Command System to 
address the needs identified by the Requesting Member. The Requesting 
Member’s Authorized Official shall coordinate response activities with the designated 
supervisor of the Responding Member(s). Whenever practical, Responding Member 
personnel must be self-sufficient for up to 72 hours. The Responding Member’s designated 
supervisor(s) must keep accurate records of work performed by Responding Member’s 
personnel during the specified Period of Assistance. 
 

C.  Food and Shelter – When possible, the Requesting Member shall supply reasonable food 
and shelter for Responding Member personnel. If the Requesting Member is unable to 
provide food and shelter for Responding Member personnel, the Responding Member’s 
designated supervisor is authorized to secure the resources necessary to meet the needs of 
its personnel. Except as provided below, the cost for such resources must not exceed the 
state per diem rates for that area. To the extent food and shelter costs exceed the state per 
diem rates for the area, the Responding Member must demonstrate that the additional costs 
were reasonable and necessary under the circumstances. Unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing, the Requesting Member remains responsible for reimbursing the Responding 
Member for all reasonable and necessary costs associated with providing food and shelter, 
if such resources are not provided. 

 
D.  Communication – The Requesting Member shall provide Responding Member personnel 

with radio equipment as available, or radio frequency information to program existing radios, 
in order to facilitate communications with local responders and utility personnel. 

 
E.  Status - Unless otherwise provided by law, the Responding Member’s officers and 

employees retain the same privileges, immunities, rights, duties and benefits as provided in 



 5  

their respective jurisdictions; and shall remain officers and employees, as applicable, of the 
Responding Member.  

 
F.   Licenses and Permits – To the extent permitted by law, Responding Member personnel 

that hold licenses, certificates, or permits evidencing professional, mechanical, or other skills 
shall be allowed to carry out activities and tasks relevant and related to their respective 
credentials during the specified Period of Assistance.  

 
G.  Right to Withdraw Resources - The Responding Member’s Authorized Official retains the 

right to withdraw some or all of its resources at any time for any reason in the Responding 
Member’s sole and absolute discretion.  Notice of intention to withdraw must be 
communicated to the Requesting Member’s Authorized Official as soon as is practicable 
under the circumstances.  

 
ARTICLE VII. 

COST- REIMBURSEMENT 
 
Unless otherwise mutually agreed in whole or in part by both parties, the Requesting Member 
shall reimburse the Responding Member for each of the following categories of costs incurred 
while providing aid and assistance during the specified Period of Assistance. 
 
A.  Personnel – Responding Member(s) will make such employees as are willing to participate 

available to Requesting Member at Requesting Member’s expense equal to any Responding 
Member’s full cost, i.e., equal to the employee's applicable salary or hourly wage, plus fringe 
benefits and overhead, and consistent with Responding Member’s collective bargaining 
agreements, if applicable, or other conditions of employment. All costs incurred for work 
performed during the specified Period of Assistance will be included. The Requesting 
Member shall be responsible for all direct and indirect labor costs. 

 
B.  Equipment – Use of equipment, such as construction equipment, vehicles, tools, pumps 

and generators, shall be at a Responding Member's current equipment rate and subject to 
the following conditions: The Requesting Member shall reimburse the Responding Member 
for the use of equipment during the specified Period of Assistance, including, but not limited 
to, reasonable rental rates, all fuel, lubrication, maintenance, transportation, and 
loading/unloading of loaned equipment. All equipment shall be returned to the Responding    
Member as soon as is practicable and reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
(a) At the option of Responding Member, equipment may be provided with an operator.     

  
(b) Equipment shall be returned to Responding Member within 24 hours after receipt of an 
oral or written request for return. 

  
(c) During the Period of Assistance, Requesting Member shall, at its own expense, supply all 
fuel, lubrication and maintenance for furnished equipment; provided that Requesting 
Member shall obtain Responding Member’s consent before performing any such 
maintenance. 
  
(d) Responding Member’s cost related to the transportation, handling and loading/unloading 
of equipment shall be chargeable to Requesting Member. 
 



 6  

(e) In the event equipment is damaged while being dispatched to Requesting Member, or 
while in the custody and use of Requesting Member, Requesting Member shall reimburse 
Responding Member for the reasonable cost of repairing said damaged equipment. If the 
equipment cannot be repaired, then Requesting Member shall reimburse Responding 
Member for the cost of replacing such equipment with equipment that is of at least equal 
capability as determined by the Responding Member. If Responding Member must lease a 
piece of equipment while Requesting Member equipment is being repaired or replaced, 
Requesting Member shall reimburse Responding Member for such lease costs. 

  
C.  Materials and Supplies – The Requesting Member must reimburse the Responding 

Member in kind or at actual replacement cost, plus handling charges, for use of expendable 
or non-returnable supplies.  The Responding Member must not charge direct fees or rental 
charges to the Requesting Member for other supplies and reusable items that are returned 
to the Responding Member in a clean, damage-free condition.  Reusable supplies that are 
returned to the Responding Member with damage must be treated as expendable supplies 
for purposes of cost reimbursement.  

 
D. Supplemental Water Supplies – The Responding Member will provide the Requesting 

Member with a bill showing the amount of water delivered to the Requesting Member.  
Water will be billed at the highest rate incurred for imported water by the Responding 
Member, or as the Responding Member may otherwise agree. 

 
E. Payment Period – The Responding Member must provide an itemized bill to the 

Requesting Member for all expenses incurred by the Responding Member while providing 
assistance under this Agreement.  The Responding Member must send the itemized bill not 
later than ninety (90) days following the end of the Period of Assistance.  The Responding 
Member may request additional periods of time within which to submit the itemized bill, and 
Requesting Member shall not unreasonably withhold consent to such request.  The 
Requesting Member must pay the bill within 60 days following the billing date.  The 
Requesting Member may request additional periods of time within which to pay the itemized 
bill and Responding Member shall not unreasonably withhold consent to such request, 
provided, however, that all payment shall occur not later than one-year after the date a final 
itemized bill is submitted to the Requesting Member.  

 
E.  Records - Each Requesting Member and its duly authorized representatives shall have 

access to a Responding Member’s books, documents, notes, reports, papers and records 
which are directly pertinent to this Agreement for the purposes of reviewing the accuracy of 
a cost bill or making a financial, maintenance or regulatory audit. To the extent it deems 
necessary, each Responding Member and its duly authorized representatives shall have 
access to a Requesting Member’s books, documents, notes, reports, papers and records 
which are directly pertinent to this Agreement. Such records shall be maintained for at least 
three (3) years or longer where required by law and as needed for federal reimbursement 
practices. 

 
 

ARTICLE VIII.  
ARBITRATION 

 
If any controversy or claim arises out of, or relates to, the Agreement, including, but not limited 
to an alleged breach of the Agreement, the disputing Members shall first attempt to resolve the 
dispute by negotiation, followed by mediation and finally shall be settled by arbitration in 



 7  

accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Judgment on the award 
rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. 
 

ARTICLE IX.  
REQUESTING MEMBER’S DUTY TO INDEMNIFY 

 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 895.4, and subject to Article X, Requesting Member 
shall assume the defense of, fully indemnify and hold harmless Responding Member, its 
Directors, officers, employees and agents, from all claims, loss, damage, injury and liability of 
every kind, nature and description, directly or indirectly arising from the Requesting Member’s 
work hereunder, including, but not limited to, negligent or wrongful use of equipment, supplies or 
personnel provided to Requesting Member or faulty workmanship or other negligent acts, errors 
or omissions by a Responding Member, or by personnel provided to Requesting Member, from 
the time assistance is requested and rendered until the assistance is returned to Responding 
Member’s control, portal to portal. 
 

ARTICLE X.  
SIGNATORY INDEMNIFICATION 

 
In the event of a liability, claim, demand, action or proceeding, of whatever kind or nature arising 
out of the rendering of assistance through this Agreement, the parties involved in rendering or 
receiving assistance agree to indemnify and hold harmless all Members whose only 
involvement is the execution and approval of this Agreement, in the transaction or occurrence 
which is the subject of such claim, action, demand or other proceeding. Such indemnification 
shall include indemnity for all claims, demands, liability, damages and costs, including 
reasonable attorneys' fees and other costs of defense, for injury, property damage and workers 
compensation. 
 

ARTICLE XI.  
WORKER’S COMPENSATION CLAIMS 

 
The Responding Member is responsible for providing worker’s compensation benefits and 
administering worker’s compensation for its employees.  The Requesting Member is responsible 
for providing worker’s compensation benefits and administering worker’s compensation for its 
employees.   
 
 

ARTICLE XII.  
NOTICE 

 
Each party hereto shall give to the others prompt and timely written notice of any claim made or 
any suit instituted coming to its knowledge, which in any way, directly or indirectly, contingently 
or otherwise, affects or might affect them, and each Member shall have the right to participate in 
the defense of the same, as it considers necessary to protect its own interests. 
 
 



 8  

ARTICLE XIII.  
INSURANCE 

 
Members of this Agreement shall maintain an insurance policy or maintain a self insurance 
program that covers activities that it may undertake by virtue of membership in the Program, 
including, but not limited to, worker’s compensation and commercial general liability insurance, 
and insurance on property, vehicles and equipment.     

 
                                                                               ARTICLE XIV. 

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
To the extent allowed by law, any Member or Associate Member shall maintain in the strictest 
confidence and shall take all reasonable steps necessary to prevent the disclosure of any 
Confidential Information provided to it by another Member pursuant to this Agreement. If any 
Member, Associate Member, or third party requests or demands, by subpoena or otherwise, 
that a Member or Associate Member disclose any Confidential Information provided to it under 
this Agreement, the Member or Associate Member shall immediately notify the owner of the 
Confidential Information and shall take all reasonable steps necessary to prevent the disclosure 
of any Confidential Information by asserting all applicable rights and privileges with respect to 
such information and shall cooperate fully in any judicial or administrative proceeding relating 
thereto. 

 
ARTICLE XV.  

EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
This Agreement shall take effect for a new party immediately upon its execution by said party. 

 
   

ARTICLE XVI.  
WITHDRAWAL 

 
Any party may terminate its participation in this Agreement by written notice to the Coordinator.  
Withdrawal takes effect 60 days after the appropriate official receives notice. Withdrawal from 
this Agreement shall in no way affect a Requesting Member’s duty to reimburse a Responding 
Member for cost incurred during a Period of Assistance, which duty shall survive such 
withdrawal. 
 

ARTICLE XVII.  
MODIFICATION 

 
No provision of this Agreement may be modified, altered or rescinded by individual parties to the 
Agreement. Modifications to this Agreement require a simple majority vote of Members then 
participating under this Agreement. The Committee will notify all parties of modifications to this 
Agreement in writing and those modifications shall be effective upon 60 days’ written notice to 
the parties. 

 
ARTICLE XVIII.  
SEVERABILITY 

 
If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
Illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be 



 9  

affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the 
Agreement did not contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid.   
 

ARTICLE XIX.  
PRIOR AGREEMENTS 

 
This Agreement supersedes all prior Agreements between Members to the extent that such 
prior Agreements are inconsistent with this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE XX. 
PROHIBITION ON THIRD PARTIES AND ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS/DUTIES 

 
This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Members and no person or entity shall have any 
rights under this Agreement as a third-party beneficiary.  Assignments of benefits and 
delegations of duties created by this Agreement are prohibited and any such attempted 
assignment or delegation shall have no effect. 

  
ARTICLE XXI. 
TORT CLAIMS 

  
This Agreement in no way abrogates or waives any immunity or defense available under 
California law. 

 
ARTICLE XXII.  

INTRASTATE AND INTERSTATE MUTUAL AID AND ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS 
 
To the extent practicable, Members retain the right to participate in mutual aid and assistance 
activities conducted under the State of California Intrastate WARN Mutual Aid and Assistance 
Program and the Interstate Emergency Management Assistance Compact (EMAC) and similar 
programs. 
 



 10  

 
 
 
Now, therefore, in consideration of the covenants and obligations set forth in this Agreement, 
the Water Utility listed here manifests its intent to be a Member Utility in the Program by 
executing this Agreement on this ___________ day of __________ 2018. 
 
Member:                               
 
 
 
 
By:                     By:     
 
Title:                     Title     
 
              
 Please Print Name     Please Print Name 
 
 

Approved as to form and legality 
 
 
         By:     
         Attorney for Public or Private Utility 
 
              
          Please Print Name 
 



P A L M D A L E   W A T E R   D I S T R I C T

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: November 19, 2018  November 26, 2018 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting         

FROM: Ms. Judy Shay, Public Affairs Director 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.6 – CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION 
ON OUTREACH ACTIVITIES FOR 2018. (PUBLIC AFFAIRS 
DIRECTOR SHAY) 

A detailed report on the Outreach activities listed below will be provided at the 
Board meeting. 

a) Outreach plans for remainder of 2018 and for 2019.

b) Upcoming events.

c) Outreach recommendations from Directors.

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.6



AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1

















P A L M D A L E   W A T E R   D I S T R I C T

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: November 20, 2018 November 26, 2018 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS       Board Meeting 

FROM: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.2.a – NOVEMBER 2018 GENERAL MANAGER REPORT 

The following is the November report to the Board of activities through October 2018.  It is 
organized to follow the District’s six strategic initiatives adopted in January 2018 and is intended to 
provide a general update on the month’s activities.  A summary of the initiatives is as follows: 

Water Resource Reliability 

Complete the 2018 phase of the Upper Armagosa Creek Recharge Project  
Ensure Palmdale Recycled Water Authority (PRWA) to be fully operational by year 2020 
Adopt new state-of-the-art water treatment technologies  
Implement the Antelope Valley Groundwater Adjudication agreement 
Complete the grade-control structure for the Littlerock Reservoir Sediment Removal 

Project 
Continue the next phase towards the completion of Palmdale Regional Groundwater 

Recharge and Recovery Project  
Identify and pursue opportunities to increase the reliability of water supply 

Organizational Excellence 

Offer competitive compensation and benefits package to promote employee retention  
Focus Succession Planning Program on ensuring an overlap of training for key positions 
Continue providing transparency to our ratepayers 
Promote and support leadership training and professional development programs to 

enhance the District’s customers’ experience 

Systems Efficiency

Implement 2016 Water System Master Plan  
Develop a five-year Infrastructure Revitalization Plan to continue the reinvestment and 

preventative maintenance for aging infrastructure  
Explore energy independence  
Continue being the industry’s leader on the use of Granular Activated Carbon (GAC) 
Research and test new technologies to increase efficiencies 
Improve safety and training for Directors, employees and customers 
Develop a crisis communications plan 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.2.a



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

2 
 

 
 

      Financial Health and Stability 
 

Pursue additional grant funding for all District projects 
Adopt a sustainable and balanced rate structure to meet short and long-term needs 
Create a five-year financial plan in conjunction with the 2019 Water Rate Plan  
Maintain adequate reserve levels, high-level bond rating, and financial stability 

 
 

 Regional Leadership 
 
Enhance relationships with Antelope Valley partnerships, including local water agencies, 

Antelope Valley State Water Contractors Association and the Palmdale Recycled 
Water Authority 

Expand school water education programs 
Engage elected officials in water-related issues 
Continue offering career opportunities through the Internship Program 
Provide opportunities for local businesses to contract with the District 

 
 

    Customer Care, Advocacy and Outreach 

Increase Customer Care accessibility through communication and feedback to enhance 
customers’ experience   

Evaluate, develop, and market additional payment options 
Be point of communication for customers’ water-related public health concerns 
Develop the District’s Public Outreach Plan 
Increase public awareness of the District’s history and promote centennial anniversary 

 

 

This report also includes charts that show the effects of the District’s efforts in several areas.  
They are organized within each strategic initiative and include status of the State Water Resources 
Control Board’s (SWRCB) long-term conservation orders, 20 x 2020 status, the District’s total per 
capita water use trends, 2018 water production and customer use graph, mainline leaks, and the water 
loss trends for both 12 and 24 month running averages. 

 

 Water Resource Reliability 

This initiative includes conservation efforts, water supply projects, and water planning.  

Recent highlights are as follows: 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

3 
 

State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) Activities 

 The 20 x 2020 per capita reduction goals passed by the legislature in 2009 with new long-
term water budgeting requirements have now been replaced with new requirements and 
water agency water budgets.  These follow through on the “Making Water Conservation 
a California Way of Life” plan.  The District expects to easily comply with the new 
requirements as they are based on the same philosophy as the District water budget rate 
structure. 
 

The District’s compliance with the former 20 x 2020 law is evident from the chart 
titled “PWD 12-Month Running Average Total Per Capita Water Use.”: 

 

 
 

The District’s customers have cut their water use by 45.5% from the baseline number 
of 231 and met the 2020 Goal in early 2010. The current Total-GPCD is 126. 

 

Water Supply Information  

 The 2018 State Water Project allocation is 35%.  The AV Adjudication is now in its third 
year, and the rampdown to the native safe yield has begun.  The District’s native 
groundwater rights rampdown is now 2,769.63 AF.  Other groundwater rights for 2018 
are 1,452.27 AF of unused Federal Reserve Rights, 3,828.41 AF of Return Flow Rights, 
and 3,911.94 AF of Carryover Rights.  These groundwater rights total 11,962.55 AF.  
However, the District only plans to use approximately 8,000 AF and will carryover the 
remaining rights. 
 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

4 
 

 The 2018 water resources plan incorporates available water with the anticipated water 
usage.  The following graph shows actual amounts through September and monthly 
projections for both production and consumption, based on the prior five years of actual 
monthly information, for the entire year.  It is anticipated that this year’s consumption and 
production pattern will be similar to 2017.  The production numbers are 8.4% and 
consumption numbers are 4.4% higher this year than in 2017.  The 2017 chart is added in 
this report for comparison. 
 

 

 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

5 
 

Other Items 

 The Littlerock Reservoir Sediment Removal Project Environmental Impact 
Report/Environmental Impact Statement (EIR/EIS) was fully approved in 2017.  All 
required permits are in place and a construction contract for the Grade Control Structure 
was awarded in July 2018 to ASI Construction, LLC (ASI) of Colorado Springs. 

 
ASI installed dewatering wells around the construction area and began pumping out 

water in early November.  Pictures are included at the end of this report showing 
dewatering well construction, regulatory site fencing, and water pumping from the 
construction site. 

 
A citizen’s committee, Friends of Littlerock Dam (FOLD), was formed in the 

Littlerock, Pearblossom, and Juniper Hills area to find a way to reopen the Littlerock 
Reservoir Recreation area.  They worked with the District and the USFS on this issue.  
The USFS plans to issue a request for proposals for a recreational operator.  This process 
is expected to take until next summer. 

 
 The public review of the Draft California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) EIR for the 

Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project is complete.  The Final 
EIR was certified by the Board on July 13, 2016, and the Notice of Determination was 
filed on July 14, 2016.  The comments from the SWRCB Recycled Water Division on the 
Title 22 Engineering Report were addressed and returned for further review.  Another set 
of comments was recently received and are being reviewed. 
 

The analysis of information from the pilot spreading basin is complete.  The soil 
column tests are ongoing.  The District will also have additional geotechnical work done 
to verify the proposed location is suitable. 
 

 The long-planned Upper Amargosa Creek Recharge Project is now under contract for 
construction.  One contract is for the California Aqueduct turnout and transmission water 
main.  The other is for the recharge basins.  They are higher than original estimates and 
will result in a request from the City of Palmdale to the District, LA County Waterworks, 
and AVEK for additional funding.  A successful groundbreaking was held on November 
15, 2018.  Construction is expected to take a full year. 
 

 California Water Fix:  There have been recent regulatory approvals moving this project 
forward.  The State Water Contractors and the Department of Water Resources are 
continuing discussions about the Project’s financing and operations.  These discussions 
will result in a clearer picture of the effect on individual contractors.  Staff is directly 
involved in these discussions and will be able to update the Board in the future. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

6 
 

 

 Organizational Excellence 

 This initiative includes efforts to restructure staff duties and activities to more efficiently 
provide service to our customers.  Recent highlights are as follows: 

 
 The 2018 Strategic Plan Update is published in brochures and on the District’s website.  

The board room posters have been redesigned, printed, and mounted in the board room.  
A Spanish translation has been printed and is also posted in the Board room. 

 
 The District and other members of the Public Water Agencies Group (PWAG) have hired 

and share the services of an Emergency Preparedness Coordinator. This has already 
resulted in a successful training held at the District office. 
 

 A new logo for the District, as part of the 100-year anniversary, was approved by the 
Board at the October 11, 2017 Board meeting.  The transition to the new logo is now 
complete. 

 
 The Board of Directors and staff completed a new cultural survey earlier this year.  

Tentative results show continuing overall improvements in the District’s operations.  The 
Mathis Group presented the results at a Board meeting in October.  A proposal from the 
Mathis Group will be presented to the Board for consideration to assist staff in following 
up on the survey and improving the District’s operations. 

 
 

   Systems Efficiency 

 This initiative largely focuses on the state of the District’s infrastructure.  Recent highlights 

are as follows: 

 Installation of security upgrades for the Leslie O. Carter Water Treatment Plant is 
operational and complete.  Additional cameras are being planned for the two access gates. 

 
 The effects of the District’s past efforts in replacing failing water mains and meters can 

be seen in the reduced number of mainline leaks.  This is illustrated in the chart titled 
“Mainline Leak History.”  The mainline leaks through October 2018 are 92, and there 
were 89 service line leaks.  This is similar to the 2017 mainline leak total of 97. 

 
 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

7 
 

 
 

 
 

 The budgeted meter replacement of approximately 2,800 meters is complete.  Staff is now 
treating meter replacements similar to how the District contracts for pavement patching 
with annual bids to perform the work. 
 

 Facilities staff is focusing on maintenance activities to incorporate pressure reducing 
valves and other facilities as their efforts can continue to be more preventative due to a 
lower number of emergency repairs. 

 
 District staff completed the water main replacement on Avenue S-14 in the Ana Verde 

Hills area.  The replacement main in 13th Street East north of Avenue R is currently under 
construction.  Future work for this year is Camares Drive south of Barrel Springs Road.  
Replacing the water main in Avenue V-5 west of 47th Street East is planned for next year. 

 
 The Final Environmental Impact Report for the 2016 Facilities Master Plan is being 

drafted by ESA.  It is complete and ready for the Board’s consideration in November.  
Approval of the EIR and Master Plan will allow the District to update the Capital 
Improvement Fees for new water service connections.  This will ensure enough funds are 
collected to provide backbone facilities and water supply for the new customers. 
 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

8 
 

 
 The positive effect of both water main and water meter replacement programs is shown 

on the chart titled “PWD Water Loss History.”  The running average for water losses is 
now near 10%. 

 

 
 

 

   Financial Health and Stability 

 Engineering staff has successfully applied for planning grant funding for the Palmdale 
Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project and for the Phase II pipeline for 
the Palmdale Recycled Water Authority.  Application packages for further funding have 
been determined to be complete by the State.  A comment letter was also submitted to 
raise the priority of both projects in the State’s funding plan for 2017/2018. 

The State is satisfied with resolutions from the City and the District related to the 
PRWA Phase II funding application for compliance with their repayment requirements.  
An amendment to the JPA will also be completed to tie these into PRWA.  The only 
outstanding issue is the State’s approach to determining the District’s Debt Coverage 
Ratio.  They continue to include non-operating expenses into the calculation.  Staff and 
our financial advisor are still working on this issue. 

 
 Water rate changes of 4.25% for 2017, 2018, and 2019 were approved at a Board meeting 

held November 9, 2016.  The resolution is also unique in that it included criteria that, if 
met, would allow for lesser changes. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

9 
 

 A new water rate study and Proposition 218 process is planned for early in 2019. 

 Engineering/Grant Manager Riley has worked with the Bureau of Reclamation for the 
acceptance of a Feasibility Report for the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and 
Recovery Project and having it eligible for funding.  Mr. Riley and I visited the Bureau in 
Denver to discuss future funding opportunities.  The Bureau staff was very receptive to 
the project.  Our project is one of 30 from across the country that is eligible to compete 
for a portion of $10M in this year’s Federal budget due to the approved Feasibility Report.  
The 2017 competition effort did not result in an award of funds from the Bureau.  
However, lessons from this submittal will be used in future funding competitions. 
 

 The 2018 Budget was approved by the Board in November 2017.  The 2018 Budget was 
published in January 2018.  The initial draft 2019 Budget was presented to the Finance 
Committee in September.  The final 2019 Budget was approved by the Board on 
November 13th.  The full budget package will be completed and published by mid-
January. 

 
 Water-Wise Landscape Conversion Program (Cash-for-Grass Program):  The District 

received a $75,000 Grant from the Bureau of Reclamation in 2017 to assist in funding the 
Program.  The Board approved changes to the program at the October 25, 2017 meeting 
that are now in effect. 

 The 2018A Series Revenue Bonds closed as expected.  This issue includes funds for the 
Littlerock Reservoir Sediment Removal Project – Grade Control Structure construction, 
work on the 6 MG Clearwell, and work on the sediment basin at the Leslie O. Carter Water 
Treatment Plant. 

 
 

 Regional Leadership 

This initiative includes efforts to involve the community, be involved in regional 
activities, and be a resource for other agencies in the area.  Recent highlights are as follows: 

 Activities of the Palmdale Recycled Water Authority (PRWA) and Antelope Valley State 
Water Contractors Association have continued. 
 

 The District staff continues to be active in the Antelope Valley Watermaster Board 
(AVWB) and related meetings. 
 

 District staff is active in the local chambers and is on the board of the Palmdale Chamber 
and GAVEA. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

10 
 

 
 The District developed a plan and budget for a year-long celebration of the District’s 100th 

Anniversary on July 22, 2018.  These included an Open House on August 5, 2017, the 
2017 AV Fair parade, monthly public tours of Littlerock Dam and the Leslie O. Carter 
Water Treatment Plant, and a book documenting our first 100 years.  The time capsule 
will be finalized and closed in December. 

 
 The “PWD Water Ambassador Academy” was approved by an Ad-Hoc Committee and 

was conducted on September 19 and 26, October 3 and a tour/graduation on October 6th.  
17 community people successfully completed the sessions and graduated.  The response 
from them was overwhelmingly positive. 
 

 The District has expressed its concerns with the proposed Statewide water tax under SB 
623 (now SB 845) and SB 998 which would affect how delinquent accounts are handled.  
SB 998 has been signed into law by the Governor.  SB 845 did not pass the legislature and 
will continue to be discussed next year. 

 
 There are two bond measures with water-related funds this year.  Proposition 68 was on 

the June 2018 ballot and passed.  The “Water Supply and Water Quality Act of 2018” was 
Proposition 3 on the November 2018 ballot and failed to pass.  It contained $8.9 B and 
was much more focused on water. 

 
 

 Customer Care and Advocacy 

This initiative includes efforts to better serve our customers.  Recent highlights are as 
follows: 

 The ability to make payments at 7-Eleven and Family Dollar Store is also continuing to 
grow. 

 
 The lobby kiosk hosts service ticketing for customers, a directory of the office, and 

displays associated with the 100th Year celebration. 
 
 Customer Care and Finance staff are now exclusively using TruePoint software.  

TruePoint has continued to provide solid support and programming changes for any 
needed adjustments.  Staff is continuing to recognize and correct transition issues that 
arise to minimize any effect on customers and other District departments. 

 
 Customer Care office and field staff are crosstraining to better understand the other’s 

interaction with customers and to improve communication. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

11 
 

 
 Many residents in the Juniper Hills area rely on water hauling companies for their water.  

A major local source for these companies is no longer available and more distant water 
sources increase water costs for the residents.  

Numerous properties in the Juniper Hills area annexed to PWD in the early 1960’s for 
access to the State Water Project (SWP) and pay the annual assessment for SWP fixed 
costs.  To date, there has not been a way to use the SWP water due to the lack of a water 
system.  However, this allows PWD to act as a water source for water hauling companies 
for properties within PWD’s boundaries in the Juniper Hills area. 

 Customers are continuing to take advantage of the District’s electronic payment options.  
They are growing in use. 

 

  



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  November 20, 2018 
 

12 
 

GRADE CONTROL STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION PICTURES 

 
 

 
Photo 1. Drilling a dewatering well (October 30, 2018). 

 
 

 
Photo 2. Drilling a dewatering well (October 31, 2018). 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT      November 20, 2018 
 

 
Photo 1. Dewatering wells operating at Rocky Point (November 5, 2018). 

 
 

 
Photo 2. Dewatering well outflow pipe (November 6, 2018) 

 
 
 
 

13 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT       November 20, 2018 

 

 
 

 
Photo 3. Dewatering well outflow pipe (November 9, 2018). 

 
 

 

Photo 4. Ongoing maintenance (November 9, 2018). 
14 


	AgendaRegular11-26-18
	Item6.1
	Item6.2
	Item6.3
	Item6.4
	Item6.5
	Items 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4
	Item7.5
	Item7.6
	Item8.1
	Item8.2



